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EXPLANATORY NOTE
As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 (“Form 10-K report”), “COVID-19” refers to
Coronavirus/COVID 19, a highly contagious novel virus that was declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organization or “WHO” on
March 11, 2020. “COVID-19 pandemic” refers to “global pandemic” (as defined by WHO) by COVID-19. COVID-19 pandemic has had a
significant, adverse economic disruption in the United States and China, especially the locality of the offices of Capstone Companies, Inc. and its
subsidiaries and the Chinese original equipment manufacturers or “OEMs” of the products sold by Capstone Companies, Inc. The products sold by
Capstone Companies, Inc. are primarily sold by traditional brick-and-mortar retailers and COVID-19 pandemic significantly, adversely impacted
those retailers and our sale of traditional LED products. We are developing a new product line for internet connected surfaces, like smart mirrors,
(“Connected Surface”) for residential use, but this new product line had not launched as of December 31, 2020. The launch of the initial products
of the Connected Surface program began in February 2021. The impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s business and financial
performance has been significant and ongoing and, coupled with the development of the Connected Surface product line, has placed a significant
financial strain on Capstone Companies, Inc.
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DEFINITIONS:
As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the following terms have the stated meaning or meanings:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)

"Capstone Lighting Technologies, L.L.C." or "CLTL" is a wholly owned subsidiary of Capstone Companies, Inc.
"Capstone International Hong Kong Ltd" or "CIHK" is a wholly owned subsidiary of Capstone Companies, Inc. and a Hong Kong registered Company.
"Capstone Industries, Inc., a Florida corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of CAPC, may also be referred to as "CAPI" or "Capstone".
"Capstone Companies, Inc.," a Florida corporation, may also be referred to as "we," "us" "our," "Company," or "CAPC". Unless the context indicates
otherwise, "Company" includes in its meaning all of Capstone Companies, Inc. Subsidiaries.
"China" means People’s Republic of China.
"W" means watts.
References to "33 Act" or "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
References to "34 Act" or "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
"SEC" or "Commission" means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
"Subsidiaries" means Capstone Industries, Inc. ("CAPI"), Capstone International H.K Ltd., ("CIHK"), and Capstone Lighting Technologies, Inc. ("CLTL").
Any reference to fiscal year in this Annual Report on Form 10-K means our fiscal year, ending December 31 st.
"LED" or "LED's" means a light-emitting diode component(s) which can be assembled into light bulbs or can be used in lighting fixtures.
"OEM" means "original equipment manufacturer."
“Connected Surfaces” or “Connected Products” means smart home devices with embedded sensors that provide communication and data transfer
between the Connected Surface and internet-enabled systems of the Company or associated third parties. Connected Surfaces may permit internet
access for defined functions.

We may use "FY" to mean "fiscal year" and "Q" to mean fiscal quarter in this Report.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Form 10-K report contains "forward-looking statements". Those statements appear in a number of places in this Form 10-K report and
include, without limitation, statements regarding the intent, belief and current expectations of the Company, its directors or its officers, with respect
to: Company's future business and financial prospects; the commercialization of new products; the Company's policies regarding investments,
dispositions, financings, conflicts of interest and other matters; and trends affecting the Company's financial condition or results of operations.
Forward looking statements include words like "expect," "anticipate," "hope," "project," "may," "should," "could," or similar words or variants
thereof. Any such forward-looking statement is not a guarantee of future performance and involves several risks and uncertainties. Actual results
may differ materially from those results implied in the forward-looking statement as a result of various factors, some factors being beyond the
Company's control or ability to foresee. Among the factors that could cause plans, actions and results to differ materially from current expectations
are, without limitation: disruption from natural or human causes, including severe weather, accidents, fires, earthquakes, terrorist acts and
epidemic or pandemic diseases, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, which pandemic could result and has resulted in delays or suspension of
product production from China or other regions, where our products are made, or otherwise dampen consumer demand for products like our
products, which are a discretionary purchase. The accompanying information contained in this Form 10-K report, including the "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition" and "Risk Factors" identifies other important factors that could cause
such differences. With respect to any such forward-looking statement that includes a statement of its underlying assumptions or bases, the
Company cautions that, while it believes such assumptions or bases to be reasonable and has formed them in good faith, assumed facts or bases
almost always vary from actual results, and the differences between assumed facts or bases and actual results can be significant or "material"
depending on the circumstances. When, in any forward-looking statement, the Company, or its management, expresses an expectation or belief
as to future results, that expectation or belief is expressed in good faith and is believed to have a reasonable basis, but there can be no assurance
that the stated expectation or belief will result or be achieved or accomplished. Further, the Company is a "penny stock" company with no primary
market makers. Such a status makes highly risky any investment in the Company securities. See “Risk Factors” below. The forward-looking
statements in this Form 10-K report are made as of the date hereof, and, unless required by law or regulation, we do not assume any obligation to
update, amend or clarify them to reflect events, new information or circumstances occurring after the date hereof.
You should read this Form 10-K report and the documents that we may reference in this Form 10-K report and have filed with the SEC, with the
understanding that our actual future results, performance, and events and circumstances may be materially different from what we expect.
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Item 1. Business

PART I

Overview
Capstone Companies, Inc. (“Company” or “CAPC”) is a public holding company organized under the laws of the State of Florida. The Company is
a designer, manufacturer and marketer of consumer inspired products that simplify daily living through technology. Over the past decade, the
Company’s various product lines have been distributed globally including consumer markets in Australia, Japan, Korea, North America, South
America, and the United Kingdom. The primary operating subsidiary is Capstone Industries, Inc. (“CAPI”), a Florida corporation located at the
principal executive offices of the Company. To oversee and manage business activities in the Pacific Rim, the Company established Capstone
International Hong Kong, Ltd., or "CIHK", allowing it to expand the Company's product development, engineering, and factory resource
capabilities. The Company has a history of exploiting technologies in areas of induction charging, power failure control, security and home LED
lighting products and most recently has entered the electronics market with its introduction of Capstone’s Connected Surfaces Smart Mirrors –
Internet connected and interactive mirror.
The Company's focus through 2017 has been in the integration of LEDs into most commonly used consumer lighting products in today's home.
Over the last few years there has been significant LED price erosion, which has commoditized LED consumer products. The LED category has
matured and is no longer the innovative “must have” consumer product as in previous years. The Connected Surfaces is the Company’s effort to
establish a new product line.
Capstone’s success has been in its ability to identify emerging product categories where Capstone’s management experience can be fully
leveraged. Over the past decade, the Company’s consistent low-cost manufacturing and operations have provided an advantage in delivering
quality products at very competitive prices.
In late 2017, as management recognized that the LED category was maturing, it sought a business opportunity that would transition the
Company’s revenue streams to emerging new product category. While we currently continue to supply LED products on a limited basis, our
strategic plan to develop and launch new innovative product lines, like Connected Surfaces’ Smart Mirrors, is believed to be essential for
sustaining or growing revenues.
Our expectation is that the new portfolio of Connected Surfaces appeals to a much larger audience than our traditional LED lighting product line.
The new Connected Surfaces portfolio is designed to tap into consumer’s ever-expanding connected lifestyles prevalent today. The products have
both touch screen and voice interfacing, internet access and an operating system capable of running downloadable applications. The average
selling prices will be comparable to that of tablets and smartphones, expected retails to start at $699.00 per unit, with the goal to deliver consumer
value to mainstream America. Whereas, during the day your smartphone/tablet keeps you connected, whether it is work or personal, now when
entering your home, Capstone’s new Connected Surfaces products will enable users the same level of connectivity in a more relaxed manner that
does not require being tethered to these devices.
The Company's financial initiatives are driven by its entry to new distribution channels and calls for an increased emphasis on an e-commerce
business model. As a result of the pandemic, retail foot traffic has been diminished substantially and e-commerce platforms have advanced with
consumers across all product lines. The Connected Surfaces category is intended to find its way to retail shelves after it has been established
through its direct-to-consumer effort. The Company’s marketing strategy will shift its historic reliance on ‘Big Box’ retailers while delivering more
profitable business. If Connected Surfaces is successful, the gross margins generated by the e-commerce model should be substantially greater
than in the past and should provide strong cash flows. The Company will require additional funding to build its marketing effort, inventory levels
and service levels once the initial marketing phase validates the Company’s strategic initiatives. The future growth will be directly impacted by the
level of exposure, messaging and distribution capabilities. For the short-term, certain members of Company management (“Corporate Insiders
and Directors”) have stated an intent to continue supporting the Company’s basic operational funding needs.
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The Company has historically competed in highly competitive consumer market channels that can be affected by volatility from a number of
general business and economic factors such as, consumer confidence, employment levels, credit availability, commodity costs and the recovery
from the global pandemic. As stated earlier, the markets for LED home products have matured and growth within the category will continue to
decline as markets are saturated. While we will continue to maintain supply for the short-term, our focus is directed to the expansion and
advancement of the Company’s Connected Surfaces initiative.
By working diligently overseas with alternate manufacturers located outside China, particularly in Thailand, we anticipate minimal impact to our
selling prices and related margins of profit that could otherwise be impacted by an ongoing trade dispute between the United States and China.
Political unrest in Thailand in late 2020 and early 2021 has not affected our OEM activities as of the date of the filing of this Form 10-K report.
COVID-19 pandemic caused substantial disruption to travel, business activities, and global supply chains, significant volatility in global financial
markets, and resulted in a dramatic increase in unemployment, particularly in the U.S.
As the products we have shipped on our direct import business model typically requires 3 to 4 months lead time, our revenue in 2020 was
significantly impacted by the uncertainty of reduced consumer foot traffic in the stores during the COVID-19 pandemic. This uncertainty caused
retail buyers to delay or postpone promotional events. During recent months as consumer confidence has increased and the public has become
more accustomed and feel safer about visiting stores, in store foot traffic has increased, particularly in the discount warehouse retailers
(“Warehouse Clubs”) that we sell in. The promotional activities both domestically and internationally in the Warehouse Club channel have
gradually increased as compared to previous quarters. Subject to the mass vaccination commenced in January 2021 ending or substantially
curbing the COVID-19 pandemic, we believe retail buying confidence will continue to improve and expect that promotional opportunities will begin
to normalize for the 3rd and 4th quarters 2021.
One factor that may impact improvement in store foot traffic in 2021 is the emergence of new variants of the COVID-19 virus, which variants
appear to be more contagious and, by virtue of being more highly contagious, may cause a spike in COVID-19 infections and a resulting
imposition of renewed restrictions on store foot traffic in certain regions. Further, it has not been determined if the current COVID-19 vaccines are
effective against all new variants of the COVID-19 virus. Full vaccination of a large percentage of the American population to develop ‘herd’
immunity prior to emergence of a new variant of COVID-19 virus that is not controlled by available vaccines is widely viewed by public health
officials as critical to return to normality in activities - like pre-COVID-19 pandemic levels of store foot traffic. While the Company has commenced
in March 2021 a new e-commerce initiative on its product website, that efforts has just commenced, and it is unclear as of the date of the filing of
this Form 10-K report if our e-commerce initiative will compensate for loss of extensive store foot traffic.
During the year, the Company has experienced some limitations in employee resources resulting from travel restrictions and “stay at home”
orders. Despite these restrictions, the Company continues to efficiently manage the overseas supply chain requirements of our customers.
Since early 2020, the Company has been building its infrastructure to transition into the online retail business by developing an e-commerce
website. E-commerce increasingly is the means by which consumer purchase products, and it has experienced substantial increases during the
COVID-19 pandemic. The Company saw a change in consumer buying trend before the COVID-19 pandemic impact and has been investing in
developing a social media presence over the last year and is now ready to officially launch shipping product by its online Smart Mirror business in
April 2021. Prior to 2021, the Company relied on brick and mortar retail for sale of its products to consumers and sought to piggyback off retailers’
e-commerce websites as well as dedicated online retailers like Amazon.
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We believe the COVID-19 virus will continue to impact retail store markets through the first half of 2021, perhaps longer if mass vaccination does
not reduce the national economic impact on and severity of COVID-19 pandemic by the summer of 2021, but as we focus our channel strategy
toward e-commerce, disruption to our business in 2021 due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on retail store market should be moderated if
our e-commerce efforts create sufficient revenues. Consumer confidence should rise commensurately with increased job opportunities and
income recovery upon a decrease of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The extent to which COVID-19 pandemic will continue to impact the
Company’s results will depend primarily on future developments, including the severity and duration of the crisis, the speed and effectiveness of
the national vaccine inoculation program, potential mutations of COVID-19 pandemic, and the impact of future actions that will be taken to contain
COVID-19 pandemic or treat its impact. These future developments are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, especially if
mutations of the COVID-19 virus become widespread and prove resistant to vaccines.
We continue to make investments to ensure that we provide quality, useful products. Additionally, the Company continues to enhance its customer
service support. In 2020 and 2019, the Company substantially expanded its investment and commitment to social media marketing. With the
growing importance of on-line commerce and social media to consumers, this marketing will play a vital role in expanding our lifestyle brands and
will also serve to establish credibility with the Company’s growing consumer base. The effort will focus on creating a more extensive and
aggressive social media presence through use of third-party social media like Facebook, Twitter, YouTube and Instagram. Continued analytics
will govern and refine our investments in these social media campaigns.
As the Company focuses on e-commerce as an important distribution channel for its new product line, it faces intense competition from
established, competing e-commerce websites as well as the daunting challenge of attracting consumer attention through social media and online
marketing. Consumers have many options in e-commerce. The Company is not using online sponsors or promoters, known as ‘influencers,’ but
rather is relying on a traditional promotion on social media websites like Facebook. There has not been sufficient operating experience with the
Company e-commerce effort to opine on its effectiveness.
The Company oversees and controls the manufacturing of its products, which are currently made in China and Thailand by OEM contract
manufacturers, through three wholly owned operating subsidiaries: CAPI, CIHK and CLTL. To support the current e-commerce model that will
drive our business in 2021, we will be putting inventories into warehouse facilities stateside for direct-to-consumer fulfillment. When introducing
the Connected Surfaces program to Big Box retailers in the back half of 2021, the Company will resume its direct import model. At that time, the
Company's products will be built to order for specific promotional periods and does not require replenishment domestically. While the Company is
stressing establishing an e-commerce presence, sales of products through brick and mortar retail stores of retailers will remain part of distribution
of product and sale to consumers. The effectiveness of the national vaccination program to allow a return to pre-COVID-19 pandemic economy
and revival of consumer store front traffic will be key to our brick and mortar retail efforts for the Connected Surface products.
CIHK continually evaluates its contract manufacturers' ability to meet the Company's growing needs. Additionally, all manufacturers must meet
rigorous compliance, security and equipment evaluation audits to ensure competitive pricing for the highest quality products. Capstone’s business
practices have allowed development of excellent relationships with its OEM contract manufacturers and has resulted in commercially favorable
payment terms, which over the years has greatly contributed to the Company's growth.
To date all of the Company's retail sales are made on an order-by-order basis, rather than through long-term sales contracts. As such, the nature
of the Company's business did not provide visibility of material forward-looking information from its customers and suppliers beyond a few months.
With the launch of the Connected Surfaces online business and to ensure adequate inventory supply for the new product category in order to
support immediate e-commerce shipments, the Company will be forecasting its initial inventory needs and adjust accordingly as sales volumes
are established.
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LED Business and Transition to Connected Surfaces. Capstone was an early innovator in the introduction of low-cost LED lighting products that
have distinctive features creating strong consumer appeal. The Company's product lines consisted of decorative lighting, outdoor fixtures, lighting
with built-in power failure technology and safety and security. Since the beginning of fiscal year 2007, the Company has been primarily engaged
in the business of developing, marketing, and selling home LED products (“Lighting Products”) through national and regional retailers in North
America and in certain overseas markets. The Company’s lighting products are targeted for applications such as home indoor and outdoor
lighting and have different functionalities to meet consumer’s needs.
The Company has now developed and is marketing a smart mirror which is the first introduction within the Capstone Connected Surfaces
program. The initial launch was at the Consumer Electronics Show in early 2020 but its release to the retail market has been delayed due to
product development delays at our suppliers, resulting from the impact of COVID-19. The Company is planning production immediately following
the varying certification processes and testing required for North American products, which are currently underway. These are not unfamiliar steps
to management, as all our products are subject to most of the same approval processes; however, we do not control the speed at which the testing
companies advance. There is a backlog at the testing laboratories as so many companies were dormant for the past 12 months but are now
resuming normal business activities. As of the filing of this Form 10-K report, we are planning production to commence in April. As necessary, we
will air-freight initial inventories to the U.S.so that we may activate our Amazon program, which requires that inventory be available for immediate
delivery in their facilities. Depending on availability of containers, which are now facing shortages in the region, we may have to compromise our
margins on the early shipments and ship more product by air than planned. Our primary goal is to deliver mirrors to our customers that have been
patiently waiting for the mirrors to be available.
The development of the smart interactive mirror or “Smart Mirrors” is part of the Company’s strategic effort to find new product lines to replace or
supplement existing products that are nearing or at the end of their product life cycle.
In 2020, the Company's operations consist of one reportable segment for financial reporting purposes: Lighting Products. Connected Surfaces
products were recently introduced, and segment results will be reported in future interim reporting for 2021.
Our Growth Strategy
The Company's focus in recent years has been in the integration of LEDs into most commonly used lighting products for today's home. The LED
lighting market is now mainstream and opportunities for growth have been minimized. Further impacting the category were the tariff penalties
resulting from the trade dispute between U.S. and China making products less competitive.
The Company’s looking forward strategy requires continued expansion of its product development and engineering, manufacturing base
marketing and distribution of a broadened portfolio of consumer electronic products. The Company will pursue new revenue opportunities through
the introduction and expansion of its “Connected Surfaces” portfolio into alternate distribution channels including e-commerce and others that the
Company has not previously focused on. The Company also intends to leverage its existing valuable customer base and strong relationships to
achieve organic growth initiatives within this new category.
Capstone’s success has been in its ability to identify emerging product categories where Capstone’s management experience can be fully
leveraged. We demonstrated this when the Company entered the LED lighting category. Our branding and product strategies delivered the
Company to a well-respected market position. The Company’s low-cost manufacturing and operations have provided an advantage in delivering
great products affordably.
Our expectation is that the new portfolio advancing in 2021 appeals to a much larger audience than our traditional LED lighting product line. The
new Connected Surfaces portfolio is designed to tap into consumer’s ever-expanding connected lifestyles prevalent today. The products have both
touch screen and voice interfacing, internet access and an operating system capable of running downloadable applications. The average selling
prices will be comparable to that of tablets and smartphones, expected retails to start at $699.00, with the goal to deliver exceptional consumer
value to mainstream America. Whereas, during the day your smartphone/tablet keeps you connected, whether it is work or personal, now when
entering your home, Capstone’s new Connected Surfaces products will enable users the same level of connectivity in a more relaxed manner that
does not require being tethered to these devices.
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The Company competes in competitive consumer market channels that can be affected by volatility from a number of general business and
economic factors such as, consumer confidence, employment levels, credit availability and commodity costs. Demand for the Company’s products
is highly dependent on economic drivers such as consumer spending and discretionary income.
By working diligently overseas with alternate manufacturers located in Thailand, we anticipate minimal impact to our selling prices and related
margins of profit that could otherwise be impacted by ongoing trade disputes between the United States and China. Although the overseas
factories are fully functioning at this time, a resurgence of the global COVID-19 pandemic could impact the overseas factories again and could
delay shipments of products from Thailand and China, which produces all of our products. The Company’s new factory in Thailand has produced
and shipped orders in 2020. This facility will provide the Company with more flexibility in determining which location should produce goods for
future orders. With the United States now being impacted by the resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic we believe the impact of the virus in the
U.S. will continue until the mid-half of 2021, but this disruption has not impacted our long-term strategy and initiatives as of the date of the filing of
this Form 10-K report.
During 2020, the Company has expanded its investment and commitment in Social Media marketing. With our Company’s plan to shift its focus to
on-line commerce in the first half of 2021, its Social Media presence will be key to the Company’s growth initiatives. The analytics derived from
testing various messaging on social media platforms (i.e., Facebook Ads, Google Ads) has validated consumer interest in the Smart Mirror
program.
Organic Growth Strategy
The Company intends to pursue various initiatives to execute its organic growth strategy, which is designed to enhance its market presence,
expand its customer base and maintain its recognition as an industry leader in new product development. Key elements of our organic growth
strategy include:
Connected Surfaces. Historically LED lighting products have been our core business. The Capstone Lighting and Hoover® Home LED brands
combined, have sold millions of LED lighting products over the recent years and consequently the Company holds a well-respected position in the
retail lighting category. While consistently launching successful lighting programs, the Company has determined that it needs to diversify and
expand its core focus in order to continue to meet revenue growth initiatives. The Company has refocused its development and marketing
initiatives and is determined to build on its success with a broader product portfolio beyond lighting products only. The new category “Connected
Surfaces” was officially launched in January 2020 at CES. The Company intends to expand the new line of “Connected Products” for the next
several years. The Company’s product roadmap outlines plans for product introductions through 2022 and this will continue to expand as
consumer product acceptance validates its innovations. The Company believes this program will leverage existing relationships with its current
retail partners, deliver on its e-commerce initiatives and collectively contribute organic growth for the Company.
The Company acknowledges that smart homes will become more mainstream over the next several years and will present significant growth
opportunities for the Company and its Connected Surfaces portfolio.
While our focus of Connected Surface products is the smart home market, smart mirrors are being employed by retailers like Ralph Lauren and
Neiman Marcus to allow customers to compare outfits on fitting room smart mirrors. Further, single application smart mirrors are emerging in the
fitness industry for interactive workouts at home as a result of the global pandemic.
The automobile segment leads the Smart Mirror industry as technology has imbedded into automobile mirrors. As of the date of this Form 10-K
Annual Report, the Company’s Connected Surfaces products target the smart home segment.
Perceived or Essential Strengths
Capstone believes that the following competitive strengths serve to support its business strategies.
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In North America, the Company has been recognized for more than a decade as an innovator and highly efficient, low-cost manufacturer in several
product niches. Capstone believes that its insight into the needs of retail programming and its proven execution track record with noted retailers
globally positions it well for future growth.
Capstone's core executive team has been working together for over three decades and has successfully built and managed other consumer
product companies.
Operating Management's experience in hardline product manufacturing has prepared the Company for successful entries into various consumer
product markets.
Capstone's branding strategy was focused on establishing multiple trusted brands through licensing allowing for a broader reach into various
channels. Capstone Lighting ® (2008), Hoover® Home LED (2015) and Duracell® (2017) have contributed to expanding the Company's retail
position. Moreover, the knowledge of negotiating and managing such programs may prove beneficial for the Connected Surfaces portfolio.
Product Quality: Through a combination of sourcing quality components, stringent manufacturing quality control and conducting rigorous thirdparty testing, product experiences by consumers are of the highest ranking. To deliver cost-competitive products without compromising quality
standards, we leverage purchasing volume and capitalize on strategic vendor relationships.
Perceived Weaknesses
Capstone believes that its competitive weaknesses are:
It does not possess the business, marketing, and financial resources of larger competitors or the brand recognition or international markets of
some of the larger competitors.
The Company’s current products lines are focused on consumer LED lighting and long-term revenue prospects of the recent diversification into
Connected Surfaces products is uncertain as of the date of this Form 10-K report. As a mature product line, LED business is a declining business
line and revenue source.
The Company does not have the large internal research and development capability of its larger competitors.
Capstone operates with a limited number of employees whose functions are dedicated to executive management, sales and marketing or
administrative support. The limited number of employees may hinder or delay the ability of the Company to identify or respond to consumer
preferences or new technology developments in a product line. Hiring may be required with any growth and qualified personnel may not be readily
available. We cannot match the compensation packages to prospective employees that many larger competitors may offer.
The Company relies on OEM's located in Thailand and China, which have been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and the extent of the
continuing economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is uncertain as of the date of this Form 10-K report.
Capstone’s international purchases can become more expensive if the U.S. Dollar weakens against the foreign currencies.
Should the increased U.S. tariffs imposed on Chinese manufactured goods remain it may negatively impact demand and/or increase the cost for
our products at retail.
While we have established new production capacity in Thailand, there is no final resolution of the U.S. / China trade dispute from which specific
components are sourced. Developing a new, efficient OEM relationship in a new country takes time and effort to reach acceptable production
efficiencies. We have only a short operational experience with Thai OEM’s and cannot predict long term effectiveness of the relationship.
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If the COVID-19 pandemic were to continue, it could have a detrimental impact on our ability to maintain operations by depressing consumer
purchase of our products – whether online or in retail stores. Withstanding continued losses could cause the Company to consider significant
corporate transaction, including, without limitation, a possible merger and acquisition transaction or reorganization to protect the core operations
from the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Like many companies, the Company conducts periodic strategic reviews where the feasibility
of significant corporate transactions are considered, including mergers, asset purchases or sales and diversification or change in business lines.
The Company lacks the financial resources of larger companies to withstand adverse, significant and sustained changes in business and financial
condition. This vulnerability necessitates an ongoing consideration of alternatives to current operations.
Products and Customers
While the Company is expanding its product portfolio through the introduction of the Capstone Connected Surfaces program, it still maintains a
select number of LED lighting products under the "Capstone Lighting® ” brand at both Costco and Sam’s Wholesale Clubs and available through
Amazon.
The product lines available as of the date of this 10-K report are as follows:
Connected Surfaces – Smart Mirrors
Standard Rectangular
Wardrobe/Fitness Mirror
LED Puck Lights
LED Undercabinet Light Bars
LED Motion Sensor Lights
Eco-i-Lites
Wireless Remote-Control Outlets
Wireless Remote-Controlled LED Accent Lights
The plan to expand the Company’s product portfolio through Connected Surfaces involves the inherent risk of increased operating and marketing
costs without a corresponding increase in operational revenues and profits. While the Company makes significant investments into the
Connected Surfaces portfolio, it is reasonable to expect to post losses while building the market for a new category of products which were
formally launched at the 2020 Consumer Electronics Show but faced delays to the market as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Expense
categories including molds, prototyping, engineering, advertising, public relations, tradeshows and social media platforms will continue to be
incurred for six to nine months before shipments and related revenues occur.
Over the past ten years, the Company has established product distribution relationships with numerous leading international, national and regional
retailers, including but not limited to: Amazon, Costco Wholesale, Sam's Club-Walmart, the Container Store and Firefly Buys. These distribution
channels may sell the Company's products through the internet as well as through retail storefronts and catalogs/mail order. The Company
believes it has developed the scale, manufacturing efficiencies, and design expertise that serves as the foundation for aggressive pursuit of niche
product opportunities in our largest consumer domestic and international markets. While Capstone has traditionally generated the majority of its
sales in the U.S. market, urbanization, rising family incomes and increased living standards abroad have spurred a perceived demand for small
consumer appliances internationally. To capture this market opportunity, the Company has continued its international sales by leveraging
relationships with our existing global retailers and by strengthening our international product offerings. CIHK assists the Company in placing more
products into foreign market channels as well. The Company sold Capstone brand products to markets outside the U.S., including Australia,
Japan, South Korea, and the United Kingdom. International sales for the year ended December 31, 2020 were $704 thousand or 25% of net
revenue as compared to $1.2 million or 10% in fiscal 2019. The Company's performance depends on a number of assumptions and factors.
Critical to growth are the economic conditions in the markets that we serve, as well as success in the Company's initiatives to distinguish its
brands from competitors by design, quality, and scope of functions and new technology or features. Efforts to expand into new international
markets may be adversely impacted in the near term by COVID-19 pandemic.
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The Company's products are subject to general economic conditions that impact discretionary consumer spending on non-essential items. Such
continued progress depends on a number of assumptions and factors, including ones mentioned in "Risk Factors" below. Critical to growth are
economic conditions in the markets that foster greater consumer spending as well as success in the Company's initiatives to distinguish its brands
from competitors by design, quality, and scope of functions and new technology or features. The Company's ability to fund the pursuit of our goals
remains a constant, significant factor.
The Company believes that it will provide retailers with a broader and more diversified portfolio of consumer products across product categories,
which should add diversity to the Company's revenues and cash flows sources. Within the selection of products offered, Capstone seeks to
service the needs of a wide range of consumers by providing products to satisfy their different interests, preferences and budgets. The Company
believes in its ability to serve retailers with an array of branded products and quickly introduce new products to continue to allow Capstone to
further penetrate its existing customer bases, while also attracting new customers. The Company's primary, perceived challenge is creating
sustained consumer demand for its products in a growing number of markets and attaining sustained profitability, which challenge is complicated
by the cost of new product development and costs of penetrating new markets. An extensive product line, especially new product line, increases
the investment in product development and, as such, increases operating overhead.
With the Company's “Connected Surfaces” category, Capstone has developed a comprehensive product offering. Within the selection of products
offered, Capstone seeks to service the needs of a wide range of consumers by providing products to satisfy their different interests, preferences
and budgets. The Company believes in its ability to sell direct to consumers with an array of innovative connected products and quickly introduce
additional products to continue to allow Capstone to further penetrate this developing market.
Tariffs. The previous U.S. administration implemented certain tariffs that directly affected the Company's competitiveness. While all companies in
certain industries are affected equally, the appeal for these products to consumers was negatively impacted when retail prices increased due to
higher duty rates. The Company has seen promotional schedules cut back and retailers have requested pricing adjustments that would not be
known to them in advance to products being shipped. Capstone's business model insulates the Company from paying duties as its retail partners
are the importers of record. The obvious unknown is the final impact of tariffs to the landed costs. Accordingly, retailers have demonstrated
caution in their promotional planning schedules and will continue to do so until the administration has clarified its position enabling importers to
calculate estimated landed costs.
Tariffs and trade restrictions imposed by the previous U.S. administration provoked trade and tariff retaliation by other countries. A "trade dispute"
of this nature or other governmental action related to tariffs or international trade agreements or policies has the potential to adversely impact
demand for our products, our costs, customers, suppliers and/or the U.S. economy or certain sectors thereof and, thus, to adversely impact our
businesses. As of the date of this Report, the new U.S. administration is currently reviewing its future position on this issue and there has not been
a resolution of the Chinese-American trade dispute.
Sales and Marketing
Our products are sold nationally and internationally through a direct sales force. The sales force markets the Company's products through
numerous retail locations worldwide, including larger retail warehouse clubs, hardware centers and e-commerce websites. Our business model
has been designed to support “direct import sales” made directly to the retail customer. However, we also offer “domestic sales” programs which
will be expanded in the future as a result of the Capstone Connected program becomes available.
Direct Import Sales. We currently ship finished products directly to our retail customer from Thailand and China. The sales transaction and title of
goods are completed by delivering products to the customers overseas shipping point. The customer takes title of the goods at that point and is
responsible for inbound ocean freight and import duties. Direct import sales are made in larger quantities (generally container sized lots) to
customers worldwide.
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Domestic Sales. The strategy of selling products from a U.S. domestic warehouse enables the Company to provide timely delivery and serve as a
domestic supplier of imported goods. With this model the Company imports goods from overseas and is responsible for all related costs including
ocean freight, insurance, customs clearance, duties, storage and distribution charges related to such products and therefore such sales command
higher sales prices than direct sales. Domestic orders are for a much smaller size and could be as low as a single unit directly to the end
consumer if ordered through an online website. To support an effective e-commerce business model, we will be required to warehouse adequate
inventory levels enabling the Company to ship orders directly to the end consumer expediently.
We continue to make investments to expand our sales, marketing, technical applications support and distribution capabilities to sell our product
portfolio. We also continue to make investments to promote and build market awareness of the products and brands we offer. Our sales within the
U.S. are primarily made by our in-house sales team and our independent sales agencies. Our independent sales agencies are paid a
commission based upon sales made in their respective territories. Our sales agencies are recruited, trained and monitored by us directly. We will
utilize an agency as needed to help us provide service to our retail customers as required. The sales agency agreements are generally one (1)
year agreements, which automatically renew on an annual basis, unless terminated by either party on 30 days’ prior notice. Our international sales
to divisions of U.S. based retailers are made by our in-house sales team. Other international sales are made by our Hong-Kong based CIHK
office staff.
The Company actively promotes its products to retailers and distributors at North American trade shows, such as the Consumer Electronics Show
(“CES”) or the International Hardware Show, but also relies on the retail sales channels to advertise its products directly to the end user
consumers through various promotional activities.
In the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company had two customers who comprised approximately 89% of net revenue and two customers
who comprised 98% of net revenues in 2019. Although we have long established relationships with our customers, we do not have contractual
arrangements to purchase a fixed quantity of product annually. A decrease of business or a loss of any of our major customers could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
For sales growth in the retail market to continue, the Company is focused on expanding the product portfolio currently offered into new innovative
electronic categories that will also allow the Company to expand into different retail departments and channels of distribution.
The Company has been focused on establishing an on-line e-commerce presence to support the introduction of the “Connected Surfaces”
program and deliver direct to consumer.
During 2020, we have utilized social media platforms and online advertising campaigns to further grow the Company’s online presence. In addition
to Facebook, Instagram, Pinterest and LinkedIn, Capstone has launched a You Tube channel to host Smart Mirror videos and established a
Twitter account. The Company has a Social Media presence on the following Social Media platforms:
FACEBOOK1: https://www.facebook.com/capstoneindustries and https://www.facebook.com/capstoneconnected
INSTAGRAM2: https://www.instagram.com/capstoneconnected
PINTEREST 3: https://www.pinterest.com/capstoneconnected/
LINKEDIN 4: https://www.linkedin.com/company/6251882
TWITTER5https://twitter.com/capc capstone
YOUTUBE6 https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCMX5W8PV0Q59qoAdMxKcAig
1 Facebook is a registered trademark of Facebook, Inc.
2 Instagram is a registered trademark of Instagram.
3 Pinterest is a registered trademark of Pinterest.
4 LinkedIn is a registered trademark of LinkedIn Corporation.
5 Twitter is a registered trademark of Twitter Corporation.
6YouTube is a registered trademark of YouTube Corporation.
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Competitive Conditions
The Company operates in a highly competitive environment, both in the United States and internationally. The Company competes with large
multinationals with global operations as well as numerous other smaller, specialized competitors who generally focus on narrower markets,
products, or particular categories.
Competition is influenced by technological innovation, brand perceptions, product quality, value perception, customer service and price. Over the
past several years while the Company's focus has been on LED lighting, principal competitors include Energizer, Feit Electric and Jasco (GE). The
Company believes private-label sales by large retailers has some impact on the market in some parts of the world as many national retailers such
a s Costco, Home Depot, Target and Sam’s/Wal-Mart offer lighting as part of their private branded product lines. Many of the Company's
competitors have greater resources and capabilities, including greater brand recognition, research and development budgets and broader
geographical market reach. Competitors with greater resources could undermine Capstone's expansion efforts by marketing campaigns targeting
its expansion efforts or price competition.
Other competitive factors include rapid technological changes, product availability, credit availability, speed of delivery, ability to tailor solutions to
customer needs, quality and depth of product lines and training, as well as service and support provided by the distributor to the customer.
The COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated the decrease in consumer reliance on traditional brick-and-mortar retailing and heightened the
importance of e-commerce and online marketing and sales. We have just started our Social Media marketing. Many competitors have more
established, widespread and effective e-commerce and Social Media campaigns than we do. We may not be able to effectively compete in ecommerce and Social Media marketing and sales. The COVID-19 pandemic has dramatically impacted marketing and sales of many products and
the long-term impact of the pandemic remains uncertain as of the date of the filing of this Form 10-K report.
With trends and technology continually evolving, Capstone will continue to invest and develop new products that are competitively priced with
consumer centric features and benefits easily articulated to influence point of sale decision making. Success in the markets we serve depends
upon product innovation, pricing, retailer support, responsiveness, and cost management. The Company continues to invest in developing the
technologies and design critical to competing in our markets. Our ability to invest is limited by operational cash flow and funding from third parties,
including members of management and the Board of Directors, and by ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and financial
performance.
Subject to adequate and affordable funding, absence of unexpected competition or technological developments in connected surface devices, and
a curbing of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company believes that it is equipped to compete effectively with its competition in all of
these areas due to its proven track record in delivering innovation to the market and cost-effective and timely manner.
Research, Product Development, and Manufacturing Activities
The Company's research and development department based in Hong Kong designs and engineers many of the Company's products, with
collaboration from its third-party manufacturing partners and software developers. The Company outsources the manufacture and assembly of our
products to a number of contract manufacturers overseas. Our research and development focus includes efforts to:
•
•

develop product with increasing technology and functionality with enhanced quality and performance, and at a very competitive cost.
solidify new manufacturing relationships with contract manufacturers in Thailand.

CIHK establishes strict engineering specifications and product testing protocols with the Company's contract manufacturers and ensure that their
factories adhere to all Regional Labor and Social Compliance Laws. These contract manufacturers purchase components that we specify and
provide the necessary facilities and labor to manufacture our products. We leverage the strength of the contract manufacturers and allocate the
manufacturing of specific products to the contract manufacturer best suited to the task. Quality control and product testing is conducted at the
contract manufacturers facility and at 3 rd party testing laboratories overseas.
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Capstone's research and development team enforces its proprietary manufacturing expertise by maintaining control over all outsourced production
and critical production molds. To ensure the quality and consistency of the Company's products manufactured overseas, Capstone uses globally
recognized certified testing laboratories such as United Laboratories (UL) or Intertek (ETL) to ensure all products are designed and tested to
adhere to each country's individual regulatory standards. The Company also uses quality control inspectors who examine and test products to
Capstone's specification(s) before shipments are released. CIHK office capabilities include product development, project management, sourcing
management, supply chain logistics, factory compliance auditing, and quality enforcement for all supplier factories located in Hong Kong, China
and Thailand.
To successfully implement Capstone's business strategy, the Company must continually improve its current products and develop new product
segments with innovative imbedded technologies to meet consumer's growing expectations. The Connected Surfaces product development is our
current effort to achieve those expectations.
Capstone will continue to invest in more technical and innovative product categories. These costs are expensed when incurred and are included
in the operating expenses.
Raw Materials
The principal raw materials currently used by Capstone are sourced in Thailand and China, as the Company orders product exclusively through
contract manufacturers in the region. These contract manufacturers purchase components based on the Company's specifications and provide the
necessary facilities and labor to manufacture the Company's products. Capstone allocates the production of specific products to the contract
manufacturer the Company believes is more experienced to produce the specific product and whose facility is located in the country that most
benefits from the U.S. Tariff regulations. To ensure the consistent quality of Capstone's products, quality control procedures have been
incorporated at each stage of the manufacturing process, ranging from the inspection of raw materials through production and delivery to the
customer. These procedures are additional to the manufacturers' internal quality control procedures and performed by Quality Assurance
personnel.
•
•
•

Raw Materials – Components and supplies are subject to sample inspections upon arrival at the contract manufacturer, to ensure the correct specified
components are being used in production.
Work in Process – Our quality control team conducts quality control tests at different points during the product stages of our manufacturing process to
ensure that quality integrity is maintained.
Finished Goods – Our team performs tests on finished and packaged products to assess product safety, integrity and package compliance.

Raw materials used in manufacturing include plastic resin, copper, led bulbs, batteries, and corrugated paper. Prices of materials have remained
competitive in the last year. CAPC believes that adequate supplies of raw materials required for its operations are available at the present time.
CAPC, cannot predict the future availability or prices of such materials. These raw materials are generally available from a number of different
sources, and the prices of those raw materials are susceptible to currency fluctuations and price fluctuations due to transportation, government
regulations, price controls, economic climate, or other unforeseen circumstances. In the past, CAPC has not experienced any significant
interruption in availability of raw materials. We believe we have extensive experience in manufacturing and have taken positions to assure supply
and to protect margins on anticipated sales volume. CIHK is responsible for developing and sourcing finished products from Asia in order to grow
and diversify our product portfolio. Quality testing for these products is performed both by CIHK and by our globally recognized third party quality
testing laboratories.
Section 1502 of Title XV of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act requires SEC-reporting companies to disclose
annually whether any conflict minerals are necessary to the functionality or production of a product. Based on our inquiries to our manufacturers,
we do not believe as of the date of such inquiries that any conflict minerals are used in making our products.
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Distribution and Fulfillment
Since January 2015, the Company has transferred its U.S. domestic warehousing and distribution needs to a third-party warehousing facility
situated in Anaheim, California. The warehouse operator provides full inventory storage, packaging and logistics services including direct to store
and direct to consumer shipping capabilities that electronically interface to our existing operations software. The warehouse operator provides full
ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning), Inventory Control and Warehouse Management Systems. These fulfillment services can be expanded to the
east coast in Charleston, South Carolina, if the Company needed to establish an east coast distribution point. This relationship, if required, will
allow us to fully expand our U.S. distribution capabilities and services.
As the Company transitions into the e-commerce and direct to consumer marketplace, the Company has developed a new website with full
shopping cart capabilities. To complete this project the Company has negotiated contracts for secured credit card processing capability, state
sales tax compliance services and order fulfillment and logistics services, at a very competitive rate. The Company is also planning to warehouse
and supply its Smart Mirror program through Amazon fulfilment.
Royalties
We have, from time to time, entered into agreements whereby we have agreed to pay royalties for the use of nationally recognized licensed
brands on Company product offerings. Royalty expense incurred under such agreements is expensed at the time of shipment.
In 2019 the Company’s marketing objective was to transition existing licensed lighting product lines into the Capstone Lighting brand, which was
successfully achieved.
On February 3, 2020, the remaining Royalty license expired as the Company did not achieve the stated net sales volumes for the renewal period.
Seasonality
In general, sales for household products and electronics are seasonally influenced. Certain gift products cause consumers to increase purchases
during key holiday winter season of the fourth quarter, which requires increases in retailer inventories during the third quarter. In addition, natural
disasters such as hurricanes and tornadoes can create conditions that drive increased needs for portable power and power failure light sales.
Climate change may increase the number and severity of hurricanes, tornadoes and flooding. Historically, the lighting products had lower sales
during the first quarter due to the Chinese New Year holiday as factories are closed and shipments are halted during this period. Our transition to
Thailand manufacturers may reduce the impact of Chinese New Year holiday.
We do not have sufficient operational experience with Connected Surfaces to predict the seasonality of connected surfaces.
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Intellectual Property
CAPC subsidiary, CAPI, has filed a number of U.S. trademarks and patents over the past decade. These include the following trademarks:
Exclusive license and sub-license to Power Failure Technology; Capstone Power Control, Timely Reader, Pathway Lights, and 10 LED - Eco-i-Lite
Power Failure Light, 5 LED - Eco-i-Lite Power Failure Light, 3 LED - Eco-i-Lite Power Failure Light, 3 LED Slim Line Eco-i-Lite Power Failure
Light, LED Induction Charged Headlight. We also have a number of patents pending; Puck Light (cookie), Puck Light Base, Multi-Color Puck
Lights, LED Dual Mode Solar Light, Integrated Light Bulb (Coach Light), LED Gooseneck Lantern, Spotlights, Security Motion Activated Lights,
Under Cabinet Lighting and Bathroom Vanity Light. CAPC periodically prepares patent and trademark applications for filing in the United States
and China. CAPC will also pursue foreign patent protection in foreign countries if deemed necessary to protect a patent and to the extent that we
have the available cash to do so. CAPC's ability to compete effectively in the Home Lighting categories depends in part, on its ability to maintain
the proprietary nature of its technology and manufacturing processes through a combination of patent and trade secret protection, non-disclosure
agreements, licensing, and cross-licensing agreements. CAPC owns a number of patents, trademarks, trademark and patent applications and
other technology which CAPC believes are significant to its business. These intellectual property rights relate primarily to lighting device
improvements and manufacturing processes.
While the Company may license third party technologies for its products, or may rely on other companies, especially OEM’s, for design,
engineering and testing, the Company believes that its oversight of design and function of its products and its marketing capabilities are significant
factors in the ability of the Company to sell its products.
Value of Patents
The actual protection afforded by a patent, which can vary from country to country, depends upon the type of patent, the scope of its coverage and
the availability of legal remedies in the country. Issued patents or patents based on pending patent applications or any future patent applications
may not exclude competitors or may not provide a competitive advantage to us. In addition, patents issued or licensed to us may not be held valid
if subsequently challenged and others may claim rights in or ownership of such patents. The validity and breadth of claims in technology patents
involve complex legal and factual questions and, therefore, the extent of their enforceability and protection is highly uncertain.
Reverse engineering, unauthorized copying or other misappropriation of our technologies could enable third parties to benefit from our
technologies without paying us. We cannot assure shareholders that our competitors have not developed or will not develop similar products, will
not duplicate our products, or will not design around any patents issued to or licensed by us. We will assess any loss of these rights and
determine whether to litigate to protect our intellectual property rights on a case by case basis.
We rely on trademark, trade secret, patent, and copyright laws to protect our intellectual property rights. We cannot be sure that these intellectual
property rights will be effectively utilized or, if necessary, successfully asserted. There is a risk that we will not be able to obtain and perfect our
own intellectual property rights, or, where appropriate, license intellectual property rights from others to support new product introductions. There
can be no assurance that we can acquire licenses under patents belonging to others for technology potentially useful or necessary to us and there
can be no assurance that such licenses will be available to us, if at all, on terms acceptable to us. Moreover, there can be no assurance that any
patent issued to or licensed by us will not be infringed or circumvented by others or will not be successfully challenged by others in lawsuits. We
do not have a reserve for litigation costs associated with intellectual property matters. The cost of litigating intellectual property rights claims may
be beyond our financial ability to fund.
As is customary in the retail industry, many of our customer agreements requires us to indemnify our customers for third-party intellectual property
infringement claims. Such claims could harm our relationships with customers and might deter future customers from doing business with us. With
respect to any intellectual property rights claims against us or our customers, we may be required to cease manufacture of the infringing product,
pay damages and expend significant Company resources to defend against the claim and or seek a license.
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Information Technology
The efficient operation of our business is dependent on our information technology systems. We rely on those systems to manage our daily
operations, communicate with our customers and maintain our financial and accounting records. In the normal course of business, we receive
information regarding customers, associates, and vendors. Since we do not collect significant amounts of valuable personal data or sensitive
business data from others, our internal computer systems are under a light to moderate level of risk from hackers or other individuals with
malicious intent to gain unauthorized access to our computer systems. Cyberattacks are growing in number and sophistication and are an ongoing
threat to business computer systems, which are used to operate the business on a day to day basis. Our computer systems could be vulnerable to
security breaches, computer viruses, or other events. The failure of our information technology systems, our inability to successfully maintain our
information or any compromise of the integrity or security of the data we generate from our systems or an event resulting in the unauthorized
disclosure of confidential information or degradation of services provided by critical business systems, whether by us directly or our third-party
service providers, could adversely affect our business operations, sales, reputation with current and potential customers, associates or vendors,
results of operations, product development and make us unable or limit our ability to respond to customers' demands.
As shown by hacking of major commercial and government computer systems and networks, no system that is connected is completely safe from
hacking or malware. We have incorporated into our data network various on and off site data backup processes which should allow us to mitigate
any data loss events, however our information technology systems are vulnerable to damage or interruption from:
•
•
•

hurricanes, fire, flood and other natural disasters
power outage
internet, telecommunications or data network failure.

Environmental Regulations
We believe that the Company is in compliance with environmental protection regulations and will not have a material impact on our financial
position and results of operations.
Employees
Response to COVID-19
The Company’s top priority has been to take appropriate actions to protect the health and safety of our employees as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic. We have adjusted standard operating procedures within our business operations to ensure the continued safety of our employees and
we continually monitor evolving health guidelines to ensure ongoing compliance and protection of our employees. These procedures include
expanded and more frequent cleaning within facilities, implementation of appropriate social distancing programs, requiring use of certain personal
protective equipment, screening protocols and work from home programs.
The Company will continue to evolve these programs to protect the health and safety of our employees.
As of December 31, 2020, we employed 8 employees in our U.S. office and 3 employees in our Hong Kong operation. We consider our relations
with our employees to be good. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We have no part-time workers. We
believe that our staff is adequate to handle the current operations, but we recognize that the new product line and social media marketing will
probably require additional personnel – either employees or contractors in 2021-2022. Our ability to hire additional personnel is subject to
adequate revenue flow and funding.
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The following table sets forth the number of employees by function:
Employee Function
Executive
Sales/Customer Service/Distribution
Research & Development/Technology/Product Development
Administrative
TOTAL

Number of Employees
3
4
2
2
11

Corporate Information
Our principal executive offices are located at 431 Fairway Drive, Suite #200, Deerfield Beach, Florida, USA 33441. Our telephone number is
(954)570-8889 and our website is at URL: www.capstonecompaniesinc.com. Our U.S. subsidiaries operate out of our principal executive offices.
The Company believes that its current facilities are adequate for conduct of its business.
We file our financial information and other materials required under the Exchange Act electronically with the SEC. These materials can be
accessed electronically via the Internet at www.sec.gov. Such materials and other information about the Company are also available through our
corporate website : https://www.capstonecompanies.com.
Government Regulation
Our operations are subject to regulation by federal and state securities authorities as well as various federal, state, foreign and local laws and
regulations governing a consumer products company and a for-profit business. We are not subject to any U.S. federal, state or local regulation
that poses, in our opinion, any special or unusual burden or obstacle to conducting our business and financial affairs. Our main concern, although
greatly diminished in terms of government regulation is the changing regulatory environment in China and its impact on our ability to access our
LED lighting product manufacturing sources and obtain our specific consumer products. While the general trend in China has to be conducive to
trade and commerce, China is a still a single-party nation-state in which the central government has the power to dramatically and immediately
change its trade and commercial policies and laws. Political or military conflict between the United States and China, who are rivals for power and
influence in Asia and to an increasing extent all along the Pacific Rim as well as being diametrically opposed to one another over the status of
Taiwan, could provoke a change in Chinese trade or commercial law that makes it more difficult or expensive for us to obtain consumer products.
Such a development would have a serious impact on our ability to compete in the United States in the niche LED consumer product market.
CIHK is subject to the laws of Hong Kong SAR, which is a part of and subject to governance by China. In light of the specific operational role of
CIHK in our company, we do not believe that such regulation poses a significant risk factor in terms of the business and financial condition of the
Company.
Working Capital Requirements and Financing
In order to successfully launch the online Smart Mirror business, the Company will be required to maintain sufficient on hand available inventory
levels, to allow for immediate fulfilment of an online order. This will require additional investment in on hand domestic inventory and require an
efficient logistics system that will provide for inventory staged throughout the supply chain to provide for efficient inventory replenishment to
support forecasted sales. The Company, as needed, will strategically increase its inventory levels held at its designated fulfilment centers.
Combined with investment in new product expansion, new product molds, product testing and outside certifications, package design work, and
further expansion of its capabilities in Thailand, the Company may require additional working capital to fund these strategic projects.
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On July 31, 2020, the Company terminated its factoring agreement with Sterling National Bank. The Company has been in discussions with
alternate funding sources that offer extensive programs that are more in line with the Company’s future business model, particularly a facility that
provides funding options that are suitable for the e-commerce business that the Company is transitioning into. The borrowing costs associated
with such financing are dependent upon market conditions and our credit rating. We cannot assure that we will be able to negotiate competitive
rates, which could increase our cost of borrowing in the future.
On January 4, 2021, the Company entered a $750,000 working capital loan agreement with Directors, Stewart Wallach and Jeffrey Postal. The
term of the loan started January 4, 2021 and ends June 30, 2021 (“Initial Period’). The Company may extend the Initial Period for an additional six
consecutive months, ending December 31, 2021, under the same terms and conditions as the Initial Period, by providing written notice of the
election to extend to the lenders prior to the expiration of the Initial Period. The Company may borrow and reborrow under the agreement up to
$750,000 and prepay wholly or partially the unpaid principal amount at any time and do so without pre-pay penalty or charge. The unpaid principal
amount and all accrued interest is due and payable in full at the end of the Initial Period or expiration of the extended date, being December 31,
2021 (the “Maturity Date”), in a single lump sum balloon payment.
The Company's ability to maintain sufficient working capital is highly dependent upon achieving expected operating results. Failure to achieve
expected operating results could have a material adverse effect on the Company's working capital, ability to obtain financing, and its operations in
the future. However, achieving expected results as accomplished in 2017 and 2016, increased working capital and provided the Company with
liquidity to transition into a new innovative category without creating debt.
In addition, we intend to seek alternative sources of liquidity, including but not limited to accessing the capital markets, or other alternative
financing measures. However, instability in, or tightening of the capital markets, could adversely affect our ability to access the capital markets on
terms acceptable to us. An economic recession or a slow recovery could adversely affect our business and liquidity. The ongoing impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s business and financial performance may also affect the Company’s ability to obtain funding.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had $0 debt outstanding.
The Company's liquidity and cash requirements are discussed more fully in Part II, Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, below.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Described below and throughout this Form 10-K report are certain risks that the Company’s management believes are applicable to the
Company’s business and the industries in which it operates. If any of the described events occur, the Company’s business, results of operations,
financial condition, liquidity, or access to the capital markets could be materially adversely affected. When stated below that a risk may have a
material adverse effect on the company’s business, it means that such risk may have one or more of these effects. There may be additional risks
that are not presently material or known. There are also risks within the economy, the industry, and the capital markets that could materially
adversely affect the company, including those associated with an economic recession, inflation, a global economic slowdown, political instability,
government regulation (including tax regulation), employee attraction and retention, and customers’ inability or refusal to pay for the products and
services provided by the company. There are also risks associated with the occurrence of extraordinary events, such as terrorist attacks or natural
disasters (such as tsunamis, hurricanes, tornadoes, and floods). These factors affect businesses generally, including the Company, its customers
and suppliers and, as a result, are not discussed in detail below, but are applicable to the Company. As a "penny stock" without primary market
maker support, any investment in our Common Stock is highly risky and should only be considered by investors who can afford to lose their entire
investment and do not require immediate liquidity. These risk factors are not the only risks that we or our subsidiaries may face. Additional risks
and uncertainties not presently known to us or not currently believed to be important also may adversely affect our business.
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Business and Operational Risks
The COVID-19 pandemic and measures intended to reduce its spread has, and may continue to, adversely affect our business, results
of operations and financial condition and may hamper our ability to fund our operations without obtaining adequate, affordable
funding, which funding may not be available as needed.
The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has spread across the globe and continues to impact worldwide economic activity, including Southern
Florida where the Company offices are located and in China and Thailand where the Company has its products made. The COVID-19 pandemic
has prevented our employees, suppliers, logistics services and other partners from conducting business activities at full capacity for a period of
time, due to the community spread of the disease or due to shutdowns that were requested or mandated by governmental authorities or
businesses. While it is not possible at this time to estimate the full impact that the COVID-19 pandemic could have on our business, the continued
spread of COVID-19 and the measures taken by the governments and businesses in affected areas and in which we operate have disrupted and
may continue to disrupt our product development, manufacturing supply chain, the retail marketplace and overall consumer buying confidence.
For example, despite the phased reopening of the economy in many U.S. states, the resurgence of COVID-19 has paused many phased reopenings. Due to social distancing and other mandates implemented by federal, state and local governments, many individuals are working
remotely and staying at home resulting in retail stores remaining closed and demand for consumer goods remaining uncertain. As the COVID-19
pandemic continues to remain a serious health threat, the retail marketplace may have continued declines, which has reduced and may continue
to reduce revenue and, as a result, could continue to adversely affect our operating results and financial condition. The overall negative impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic on the economy has also impacted, and may continue to impact, the number of potential retail customers for our
products. The COVID-19 outbreak and government and business mitigation measures have also had an adverse impact on global economic
conditions, which has had and could continue to have an adverse effect on our business and financial condition and could impact our ability to
access the capital markets on terms acceptable to us, if at all. In addition, we have taken and may further take temporary precautionary measures
intended to help minimize the risk of COVID-19 to our employees, including closing the corporate office, temporarily requiring employees to work
remotely, suspending all non-essential travel for our employees, which could negatively affect our business. The further spread of the COVID-19
pandemic and actions taken to limit and combat the spread will impact our ability to carry out our business as normal, and may materially
adversely impact our business, operating results and financial condition. The extent to which the COVID-19 outbreak impacts our results will
depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information that may emerge concerning the
severity of the virus and the actions to contain its impact.
The adverse financial results from the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and financial performance coupled with our transition in new product
focus on Connected Surfaces products places a significant financial strain on our Company. While we have secured a $750,000 thousand working
capital facility with a term up to one year, and we anticipate available funding will sustain operations in the short term, however, to sustain future
operations and revenue growth we will also need either adequate and affordable additional funding or adequate cash flow from sales of products
in fiscal year 2021. As part of our periodic strategic planning, we are evaluating a range of possible significant corporate transactions to counter
any ongoing or more severe adverse impact by the COVID-19 pandemic in the future. The Company has not committed to any specific significant
corporate transaction but is evaluating various options in case the Company’s cash flow from sale of products does not revive or the Company
does not obtain affordable, adequate funding for long-term working capital. The success or failure of our new Connected Surfaces product line will
have a significant impact on any pursuit of a significant corporate transactions as a change in strategic plan. Even if we pursue a significant
corporate transaction, there is no assurance that a significant corporate transaction will improve or stabilize business and financial condition or
future prospects.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company used cash in operations of approximately $1.9 million and generated net operating
losses of $2.4 million. As of December 31, 2020, the Company has working capital of approximately $1.4 million and an accumulated deficit of $4.5
million. The Company’s cash balance dropped by approximately $1.9 million from $3.1 million as of December 31, 2019 to $1.2 million as of
December 31, 2020. Although we have cash on hand, and availability under the $750,000 working capital line of credit, the Company does not
have sufficient cash on hand to finance its plan of operations for the next 12 months from the filing of this report and will need to seek additional
capital through debt and/or equity financing. These factors combined raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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We will continue to actively monitor the situation and may take further actions that alter our business operations as may be required by
governments, or that we determine are in the best interest of our employees, customers, partners, suppliers and shareholders. The extent of the
adverse impact of the pandemic on the global economy and markets will depend, in part, on the length and severity of the measures taken to limit
the spread of the virus and, in part, on the size and effectiveness of the compensating measures taken by governments. To the extent the COVID19 pandemic continues to adversely affect the U.S. economy, and/or adversely affects our business, operations or financial performance, it may
also have the effect of increasing the likelihood and/or magnitude of other risks described herein, including those risks related to market, credit,
geopolitical and business operations and cyber, or risks described in our other filings with the SEC. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic may also
affect our business, operations or financial performance in a manner that is not presently known to us.
If we encounter problems with our logistics provider, our ability to deliver our products to the online market could be adversely
affected.
In the U.S. we rely on a third-party logistics provider for our product distribution services. The current COVID-19 pandemic or its future recurrence
may impede our ability to ship from the distribution facility at full capacity. Significant disruptions or delays could lead to loss of customers or an
erosion of our brand image. In addition, our distribution capacity is dependent on the timely performance of services by a third party. This will
include the shipping of orders to our online customers. If our distribution provider encounter such problems, our future results of operations, as well
as our ability to meet customer expectations, manage inventory, complete sales and achieve objectives for operating efficiencies could be
materially adversely affected.
Our operating results are substantially dependent on the acceptance of new products.
The Connected Surfaces product line is our effort to establish a viable product line to replace the matured LED product line and the success of the
Connected Surfaces product line is critical to our continued operation as a consumer product company. Our future success depends on our ability
to deliver innovative, higher performing and lower cost solutions for existing and new markets and for customers to accept those solutions. As a
small company, innovation is critical to our ability to compete with larger competitors. We must introduce new products in a timely and costeffective manner, and we must secure production orders for those products from our customers. The development of new products is a highly
complex process, and we have in some instances experienced delays in completing the development and introduction of new products. Our
research and development efforts are aimed at solving increasingly complex problems, and we do not expect that all our projects will be
successful. The successful development, introduction and acceptance of new products depend on a number of factors, including the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

achievement of technology solutions required to make commercially viable products.
the accuracy of our predictions for market requirements.
our ability to predict, influence and / or reach evolving consumer and technical standards.
our timely completion of product designs and development.
our ability to effectively transfer increasingly complex products and technology from development to manufacturing; and
market acceptance of our new product by retailers and consumers.

If any of these or other similar factors becomes problematic, we may not be able to deliver and introduce new products in a timely or cost-effective
manner and be unable to effectively compete in the product market segment.
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Our operations depend on a small number of personnel and the loss of key personnel or the inability to replace or add key personnel
could have a significant impact on our ability to grow or sustain operations.
We operate the executive operations with a relatively small number of personnel. Company has not developed personnel to readily replace key
personnel. The loss of key personnel, being Stewart Wallach, Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and James McClinton, Company’s Chief
Financial Officer, would severely harm the business. Our success also depends on our ability to identify, attract, hire, train and retain highly skilled
technical, managerial, and sales and marketing personnel. Competition for these individuals is intense, and we may not be able to successfully
recruit, assimilate or retain sufficiently qualified personnel. The inability to attract and retain such highly skilled personnel could harm our ability to
obtain new customers and develop new products and could adversely affect our business and operating results. We do not have key man life
insurance.
Our personnel are focused on executive management or marketing. Our marketing is supplemented by contractor sales agencies and we have a
relatively small research and development capability in CIHK. We rely on CIHK and OEM’s for certain technical development and design and we
have no current plans to develop an in-house technical development staff. The loss of an OEM would disrupt our business operations if we could
not find a suitable replacement in short order. Company evaluates potential OEM’s from time to time to identify possible alternative production
and technical development resources. If our operations grow, we may have to increase the number of our personnel in the future to handle any
growth or expansion of product lines or product categories. Our ability to find and retain qualified personnel when needed by our growth or
existing operations will be an important factor in determining our success in coping with any growth or efficiently handling existing operational
burdens.
During a downturn in the economy, consumer purchases of discretionary items are affected, which could materially harm our sales,
profitability and financial condition and our prospects for growth.
Many of our products may be considered discretionary items for consumers. Factors affecting the level of consumer spending for such
discretionary items include general economic conditions, unemployment, the availability of consumer credit and consumer confidence in future
economic conditions. Uncertainty in U.S. economic conditions continues, particularly considering the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, and
trends in consumer discretionary spending remain unpredictable. While the impact on the global economy remains uncertain, the United States
and other countries have experienced a significant increase in unemployment and financial markets remain uncertain. The uncertainty has been
enhanced by the slow process of the U.S. Congress to pass additional rounds of financial assistance for unemployed workers and businesses to
counter the impact of COVID-19 pandemic. Historically, consumer purchases of discretionary items tend to decline during recessionary periods
when disposable income is lower or during other periods of economic instability or uncertainty, which may lead to declines in sales and slow our
long-term growth expectations. Any near or long-term downturn in the U.S. market in which we sell most of our products, or other key markets,
may materially harm our sales, profitability and financial condition and our prospects for growth.
We derive a substantial portion of our sales from large wholesale customers, many of which have experienced significant disruption due to the
COVID-19 pandemic. If the financial condition of our customers declines, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
impacted. We face increased risk of order reduction or cancellation or delay of promotional opportunities when dealing with customers struggling
with economic uncertainty. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, including preventative or protective actions by government authorities and
businesses have taken to contain the spread of COVID-19, many of our wholesale customers in the United States have had to implement six foot
social distancing policies, mandatory reduced foot traffic and compulsory wearing of face masks while in the store and have experienced reduced
consumer traffic and purchasing, which has resulted in lower sales and cancellations or delays of orders of our products. The financial impact of
continued store disruptions on many of our retail customers has been significant and the long-term impact remains uncertain as of the date of the
filing of this Form 10-K report. In addition, during weak economic conditions, customers may be more cautious with orders or may slow
investments necessary to maintain a high quality in-store experience for consumers, which may result in lower sales of our products. A slowing
economy in our key markets or a continued decline in consumer purchases of discretionary goods generally could have an adverse effect on the
future planned promotional activities of our customers.
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We face significant challenges in achieving and sustaining revenue growth.
Our potential for growth in revenues and attaining profitability depends significantly on the adoption of our products within the markets we serve
and our ability to affect this rate of adoption. The introduction of the Connected Surfaces product line is our effort to introduce an innovative
product aimed at achieving sustainable growth and potential profitability. In order to manage our growth and business strategy effectively relative
to the uncertain pace of adoption, we must continue to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

expand the capability of information systems to support a more complex business.
to secure and expand sufficient third-party manufacturing resources, to meet customer demands for price, function and design.
manage an increasingly complex supply chain that can supply an increasing number of raw materials and components with the required specifications and
quality, and deliver on time to our third-party manufacturing facilities, or our logistics operations.
expand research and development, sales and marketing, technical support, distribution capabilities and administrative functions.
manage organization complexity and communication.
expand the skills and capabilities of our current management team.
add experienced senior level managers and executives when and as needed.
attract and retain qualified employees; and
adequately maintain and adjust, if needed, the operational and financial controls that support our business.

We are also increasingly dependent on information technology to enable us to improve the effectiveness of our operations and to maintain financial
accuracy and efficiency. While we intend to focus on managing our costs and expenses, over the long term we expect to invest to support our
growth and may have additional unexpected costs. Such investments take time to become fully operational, and we may not be able to expand
quickly enough to exploit targeted market opportunities. In connection with our efforts to cost-effectively manage our growth, we rely on contract
manufacturers for production capacity. If our contract OEM manufacturers, original design manufacturers (“ODMs”) or other service providers do
not perform effectively, we may not be able to achieve the expected cost and may incur additional costs to fulfill customer demand. Our operations
may also be negatively impacted if any of these contract manufacturers, ODMs or other service providers do not have the financial capability to
meet our growing needs. There are also inherent execution risks in starting up a new contract manufacturer factory or expanding production
capacity of our existing contract OEM manufacturers or ODMs, or moving production to different contract manufacturers or ODMs, that could
increase costs and reduce our operating results.
If we are unable to effectively develop, manage and expand our sales channels for our products, our operating results may suffer.
Our launch of an e-commerce website and social media promotions of products are a new approach to marketing for our company and we lack
sufficient operational history to judge the effectiveness of the effort. E-commerce and social medica promotion may be critical to the success of the
new Connected Surfaces products. The success of the Connected Surfaces products is critical to stabilizing and improving the business and
financial condition as well as prospects of the Company. We do not have an extensive staff devoted to e-commerce and social media promotions
and we have not retained outside firms to assist on a regular basis in this effort. We may have to devote more resources to e-commerce and social
media promotion in terms of staff, outside assistance or both and those expenditures will tax our financial resources. The Company is seeking
funding to support the promotion of the Connected Surfaces products to supplement the $750,000 working capital credit line provided by two
Company directors in January 2021. Attaining affordable funding of the marketing effort may be critical to success of the marketing and promotion
of the Connected Surfaces products.
As we grow our business and expand into business channels that are different from those in which we have historically operated, those retailers
may alter their promotional pricing or inventory strategies, which could impact our targeted sales of these products. If we are unable to effectively
penetrate these channels or develop alternate channels to ensure our products are reaching the intended customer base, our financial results may
be adversely impacted. In addition, if we successfully penetrate or develop these channels, we cannot guarantee that customers will accept our
products.
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The markets in which we operate are highly competitive and have evolving technical or consumer requirements.
The markets for our products are highly competitive. The smart or interactive mirror market is an emerging market and attracting new competitors
– many of those competitors have significantly greater business, personnel, technical and financial resources than us and have greater access to
distribution channels on a domestic and international basis. They also have or have the ability to establish brand recognition and reputation with
consumers in domestic and international markets on a scale that we cannot match. Although the Company is seeking an apparently accessible
niche market in smart mirrors, the sub $1,000 residential market, the Company may be unable to overcome larger competitors in this niche market
or gain a profitable niche in this market. Since the Company relies on OEM’s for technical development, the Company may also be unable to
compete with new technologies and functions in the smart mirror market or be able to affordably license new technologies or functions that are
demanded by consumers.
In the consumer lighting market, which is a maturing market for us, we compete with companies that manufacture and sell traditional lighting
products and we compete with companies that make smart mirrors for residential use, we compete with companies that have greater market
share, name recognition and technical resources than we do. Competitors continue to offer new products with aggressive pricing. Aggressive
pricing actions by our competitors in our businesses could reduce margins if we are not able to reduce costs at an equal or greater rate than the
sales price decline.
With the increased demand for consumer smart products, including the connected surfaces that is the focus of our business, we will continue to
face increased competition in the future across our businesses. If the investment in capacity exceeds the growth in demand the electronic
consumer market is likely to become more competitive with additional pricing pressures. With the emerging and evolving smart mirror market, we
face growing competition and rapidly changing product technology and functionalities.
As competition increases in smart products, including connected surfaces, we need to continue to develop new products that meet or exceed the
needs of our customers. Therefore, our ability to continually produce smart, efficient and lower cost lighting products that meet the evolving needs
of our customers will be critical to our success. Adequate, affordable and available funding is key to our ability to compete in LED lighting and
smart mirror markets. Competitors may also try to align with some of our strategic customers. This could lead to lower prices for our products,
reduced demand for our products and a corresponding reduction in our ability to recover development, engineering and manufacturing costs. Any
of these developments could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.
As is true in any consumer product industry, the ability of a company to respond to changing consumer tastes and purchasing habits is key to
success in consumer products. Introduction of new products brings the risk of increased development, production and marketing costs as well as
that investment failing to produce revenues or profits that justify the investment in new products.
If our products fail to perform or fail to meet customer requirements or expectations, we could incur significant additional costs,
including costs associated with the recall of those items.
The manufacture of our products involves complex processes. Our customers specify quality, performance and reliability standards that we must
meet. If our products do not meet these standards, we may be required to replace or rework the products. In some cases, our products may
contain undetected defects that only become evident after shipment and used by consumers. Even if our products meet standard specifications,
our customers may attempt to use our products in applications for which they were not designed resulting in product failures and creating
customer satisfaction issues. For a small company, identifying and meeting consumer demand and product quality standards are critical to our
business and financial performance.
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If failures or defects occur, they could result in significant losses or product recalls due to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

costs associated with the removal, collection and destruction of the product.
payments made to replace product.
costs associated with repairing the product.
the write-down or destruction of existing inventory.
insurance recoveries that fail to cover the full costs associated with product recalls.
lost sales due to the unavailability of product for a period.
delays, cancellations or rescheduling of order for our products; or
increased product returns.

A significant product recall could also result in adverse publicity, damage to our reputation and a loss of customer or consumer confidence in our
products and could substantially undermine or delay any success in the critical Connected Surfaces product launch. Further, while we believe that
product liability for consumer electronic products is not significant or widespread, we could face product liability lawsuits or regulatory proceedings
by the Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC) and could suffer losses from a significant product liability judgment or adverse CPSC
finding against us if the use of our products at issue is determined to have caused injury or contained a substantial product hazard to the public.
We provide warranty periods of 1 year on our products. Although we believe our warranty reserves are appropriate, we are making projections
about the future reliability of new products and technologies, and we may experience increased variability in warranty claims. Increased warranty
claims could result in significant losses due to a rise in warranty expense and costs associated with customer support.
We rely on several key OEM’s/manufacturers to supply our products.
We depend on several key OEM’s and their suppliers. Although alternative manufacturers with similar manufacturing capabilities are available,
qualification and certification of many of these alternative manufacturers could take up to six months or longer to finalize. While we have
developed production capabilities through OEM in Thailand, we also remain dependent on Chinese OEM’s.
Additionally, the inability of our suppliers to access capital efficiently could cause disruptions in their businesses, thereby negatively impacting
ours. This risk may increase if an economic downturn negatively affects our OEM’s or their suppliers. Any delay in product delivery or other
interruption or variation in supply from these suppliers could prevent us from meeting customer order requirements. If we were to lose a key
supplier, if our key suppliers were unable to support our demand for any reason or if we were unable to identify and qualify alternative suppliers,
our manufacturing operations could be interrupted or hampered significantly.
We rely on arrangements with independent shipping companies for the delivery of our products from vendors and to customers both in the United
States and abroad. The failure or inability of these shipping companies to deliver products or the unavailability of shipping or port services, even
temporarily, could have a material adverse effect on our business. We may also be adversely affected by an increase in freight surcharges due to
rising fuel costs and added security.
We rely on third-party suppliers and manufacturers to provide raw materials for and to produce our products, and we have limited
control over these suppliers and manufacturers and may not be able to obtain quality products on a timely basis or in sufficient
quantity.
Some of the components used in our products may be technically advanced products developed by third parties and may be available, in the
short-term, from a very limited number of sources. All of our products are manufactured by unaffiliated manufacturers. We have long -term
relationships but no long-term contracts with our suppliers or manufacturing sources, and we compete with other companies for components, raw
materials, production and capacity.
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We may experience a significant disruption in the supply of components or raw materials from current sources or, in the event of a disruption, we
may be unable to locate alternative materials suppliers of comparable quality at an acceptable price, or at all. In addition, our unaffiliated
manufacturers may not be able to fill our orders in a timely manner. If we experience significant increased demand, or we lose or need to replace
a n existing manufacturer or supplier because of adverse economic conditions or other reasons, additional supplies of components or raw
materials or additional manufacturing capacity may not be available when required on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all, or suppliers or
manufacturers may not be able to allocate sufficient capacity to us to meet our requirements. In addition, even if we can expand existing or find
new manufacturing or raw material sources, we may encounter delays in production and added costs because of the time it takes to train our
suppliers and manufacturers on our methods, products and quality control standards. Any delays, interruption or increased costs in the supply of
raw materials or manufacture of our products could have an adverse effect on our ability to meet retail customer and consumer demand for our
products and result in lower net revenues and net income both in the short and long-term. These risks have materially increased and may persist
with the significant disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.
We may in the future receive, shipments of product that fail to conform to our quality control standards. In that event, unless we can obtain
replacement products in a timely manner, we risk the loss of net revenues resulting from the inability to sell those products and related increased
administrative and shipping costs.
Delays in Testing or Shipping could adversely affect results from our Connected Surfaces Smart Mirror by delaying shipment of
product and marketing roll-out of the product.
Like many consumer products, the Connected Surfaces Smart Mirrors undergo independent laboratory testing to verify safety. COVID-19
pandemic caused a backlog of product testing at U.S. national testing laboratories in 2020 and the backlog delayed marketing roll out of consumer
products, including the Connected Surfaces Smart Mirrors. We anticipate production of the Connected Surfaces Smart Mirror in April 2021.
Further, the Connected Surfaces Smart Mirrors are manufactured in Asia and shortages of shipping containers for ocean shipment may require us
to use more expensive air freight to meet product availability requirements for sale of Connected Surfaces Smart Mirrors through Amazon, which is
one of our distribution channels. The use of air freight for shipment of product is more expensive than ocean vessel rates and the initial inventory
shipments for Amazon fulfillment that is shipped by air freight would experience lower profit margins.
We depend on a limited number of retail customers for a substantial portion of our revenue, and the loss of, or a significant reduction in
purchases by, one or more of these customers could adversely affect our operating results.
We receive a significant amount of our revenue from a limited number of customers. Most of our customer orders are made on a purchase order
basis, which does not require any long-term customer commitments. Therefore, these customers may alter their purchasing behavior with little or
no notice to us for various reasons, including developing their own product solutions; choosing to purchase from our competitors or incorrectly
forecasting end market demand for their products. Retail customers may alter their promotional pricing; increase promotion of competitors'
products over our products; or reduce their inventory levels; all of which could negatively impact our financial condition and results of operations. If
our customers alter their purchasing behavior, if our customers' purchasing behavior does not match our expectations or if we encounter any
problems collecting amounts due from them, our financial condition and results of operations could be negatively impacted.
Our results of operations could be materially harmed if we are unable to accurately forecast demand for our products.
To ensure adequate inventory supply for the new product categories and to support e-commerce, we must forecast inventory needs and place
orders with our manufacturers before firm orders are placed by our customers. If we fail to accurately forecast customer demand, we may
experience excess inventory levels or a shortage of product to deliver to our online customers.
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Factors that could affect our ability to accurately forecast demand for our products include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

an increase or decrease in consumer demand for our products.
our failure to accurately forecast consumer acceptance for our new products.
product introductions by competitors.
unanticipated changes in general market conditions or other factors, which may result in cancellations of advance orders or a reduction or increase in the
rate of reorders or at-once orders placed by retailers.
weakening of economic conditions or consumer confidence in future economic conditions, which could reduce demand for discretionary items, such as our
products; and
terrorism or acts of war, or the threat thereof, political or labor instability or unrest or public health concerns and disease epidemics, such as the current
COVID-19 pandemic, which could adversely affect consumer confidence and spending or interrupt production and distribution of product and raw
materials.

Inventory levels in excess of customer demand may result in inventory write-downs or write-offs and the sale of excess inventory at discounted
prices or in less preferred distribution channels, which could have an adverse effect on gross margin. In addition, if we underestimate the demand
for our products, our manufacturers may not be able to produce products to meet our customer requirements, and this could result in delays in the
shipment of our products and our ability to recognize revenue, lost sales, as well as damage to our reputation and retailer and distributor
relationships. These risks have materially increased and may persist with the market disruption caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Any profitability may decline, or our growth may be negatively impacted because of increasing pressure on pricing.
The consumer electronics industry is subject to significant pricing pressure caused by many factors, including technological advancements,
intense competition, consolidation in the retail industry, pressure from retailers to reduce the costs of products and changes in consumer demand.
These factors may cause us to reduce our prices to retailers and consumers or engage in more promotional activity than we anticipate, which
could negatively impact our margins and cause our profitability to decline if we are unable to offset price reductions with comparable reductions in
our operating costs. For example, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic’s impact on the retail industry, including retail store closures and
decreased consumer traffic and purchasing, many of our competitors have engaged in, and may continue to engage in, additional promotional
activities focused on e-commerce sales. As traditional brick-and-mortar stores begin to reopen post-pandemic, we may see further discounting
across our industry as businesses manage excess inventory levels. In addition, our ability to achieve short-term growth targets may be negatively
impacted if we are unwilling to engage in promotional activity on a scale similar to that of our competitors and we are unable to simultaneously
offset declining promotional activity with increased sales at premium price points. This could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations and financial condition.
Fluctuations in the cost of products could negatively affect our operating results.
The components used by our suppliers and manufacturers are made of raw materials that may be subject to significant price fluctuations or
shortages that could materially adversely affect our cost of goods sold. In addition, certain of our manufacturers are subject to government
regulations related to wage rates, and therefore the labor costs to produce our products may fluctuate. The cost of transporting our products for
distribution and sale is also subject to fluctuation. Because our products are manufactured abroad, our products must be transported by third
parties over large geographical distances, increased demand for freight services at a time of reduced ocean freight capacity, can significantly
increase costs. Manufacturing delays or unexpected transportation delays, such as those caused by the current COVID-19 pandemic, can also
cause us to rely more heavily on airfreight to achieve timely delivery to our customers, which significantly increases freight costs. Any of these
fluctuations may increase our cost of products and have an adverse effect on our profit margins, results of operations and financial condition.
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Regulatory and Legal Risks
Our business may be impaired by claims that we infringe the intellectual property rights of others.
Litigation between competitors over intellectual property rights can be a common business practice in an industry as a means to protect or gain
market share. Litigation to determine the validity of patents or claims by third parties of infringement of patents or other intellectual property rights
could result in significant legal expense and divert the efforts of our technical personnel and management, even if the litigation results in a
determination favorable to us. In the event of an adverse result in such litigation, we could be required to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

pay substantial damages.
indemnify our customers.
stop the manufacture, use and sale of products found to be infringing.
discontinue the use of processes found to be infringing.
expend significant resources to develop non-infringing products or processes; or
obtain a license to use third party technology.

The risk of infringement claims may be greater in emerging products and technologies like smart mirrors.
There can be no assurance that third parties will not attempt to assert infringement claims against us, or our customers, with respect to our
products. We have also promised certain customers that we will indemnify them in the event they are sued by our competitors for infringement
claims directed to the products we supply. Under these indemnification obligations, we may be responsible for future payments to resolve
infringement claims against them. We do not maintain a reserve for intellectual property rights litigation liabilities.
Additionally, if an infringement claim against the company or its customers is successful, the company may be required to pay damages or seek
royalty or license arrangements, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms. The payment of any such damages or royalties
may significantly increase the company’s operating expenses and materially harm the company’s operating results and financial condition.
Further, royalty or license arrangements may not be available at all, which would then require the company to stop selling certain products or using
certain technologies, which could negatively affect the company’s ability to compete effectively.
Our operations in foreign countries expose us to certain risks inherent in doing business internationally, which may adversely affect
our business, results of operations or financial condition.
We have revenue, operations and contract manufacturing arrangement in overseas that expose us to certain risks. Fluctuations in exchange rates
may affect our revenue, expenses and results of operations as well as the value of our assets and liabilities as reflected in our financial
statements. We are also subject to other types of risks, including the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

protection of intellectual property and trade secrets.
tariffs, customs, trade sanctions, trade embargoes and other barriers to importing/exporting materials and products in a cost effective and timely manner,
or changes in applicable tariffs or custom rules.
rising labor costs or labor unrest.
difficulties in staffing and managing international operations.
the burden of complying with foreign and international laws.
adverse tax consequences.
the risk that because our brand names may not be locally recognized, we must spend significant amounts of time and money to build brand recognition
without certainty that we will be successful; and
political conflict or trade wars affecting our efforts to conduct business abroad.

Changes in regulatory, geopolitical, social, economic, or monetary policies and other factors may have a material adverse effect on our business
in the future or may require us to significantly modify our current business practices. Abrupt political change, terrorist activity and armed conflict
pose a risk of general economic disruption in affected countries, which could also result in an adverse effect on our business and results of
operations.
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Our financial results and ability to grow our business may be negatively impacted by economic, regulatory and political risks beyond
our control.
All of our manufacturers are located outside of the United States and in 2020 25% of net revenue was generated by sales in our international
business. As a result, we are subject to risks associated with doing business abroad, including:
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

political or labor unrest, terrorism, public health crises, disease epidemics and economic instability resulting in the disruption of trade from foreign countries
in which our products are manufactured.
currency exchange fluctuations or requirements to transact in specific currencies.
the imposition of new laws and regulations or government-imposed protective or preventative measures, including those relating to labor conditions, quality
and safety standards and disease epidemics or other public health concerns, as well as rules and regulations regarding climate change.
actions of foreign or U.S. governmental authorities impacting trade and foreign investment, particularly during periods of heightened tension between U.S.
and foreign governments, including the imposition of new import limitations, duties, anti-dumping penalties, trade restrictions or restrictions on the transfer
of funds.
reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries.
disruptions or delays in shipments.
changes in local economic conditions in countries where our customers, manufacturers and suppliers are located.

These risks could negatively affect the ability of our manufacturers to produce or deliver our products or procure materials and increase our cost of
doing business generally, any of which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. If one or more
of these factors, make it undesirable or impractical for us to conduct business in a particular country our business could be adversely affected.
Financial Risk Factors
Our inadequate or expensive funding and financing alternatives.
Our current short-term debt level as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $0 for both years. Our current funding availability consists of cash on
hand, outstanding accounts receivable, federal tax refunds and as of January 4, 2021, a $750,000 working capital line with a term up to 1 year
from two Directors. If we have a shortfall in revenues without a corresponding reduction to expenses, operating cashflow may suffer. If we are not
able to access debt or equity capital markets or sources at competitive rates or terms and conditions, our ability to implement our business plan
and strategy will be negatively affected. Limited access to sufficient bank financing, could force us to seek expensive financing or funding, or forms
of financing that require issuance of our securities (such as equity credit lines or PIPE financing). Such financing would dilute the position of
existing shareholders and put negative pressure on the market price of our Common Stock.
Other adverse consequences could include:
•
•
•

a significant portion of our cash from operations could be dedicated to the payment of interest and principal on future debt, which could reduce the funds
available for operations;
the level of our future debt could leave us vulnerable in a period of significant economic downturn; and
We may not be financially able to withstand significant and sustained competitive pressures.

We anticipate the need to raise additional capital required to manage and grow our business, especially in terms of promoting and
producing Connected Surfaces products, and we may not be able to raise capital on terms acceptable to us or at all.
Managing and growing our business will require significant cash outlays, capital expenditures and commitments. We have utilized cash on hand
and cash generated from operation and accessed our credit facility as needed as sources of liquidity. However, during the year ended December
31, 2020 the cash generated from operations was negatively impacted due to the global impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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As of December 31, 2020, we had approximately $1.2 million of cash, and approximately $861 thousand of refundable income tax. We have also
taken a number of actions short-term and long-term to preserve existing capital, including reducing capital expenditures, reducing discretionary
expenditures, executive management salary reductions expense reductions related to the CIHK operations in Hong Kong and reductions in travel,
hotel and show expenses. The credit facility with Sterling National Bank was not renewed and terminated on July 31, 2020. The Company has
been in discussions with alternate funding sources that provides additional sourcing options for the e-commerce business channel that the
Company is transitioning into. However, in the event that we are unable to negotiate a new credit facility or if cash on hand and cash generated
from operations are not sufficient to meet our cash requirements, we will need to seek additional capital, potentially through debt or equity
financing, to fund our operations and future growth. Our ability to access the credit and capital markets in the future as a source of liquidity, and the
borrowing costs associated with such financing, are dependent upon market conditions and our credit rating and outlook. With our reported losses
in recent years, we cannot assure that we will be able to negotiate competitive rates, which could increase our cost of borrowing in the future. In
addition, equity financing may be on terms that are dilutive or potentially dilutive to our stockholders, and the prices at which new investors would
be willing to purchase our securities may be lower than the current price per share of our common stock. The holders of new securities may also
have rights, preferences or privileges which are senior to those of existing holders of common stock. If new sources of financing are required, but
are insufficient or unavailable, we will be required to modify our growth and operating plans based on available funding, if any, which would harm
our ability to grow or sustain our business.
We are seeking funding for inventory purchases and marketing of the Connected Surfaces Smart Mirror, which funding is critical to the
launch of this new product line.
While we have approximately cash on hand of $ 1.2 million as of December 31, 2021, those funds will be utilized for basic operating expenses in
the United States and overseas, continued product development of the Connected Surfaces portfolio, Social Media marketing and payment of
marketing accruals to existing retail customers. We are seeking equity or debt funding for inventory purchases and marketing of our new
Connected Surfaces in order to preserve cash on hand for operating expenses. Due to the decline in revenues from our traditional LED Lighting
product line, we need to raise the funding for inventory and marketing of the Connected Surfaces Smart Mirror product line to fully fund the
projected financial needs for the initial phase of the product launch, which initial phase is deemed critical to the prospects of the product launch.
The Connected Surfaces Smart Mirror product line is deemed critical to replacement of the existing LED lighting product line as the Company's
operating revenue source.
Our past growth may not be indicative of our future growth, and our revenue growth rate may decline in the future.
Since we are transitioning our product focus to Connected Surfaces products and considering the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our LED
product sales through brick and mortar retailers, past financial performance is not indicative of any future growth or future financial performance.
We will have to establish our Connected Surfaces product line in the face of extensive competition.
Currency fluctuations may significantly increase our expenses and affect the results of operations, especially where the currency is
subject to intense political and other outside pressure.
All our sales in 2020 were transacted in U.S. dollars. The weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to foreign currencies can negatively impact our
operating profits, through higher unit costs. However, as the Company volumes increase, the leveraged buying power has enabled the Company
to minimize the impact on costs. The last economic crisis revealed that exchange rates can be highly volatile. Changes in currency exchange
rates may also affect the relative prices at which we and our competitors sell products in the same market. There can be no assurance that the
U.S. dollar foreign exchange rates will be stable in the future or that fluctuations in such rates will not have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, or financial condition.
If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting in the future, we may not be able to accurately or
timely report our financial condition or results of operations. If our internal control over financial reporting is not effective, it may
adversely affect investor confidence in us and the price of our common stock.
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As a public company we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in such internal
control. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we evaluate and determine the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting and provide a management report on our internal control over financial reporting. If we identify material weaknesses in our internal
control over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective. If we are unable to assert
that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion as
to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, or if we are unable to comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
in a timely manner, then, we may be late with the filing of our periodic reports, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of
our financial reports and the market price of our common stock could be negatively affected.
Risk Factors for our Common Stock
Penny Stock and Volatile Market Price.
After the announcement of the $750,000 working capital credit line by two Company directors and announcement of the new Connected Surfaces
Smart Mirror product launch, the market price of our common stock rose significantly in first fiscal quarter of 2021. The Company is not promoting
its common stock and has not retained any third party to promote the common stock. The Company has no intention of conducting any stock
promotional activities in the foreseeable future as of the date of the filing of this Form 10-K report. As a matter of policy, the Company never
recommends any investment in its common stock to public investors.
Due to the factors described below, the Company common stock is subject to possible volatile trading, including rapid increases and decreases in
market price due to trading in the open market. The Company common stock lacks the primary market makers and institutional investors who can
protect the market price from volatility in trading and market price. Further, the Company does not have any research analyst issuing
recommendations (with exception of an unsolicited March 2021 rating by Smart Score). The common stock is also a “penny stock” under SEC
rules and suffers the limitations and burdens in trading of penny stocks. This lack of market support and penny stock status means that trading,
especially by day traders, can cause a rapid increase or decrease in market price of the common stock and makes any investment in the common
stock extremely risky and unsuitable for investors who cannot withstand the loss of their entire investment and requires liquidity in the investment.
No Dividends.
We have not paid, and we do not intend to pay dividends on our Common Stock in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain all future
earnings, if any, to finance our current and proposed business activities. We may also incur indebtedness in the future that may further prohibit or
effectively restrict the payment of cash dividends on our Common Stock.
Our common stock is “penny stock” under SEC rules and we are a former shell company for resale purposes under rule 144 – which
makes our stock difficult to sell or trade.
Our common stock is currently traded on the OTCQB (Symbol: CAPC) and is subject to the "penny stock rules" adopted pursuant to Section 15(g)
of the Exchange Act. The penny stock rules apply to OTC-quoted companies whose common stock trades at less than $5.00 per share and such
rules require, among other things, that brokers who trade "penny stock" to persons other than "established customers" complete certain
documentation, make suitability inquiries of investors and provide investors with certain information concerning trading in the security, including a
risk disclosure document and quote information under certain circumstances. Penny stocks sold in violation of the applicable rules may entitle the
buyer of the stock to rescind the sale and receive a full refund from the broker. Many brokers have decided not to accept for deposit or trade
"penny stock" stocks because of the burdensome administrative requirements of the penny stock rules and perceived greater liability exposure
from handling penny stocks, and as a result, the number of broker-dealers willing to act as market makers in such securities is limited. In the event
that we remain subject to the "penny stock rules" for any significant period, there may develop an adverse impact on the market, if any, for our
securities. Because our common stock is subject to the "penny stock rules," investors will find it more difficult to dispose of our common stock. As
a “penny stock” company, brokerage firms cannot recommend our Common Stock to investors or accept orders for our Common Stock without
completing special paperwork.
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In March 2021, our common stock was approved for DWAC/Fast electronic transfer, which will enhance trading of our common stock, but will not
eliminate the issues imposed by the lack of market support for the common stock or the “penny stock” status of our common stock and, as such,
will not lessen the volatility in trading and market price of our common stock.
We are also a former shell company under current SEC rules and interpretations thereof. As such, our stock transfer agent requires a legal
opinion as well as other paperwork to lift restrictive legends from stock certificates for non-affiliated as well as affiliated shareholders. Further, our
stock transfer agent will not permanently remove restrictive legends on stock certificates held by affiliated shareholders. This status may make our
common stock even more unappealing to investors and potential purchasers and more difficult to sell or trade. “Affiliated shareholders” are
generally Company officers, directors and holders of more than 10% of the issued shares of the common stock.
Our controlling stockholders may take actions that conflict with your interests.
Certain of our officers and directors beneficially own approximately 40% of our outstanding common stock as of the date hereof. Assuming
support from public shareholders with a sufficient voting power, then our officers and directors will be able to exercise control over all matters
requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors, amendment of our certificate of incorporation and approval of significant
corporate transactions, and they will have significant control over our management and policies. The directors elected by these stockholders will
be able to influence decisions affecting our capital structure significantly. This control may have the effect of delaying or preventing changes in
control or changes in management or limiting the ability of our other stockholders to approve transactions that they may deem to be in their best
interest. For example, our controlling stockholders will be able to control the sale or other disposition of our operating businesses and subsidiaries
to another entity.
General Risk Factors
Consumer shopping preferences and shifts in distribution channels continue to evolve and could negatively impact our results of
operations or our future growth.
Consumer preferences regarding the shopping experience continue to rapidly evolve. We sell our products through a variety of channels, including
through wholesale customers and we are launching our own direct to consumer business consisting of our brand and e-commerce platform. If we
or our wholesale customers do not provide consumers with an attractive in-store experience, our brand image and results of operations could be
negatively impacted. In addition, as part of our strategy to grow our e-commerce revenue, we are investing significantly in enhancing our platform
capabilities and implementing systems to drive higher engagement with our consumers. If we do not successfully execute this strategy or continue
to provide an engaging and user-friendly digital commerce platform that attracts consumers, our brand image and results of operations could be
negatively impacted as well as our opportunities for future growth. In addition, we cannot predict whether and how the COVID-19 pandemic will
impact consumer preferences regarding the shopping experience in the long-term and how quickly and effectively we will adapt to those
preferences. We have commenced our Social Media/e-commerce marketing initiative in response to current trends in consumer purchasing habits
and in case the traditional brick-and-mortar retail continues to suffer and decline under the assault from the COVID-19 pandemic as well as a
growing trend towards e-commerce shopping by consumers that pre-dates the COVID-19 pandemic.
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The Company’s operations could be disrupted by natural or human causes beyond its control.
The Company’s operations are subject to disruption from natural or human causes beyond its control, including physical risks from hurricanes,
severe storms, floods and other forms of severe weather, accidents, fires, earthquakes, terrorist acts and epidemic or pandemic diseases such as
the COVID-19, any of which could result in suspension of operations or harm to people or the environment. While all of the Company’s corporate
operations are located in the United States, the Company participates in a Chinese and Thailand product supply chain, and if a disease spreads
sufficiently to cause a pandemic (or to cause the fear of a pandemic to rise) or governments regulate or restrict the flow of labor or products or
impede the travel of Company personnel, the Company’s ability to conduct normal business operations could be impacted which could adversely
affect the Company’s results of operations and liquidity. Most of the Company products are sourced and made in China and Thailand and an
increased or prolonged disruption of either economy by COVID-19 could substantially and adversely impact the Company’s production of
products. Currently, the Company’s Chinese and Thailand suppliers have reopened and building to full production capabilities.
We may not successfully execute our long-term strategies, which may negatively impact our results of operations.
Our ability to execute on our long-term strategies depends, in part, on successfully executing on strategic growth initiatives in key areas, such as
our new Connected Surfaces category, LED lighting and our new online direct to consumer sales channel. Our growth in these areas depends on
our ability to continue to successfully market these new products to existing customers, grow our e-commerce and mobile application offerings in
the U.S. market and continue to successfully increase our product offerings in the Connected Surfaces category. Our ability to invest in these
growth initiatives on the timeline and at the scale we expect will be negatively impacted if we continue to experience significant market disruption
due to COVID-19 or other significant events, particularly in the U.S. market and in declining sales. In addition, our long-term strategy depends on
our ability to successfully drive expansion of our gross margins, manage our cost structure and drive return on our investments. If we cannot
effectively execute our long-term growth strategies while managing costs effectively, our business could be negatively impacted, and we may not
achieve our expected results of operations.
If we fail to adequately protect intellectual property rights, competitors may manufacture and market similar products, which could
adversely affect our market share and results of operations.
We rely on trademark, trade secret, patent and copyright laws to protect our intellectual property rights. Our trademarks are of material
importance to our business and are among our most important assets. In 2020, substantially all of our total revenues were from products bearing
proprietary trademarks and brand names. Accordingly, our future success may depend, in part, upon the goodwill associated with our trademarks
and brand names. We own a number of patents; patent applications and other technology which we believe are significant to our business.
Our products are made in China and Thailand. We face risks that our proprietary information may not be afforded the same protection in China as
it is in countries with well-developed intellectual property laws, and local laws may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized
disclosure of confidential information. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our
proprietary rights in China, and failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely affect our competitive business position. We
cannot be sure that these intellectual property rights will be maximized or that they can be successfully asserted. There is a risk that we will not be
able to obtain and perfect, or maintain our own intellectual property rights or, where appropriate, license intellectual property rights necessary to
support new product introductions. We cannot be certain that these rights, if obtained, will not be invalidated, circumvented or challenged in the
future, and we could incur significant costs in connection with legal actions to defend our intellectual property rights.
Even if such rights are obtained in the United States, the laws of some of the other countries in which our products are or may be sold do not
protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. If other parties infringe our intellectual property rights, they
may dilute the value of our brands in the marketplace, which could diminish the value that consumers associate with our brands and harm our
sales. The failure to perfect or successfully assert our intellectual property rights could make us less competitive and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition.
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There may be emerging, or new technologies patented by others. These new technologies may be critical to competing in a product niche,
especially one like the emerging smart mirrors in smart home industry. We may be unable to license or affordably license new technologies
owned by others and critical to competing in the product niche.
Our results of operations and financial condition could be seriously impacted by security breaches, including cybersecurity incidents.
Failure to effectively prevent, detect and recover from security breaches, including attacks on information technology and infrastructure by
hackers; viruses; breaches due to employee error or actions; or other disruptions could result in misuse of our assets, business disruptions, loss of
property, and confidential business information. Such attacks could result in unauthorized parties gaining access to at least certain confidential
business information. However, to date, we have not experienced any financial impact, changes in the competitive environment or business
operations that we attribute to such attacks. Although management does not believe that we have experienced any security breaches or
cybersecurity incidents, there can be no assurance that we will not suffer such attacks in the future. We actively manage the risks within our
control that could lead to business disruptions and security breaches and have expended significant resources to enhance our control
environment, processes, practices and other protective measures. Despite these efforts, as these threats continue to evolve, particularly around
cybersecurity, such events could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
We expect our results of operations to fluctuate on a quarterly and annual basis.
Company’s revenue and results of operations could vary significantly from period to period and may fail to match expectations because of a
variety of factors, some of which are outside of our control. As a result of the potential variations in our revenue and results of operations, periodto-period comparisons may not be meaningful and the results of any one period should not be relied on as an indication of future performance. In
addition, our results of operations may not meet the expectations of investors or public market analysts who follow us, which may adversely affect
our stock price. Since the Connected Surfaces products are a new product line, we lack the operational experience to determine if Connected
Surface products have seasonal sales cycles.
Item 1B. Unresolved SEC Staff Letters.
None for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
Item 2. Properties.
The Company has operating lease agreements for offices in Deerfield Beach, Florida and in Hong Kong SAR, expiring at varying dates. Neither
the Company nor its operating subsidiaries own any real properties or facilities. CAPC and Capstone share principal executive offices and
operating facilities. The Company’s principal executive offices is located at 431 Fairway Drive, Suite 200, Deerfield Beach, Florida 33441.
Effective November 1, 2019, the Company entered into a new prime operating lease with the landlord “431 Fairway Associates, LLC” ending June
30, 2023, for the Company’s executive offices located on the second floor of 431 Fairway Drive, Suite 200, Deerfield Beach, Florida 33441 with an
annualized base rent of $70,104 and with a base rental adjustment of 3% commencing July 1, 2020 and on July 1st of each subsequent year
during the term. Under the lease agreement, Capstone is also responsible for a portion of common area maintenance charges in the leased
premises which has been estimated at $12.00 per square foot on an annualized basis of which the premises is approximately 4,694 square feet.
Capstone International Hong Kong Ltd, (CIHK), entered into a lease agreement for office space at 303 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
The original agreement which was effective from February 17, 2014 has been extended various times. On August 17, 2019, the lease was further
extended with a base monthly rate of $5,100 for six months until February 16, 2020. The Company decided not to renew and allowed this lease to
expire.
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CIHK entered into a six (6) month rental agreement effective from December 1, 2016 for a showroom and storage space at 3F, Wing Kin Industrial Building, 4-6
Wing Kin Road, Kwai Chung, NT, Hong Kong. This agreement has been extended various times. The lease with a base monthly rent of $1,290 expired August
16, 2019 and was further renewed for (6) months expiring on February 16, 2020. Effective February 17, 2020, the Company entered into a new six month lease
expiring on September 30, 2020, with a base rate of $1,285 per month. To further reduce costs, effective September 30, 2020 the Company reduced its space
requirements and entered a three-month lease expiring on December 31, 2020, with a base rate of $516 per month. The Company decided not to renew and
allowed this lease to expire.

The rent expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 amounted to $165,706 and $100,616 , respectively. The rent increase in the
year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to the previous year, resulted mainly from the expiry of a $8,383 monthly rent incentive that ended
January 31, 2020. At the commencement date of the new office lease, the Company recorded a right-of-use asset and lease liability under ASU
2016-02, Topic 842.
We believe that the facilities are well maintained, in compliance with environmental laws and regulations, and adequately covered by insurance.
We also believe these leased facilities are not unique and could be replaced, if necessary, at the end of the term of the existing leases.
The Company has two short storage rentals with durations of less than twelve months.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
We are not a party to any material pending legal proceedings and, to the best our knowledge, no such action by or against us has been
threatened. From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. Although
occasional adverse decisions or settlements may occur in such routine lawsuits, we believe that the final disposition of such routine lawsuits will
not have material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Other Legal Matters
To the best of our knowledge, none of our directors, officers or owner of record of more than five percent (5%) of the securities of the Company, or
any associate of any such director, officer or security holder is a party adverse to us or has a material interest adverse to us in reference to
pending litigation.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures (Not Applicable).
PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrants Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.
The Company's Common Stock is quoted on The OTC Markets Group, Inc.'s QB Venture Market Tier under the trading symbol "CAPC”.
As of March 1, 2021 there were approximately 1,820 holders of record (excluding OBO/Street Name accounts) of our Common Stock and
estimated 46,296,364 outstanding shares of the Common Stock.
Dividend Policy
We have not declared or paid any cash or other dividends on shares of our Common Stock in the last six years, and we presently have no
intention of paying any cash dividends on shares of our Common Stock. We do not currently anticipate, based on existing financial performance,
to be declaring or paying dividends on any series of our preferred stock in the foreseeable future. Our current policy is to retain earnings, if any, to
finance the expansion and development of our business. The future payment of dividends on shares of our Common Stock are at the sole
discretion of our board of directors.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
There were no unregistered securities sold during the year ended December 31, 2020. On August 6, 2020, Company granted: stock options to Mr.
Guzy and Mr. Postal, who are directors of the Company, each received 100,000 stock option grants for participating in the Audit and Nomination
and Compensation Committees for the year 2020-2021: and a stock option to Aimee Brown, Secretary of the Company, for 10,000 stock option
grants. The stock options were issued under an exemption from registration under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506(b) of
Regulation D under that act.
On January 4, 2021, the Company entered a Loan Agreement with Directors Stewart Wallach and Jeff Postal as joint lenders (the “Lenders”)
whereby Lenders will make a maximum of Seven Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($750,000) (principal) available as a credit
line to the Company for working capital purposes.
The term of the loan starts January 4, 2021 and ends June 30, 2021 (“Initial Period’). The Company may extend the Initial Period for an additional
six consecutive months, ending December 31, 2021, under the same terms and conditions of the Initial Period.
In consideration for the Lenders providing the loan under this Agreement for the Initial Period and agreeing to a below market rate of interest, and
as payment of a finance fee for the loan on an unsecured basis, the Company issued to the Lenders the following securities 7,500 shares of the
Company’s Series B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock (“Preferred Shares”) issued to each Lender. The Preferred Shares shall have the appropriate
restrictive legends. Each Preferred Share converts into 66.66 shares of Common Stock at option of Lender.
If the Company elects to extend the Initial Period for a further 6 consecutive months, the Company must issue to the Lenders, 500,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, issued to each Lender. The Company will cause a stock certificate to be issued to
each Lender with the appropriate restrictive legends.
Adoption of Stock Repurchase Plan
On December 19, 2018, Company entered into a Rule 10b5-1 Purchase Plan with Wilson Davis & Co., Inc., a registered broker-dealer, (the
"Purchase Plan"), which Purchase Plan is made pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, with respect to
shares of common stock of the Company. As previously reported, the use of a Rule 10b5-1 purchase plan was authorized by the Company's
Board of Directors on August 29, 2018. Under the Purchase Plan, Wilson Davis & Co., Inc., a registered broker dealer, will make periodic
purchases of up to an aggregate of 750,000 shares at prevailing market prices, subject to the terms of the Purchase Plan. This description of the
Purchase Plan does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the text of the Purchase Plan, a copy of which is attached as
Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on December 24, 2018 and as dated December 18, 2018.
On May 31, 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a further extension of the Company’s stock repurchase plan through August 31,
2020. The Board of Directors also approved that the maximum amount of aggregate funding available for possible stock repurchases under the
stock repurchase program remained at $1,000,000 during the renewal period.
On September 23, 2019 the Company signed a revised stock Purchase Plan to reflect an extension of the plan to repurchase up to an aggregate
of 750,000 shares at prevailing market prices, subject to the terms of the Purchase Plan.
On March 30, 2020, Wilson Davis & CO., Inc., advised the Company that 750,000 of the Company’s Common Stock had been repurchased to
complete the authorized Purchase Plan.
On June 10, 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a further extension of the Company’s stock repurchase plan through August 31,
2021. Since the Board of Director approval there have been no further repurchase of the Company’s Common Stock during 2020 and further
Stock repurchases have been placed on hold in order to conserve cash during the COVID-19 pandemic.
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As of December 31, 2020, a total of 750,000 of the Company’s Common Stock has been repurchased to date, at a total cost of $107,740.
For the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 respectively, 283,383 and 466,617 Common shares were repurchased at a cost of $36,333 in
2020 and $71,407 in 2019.
The following summarizes any purchases of the Common Stock under the stock purchase program in fiscal years 2020 and 2019 :
Fiscal Period

Number of
Shares
Repurchased
283,383
466,617
750,000

FY 2020
FY 2019
Total

Aggregate
Purchase
Price
$
36,333
71,407
$
107,740

Item 6. Selected Financial Data. (Not Applicable)
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
This Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," and other parts of this Report contain
forward-looking statements, that involve risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future events based
on certain assumptions and include any statement that does not directly relate to any historical or current fact. Forward-looking statements can
also be identified by words such as "future," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "expects," "intends," "plans," "predicts," "will," "would," "could,"
"can," "may," and similar terms. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and Company’s actual results may differ
significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such differences include, but are not limited to,
those discussed in this Report under the heading "Risk Factors," which are incorporated herein by reference. The following discussion should be
read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in this Report. All information presented herein is based
on CAPC's fiscal year 2020 results. Unless otherwise stated, references to particular years or quarters refer to the CAPC's fiscal years ended in
December and the associated quarters of those fiscal years. Company assumes no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements
for any reason, except as required by law.
Executive Summary
In December 2019, COVID-19 emerged and spread worldwide. The World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic in March 2020,
resulting in federal, state and local governments and private entities mandating various restrictions, including the closure of non-essential
businesses, travel restrictions, restrictions on public gatherings, stay-at-home orders and advisories and quarantining of people who may have
been exposed to the virus. After closely monitoring and taking into consideration the guidance from federal, state and local governments, in March
2020, we temporarily closed our corporate offices in the U.S until May 2020, when the Corporate office was reopened daily but with staff working
on a rotating schedule.
COVID-19 has caused substantial disruption to travel, business activities, and global supply chains, significant volatility in global financial markets,
and has resulted in a dramatic increase in unemployment, particularly in the U.S. The extent to which COVID-19 will continue to impact the
company’s results will depend primarily on future developments, including the severity and duration of the crisis, the speed and effectiveness of the
national vaccine inoculation programs, potential mutations of COVID-19, and the impact of actions taken and that will be taken to contain COVID19 or treat its impact. These future developments are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence.
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This pandemic has had and may continue to have a material impact on our business, results of operations, financial position and cash flow. In
response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we took precautionary measures to maintain adequate liquidity by suspending share repurchases,
temporarily deferring salaries of our executives by 50%, significantly scaling back on non-essential operating expenses, and downsizing our Hong
Kong operation, as we transferred manufacturing to Thailand. Our goal was to preserve cash but to continue to invest where needed to support
the relaunch of the Connected Surfaces program.
The impact of COVID-19 has resulted in an unprecedented decline in our revenue and earnings for the year ended December 31, 2020, including
goodwill impairment charges in the period.
Total net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 decreased 77.7% to approximately $2.8 million as compared to $12.4 million in the same
period of last year. The net loss was approximately $2.4 million for the year 2020 compared to a net loss of $892 thousand in 2019. The Company
had an estimated net tax benefit in 2020 of $612 thousand due to the tax benefit from the CARES Act which was enacted into law on March 27,
2020. The CARES Act eliminated the taxable income limit for certain net operating losses (“NOLs”) and allow businesses to carry back NOLs
arising in 2018, 2019, and 2020 to the five prior tax years. The Company was able to carryback the NOL to 2017 tax years and generate an
estimated refund of previously paid income taxes at an approximate 34% federal tax rate.
The following discussion is designed to provide a better understanding of our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto,
including a brief overview of our business and products, key factors that impacted our performance and a summary of operating results.
Overview
Capstone Companies, Inc. (“Company” or “CAPC”) is a public holding company organized under the laws of the State of Florida. The Company is
a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of consumer inspired products that simplify daily living through technology. Over the past decade,
the Company’s various product lines have been distributed globally including consumer markets in Australia, Japan, Korea, North America, South
America, and the United Kingdom. The primary operating subsidiary is Capstone Industries, Inc. (“CAPI”), a Florida corporation located at the
principal executive offices of the Company. To oversee and manage business activities in the Pacific Rim, the Company established Capstone
International Hong Kong, Ltd., or "CIHK", allowing it to expand the Company's product development, engineering, and factory resource
capabilities. The Company has a history of exploiting technologies in areas of induction charging, power failure control, security and home LED
lighting products and most recently has entered the electronics market with its introduction of Capstone’s Connected Surfaces.
The Company's focus through 2017 has been in the integration of LEDs into most commonly used consumer lighting products in today's home.
Over the last few years there has been significant LED price erosion, which has commoditized LED consumer products. The LED category has
matured and is no longer the innovative “must have” consumer product as in previous years.
Capstone’s success has been in its ability to identify emerging product categories where Capstone’s management experience can be fully
leveraged. Over the past decade, the Company’s consistent low-cost manufacturing and operations have provided an advantage in delivering
quality products at very competitive prices.
In late 2017, as management recognized that the LED category was maturing, it sought a business opportunity that would transition the
Company’s revenue streams to an emerging category. While we currently continue to supply LED products on a limited basis, our strategic plan
to develop and launch new innovative product lines, like Smart Mirrors, is believed to be essential for sustaining or growing revenues.
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Our expectation is that the new Connected Surfaces portfolio advancing in 2021 appeals to a much larger audience than our traditional LED
lighting product line. The new portfolio is designed to tap into consumer’s ever-expanding connected lifestyles prevalent today. The products have
both touch screen and voice interfacing, internet access and an operating system capable of running downloadable applications. The average
selling prices will be comparable to that of tablets and smartphones, expected retails to start at $699.00 per unit, with the goal to deliver consumer
value to mainstream America. Whereas, during the day your smartphone/tablet keeps you connected, whether it is work or personal, now when
entering your home, Capstone’s new Connected Surfaces products will enable users the same level of connectivity in a more relaxed manner that
does not require being tethered to these devices.
The company's financial initiatives are driven by its entry to new distribution channels and calls for an increased emphasis on an e-commerce
business model. As a result of the pandemic, retail foot traffic has been diminished substantially and e-commerce platforms have advanced with
consumers across all product lines. The Connected Surfaces category should find its way to retail shelves after it has been established through
its direct-to-consumer effort. The Company’s marketing strategy will shift its historic reliance on Big Box while delivering more profitable business.
The gross margins generated by the e-commerce model will be substantially greater than in the past and should provide strong cash flows. The
Company will require additional funding to build its marketing effort, inventory levels and service levels once the initial marketing phase validates
the Company’s strategic initiatives. The future growth will be directly impacted by the level of exposure, messaging and distribution capabilities.
For the short term, Corporate Insiders and Directors have pledged to continue supporting the Company’s needs.
By working diligently overseas with alternate manufacturers located outside China, particularly in Thailand, we anticipate minimal impact to our
selling prices and related margins of profit that could otherwise be impacted by an ongoing trade dispute between the United States and China.
On March 10, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of the COVID-19 coronavirus to be a pandemic. COVID-19 caused
substantial disruption to travel, business activities, and global supply chains, significant volatility in global financial markets, and resulted in a
dramatic increase in unemployment, particularly in the U.S.
As the products we have shipped on our direct import business model typically requires 3 to 4 months lead time, our revenue in 2020 was
significantly impacted by the uncertainty of reduced consumer foot traffic in the stores during the pandemic. This uncertainty caused retail buyers
to delay or postpone promotional events. During recent months as consumer confidence has increased and the public has become more
accustomed and feel safer about visiting stores, in store foot traffic has increased, particularly in the Warehouse Clubs that we sell in. The
promotional activities both domestically and internationally in the Club channel have gradually increased as compared to previous quarters. We
believe retail buying confidence will continue to improve and expect that promotional opportunities will begin to normalize for the 3rd and 4th
quarters 2021.
Since early 2020, the Company has been building its infrastructure to transition into the online retail business which nationally has experienced
substantial increases during the pandemic. The Company saw a change in consumer buying trend long before the pandemic impact and has
been investing in developing a social media presence over the last year and is now ready to officially launch shipping product by its online Smart
Mirror business in April 2021.
We believe the COVID-19 virus will continue to impact retail markets through the first half of 2021 but as we focus our channel strategy toward ecommerce, disruption to our business in 2021 should be moderate. Consumer confidence will rise commensurately with increased job
opportunities and income recovery. The extent to which COVID-19 will continue to impact the company’s results will depend primarily on future
developments, including the severity and duration of the crisis, the speed and effectiveness of the national vaccine inoculation program, potential
mutations of COVID-19, and the impact of future actions that will be taken to contain COVID-19 or treat its impact. These future developments are
highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence.
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We continue to make investments to ensure that we provide quality, useful products. Additionally, the Company continues to enhance its customer
service support. In 2020 and 2019, the Company substantially expanded its investment and commitment to social media marketing. With the
growing importance of on-line commerce and social media to consumers, this marketing will play a vital role in expanding our lifestyle brands and
will also serve to establish credibility with the Company’s growing consumer base. The effort will focus on creating a more extensive and
aggressive social media presence through use of third-party social media like Facebook, Twitter, YouTube and Instagram. Continued analytics
will govern and refine our investments in these social media campaigns.
The Company oversees and controls the manufacturing of its products, which are currently made in China and Thailand by OEM contract
manufacturers, through three wholly owned operating subsidiaries: CAPI, CIHK and CLTL. To support the current e-commerce model that will
drive our business in 2021, we will be putting inventories into warehouse facilities stateside for direct-to-consumer fulfillment. When introducing
the Connected Surfaces program to Big Box retailers in the back half of 2021, the Company will resume its direct import model. At that time, the
Company's products will be built to order for specific promotional periods and does not require replenishment domestically.
CIHK continually evaluates its contract manufacturers' ability to meet the Company's growing needs. Additionally, all manufacturers must meet
rigorous compliance, security and equipment evaluation audits to ensure competitive pricing for the highest quality products. Capstone’s business
practices have allowed development of excellent relationships with its OEM contract manufacturers and has resulted in commercially favorable
payment terms, which over the years has greatly contributed to the Company's growth.
To date all of the company's retail sales are made on an order-by-order basis, rather than through long-term sales contracts. As such, the nature
of the company's business did not provide visibility of material forward-looking information from its customers and suppliers beyond a few months.
With the launch of the Connected Surfaces online business and to ensure adequate inventory supply for the new product category in order to
support immediate e-commerce shipments, the Company will be forecasting its inventory needs as the volume of sales are established.
Principal Factors Affecting Our Financial Performance
There are a number of industry factors that affect our financial performance which include, among others:
•

Overall Demand for Products and Applications. Our potential for growth depends on the successful introduction and consumer acceptance of the
Connected Surfaces portfolio. The Company's products are characterized as non-essential and economic conditions, especially consumer uncertainty
or worries over economic conditions and growth, affect consumer demand. Uncertainty over global economic conditions that may affect the U.S.
economy is not conducive to consumer purchases of our category of consumer products. These uncertainties make demand difficult to forecast for us
and our customers.

•

Strong and Constantly Evolving Competitive Environment . While we have demonstrated our abilities to compete successfully in the retail
channels since our inception, competition in the marketplace we serve is strong. Many companies have made significant investments in product
development, production equipment and product marketing. Product pricing pressures exist as market participants often initiate pricing strategies to
gain or protect market share. To remain competitive, market participants must continuously increase product performance or functionality, reduce
costs and develop improved ways to support their customers. To address these competitive measures, we invest in research and development
activities to support new product development, sustain low product costs and deliver higher levels of performance and product functionality to
differentiate our products in the market.

•

Profit Margins. The Company’s product planning strategies are driven by the need to deliver sustainable profit margins. This, in conjunction with
close management of related marketing costs, are required to sustain or grow the Company’s market presence.
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•

Technological Innovation and Advancement. Innovation and advancements in consumer electronic categories continue to create expanded
channel opportunities. The smart home category was approximately $84.6 billion in 2020 and is expected to grow to $139.8 billion by 2023, a CAGR
of 18.2% since 2018. Household penetration of smart homes is expected to grow to 19.5% by 2022. Smart phone users in the United States exceeds
269 million and is projected to be 290 million by 2024. Through the Company’s continual research and development activities, differentiation of its
smart home products and their related value to the consumer, a consistent market share expansion is anticipated.

•

Affordable Funding. The Company needs to secure affordable funding resources to support ongoing product development and new market
penetration.

Intellectual Property Issues. Market participants rely on patented and non-patented proprietary information relating to product development and
other core competencies of their business. Protection of intellectual property is important. Therefore, steps such as patent applications,
confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements, as well as other security measures are generally taken. The Company has not created a litigation
reserve for intellectual property rights litigation. As a business judgment, the Company does not patent or copyright or trademark all intellectual
property due to a combination of factors, including, in part, the cost of registration and maintenance of registration, odds and cost of successful
defense of the registration and commercial value of the intellectual property rights. To enforce or protect intellectual property rights, litigation or
threatened litigation is common. The Company has not sued any third parties over intellectual property rights.
Results of operations.
Net Revenues
Revenue is derived from sales of our residential lighting products. These products are directed towards consumer home LED lighting for both
indoor and outdoor applications. Revenue is subject to both quarterly and annual fluctuations and is impacted by the timing of individually large
orders as well as delays or sometimes advancements to the timing of shipments or deliveries. We recognize revenue upon shipment of the order
to the customer when all performance obligations have been completed and title has transferred to the customer and in accordance with the
respective sale’s contractual arrangements. Each contract on acceptance will have a fixed unit price. Most of our sales are to the U.S. market
which in 2020 represented 75% of revenues and we expect that region to continue to be the major source of revenue for the Company. We also
derived 25% of our revenue from overseas sales. Net revenue also includes the cost of instant rebate coupons, and product support allowances
provided to retailers to promote certain products. All of our revenue is denominated in U.S. dollars.
Cost of Goods Sold
Our cost of goods sold consists primarily of purchased products from contract manufacturers and when applicable associated duties and inbound
freight. In addition, our cost of goods sold also include reserves for potential warranty claims and freight allowances. We source our manufactured
products based on customer orders.
Gross Profit
Our gross profit has and will continue to be affected by a variety of factors, including average sales price for our products, product mix, promotional
allowances, our ability to reduce product cost fluctuations in the cost of our purchased components. See “Risk Factors” above in Item 1A.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses include sales and marketing expenses, consisting of social media advertising, sales representatives’ commissions,
advertising, show expense and costs related to employee's compensation. In addition, operating expense includes charges relating to product
development, office and warehousing, accounting, legal, insurance and stock-based compensation.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND OUTLOOK
Year Ended December 31, 2020 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(In Thousands)

Revenue, Net
Cost of sales
Gross Profit
Operating Expenses:
Sales and marketing
Compensation
Professional fees
Product development
Other general and administrative
Goodwill impairment charge
Total Operating Expenses
Operating Loss
Other Income (Expenses)
Miscellaneous Income (Expense), net
Interest expense
Total Other Income (Expense)
Loss Before Tax Benefit
Benefit for Income Tax
Net Loss

$

$

December 31, 2020
Dollars
% of Revenue
2,770
100.0%
2,266
81.8%
504
18.2%

$

300
1,516
423
250
477
624
3,590
(3,086)

10.8%
54.7%
15.3%
9.0%
17.2%
22.5%
129.6%
(111.4)%

90
90
(2,996)
(612)
(2,384)

3.2%
-%
3.2%
(108.2)%
(22.1)%
(86.1)% $

December 31, 2019
Dollars
% of Revenue
12,404
100.0%
9,972
80.4%
2,432
19.6%
379
1,554
435
349
648
3,365
(933)

3.1%
12.5%
3.5%
2.8%
5.2%
-%
27.1%
(7.5)%

29
(3)
26
(907)
(15)
(892)

0.2%
-%
0.2%
(7.3)%
(.1)%
(7.2)%

Net Revenues
Our business operations and financial performance for the year ended December 31, 2020 was adversely impacted by the economic effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic to the U.S. and global economy. For the year ended December 31, 2020, net revenues were approximately $2.8 million, a
decrease of approximately $9.6 million or 77.7% from $12.4 million in fiscal 2019. The decrease in 2020 net revenue was driven by the uncertainty
felt by retailers, as to the short and long-term impact on the U.S. retail market of COVID-19 resulting from the reduction of consumer foot traffic in
brick and mortar stores. This uncertainty resulted in the postponement of many promotional opportunities during the year.
The Company selectively supports retailer’s initiatives to maximize sales of the Company’s products on the retail floor or to assist in developing
consumer product awareness, by providing marketing fund allowances to the customer. Sales reductions for anticipated discounts, allowances and
other deductions are recognized during the period the related revenue is recorded. The reduction of accrued allowances is included in net
revenues and amounted to $341.2 thousand and $1.18 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, international sales were approximately $704 thousand or 25% of revenue and $1.2 million or
10 % of revenue, respectively.
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The following table disaggregates net revenue by major source:
For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2020
Capstone
Brand
$
2,066,519
703,839
$
2,770,358

Lighting Products- U.S.
Lighting Products-International
Total Revenue

For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2019
Capstone
% of Revenue
Brand
75% $ 11,218,714
25%
1,185,731
100% $ 12,404,445

% of Revenue
90%
10%
100%

Gross Profit and Cost of Sales
Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2020, was approximately $504 thousand, or 18.2 % of net revenues, as compared to $2.4 million or
19.6% of net revenues, for fiscal 2019. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, cost of sales were approximately $2.3 million and
$10.0 million, respectively, a decrease of $7.7 million or 77% from the previous year. This reduction was the direct result of the reduced revenue in
the year. Costs represented 81.8% and 80.4% of net revenues for 2020 and 2019, respectively. Overall product costs overseas remained stable
during the year.
Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing Expenses
In fiscal 2020 and 2019, sales and marketing expenses were approximately $300 thousand and $379 thousand respectively, a decrease of $79
thousand or 20.8%. As a percent to revenue 2020 expenses were 10.9% as compared to 3.1% in 2019. Social Media expense in 2020 was $30.3
thousand, an increase of $13.8 thousand or 83.6% from $16.5 thousand in 2019, as we further developed our Social Media marketing presence in
preparation for the launch of the Smart Mirror program. Advertising and promotional expenses were $34.7 thousand in 2020 as compared to $85.6
thousand in 2019, a reduction of $50.9 thousand or 59.5% due to the reduced retail promotional activities during 2020.
Compensation Expenses
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 compensation expenses were approximately $1.5 million and $1.6 million, respectively, a
reduction of $39 thousand or 2.5%. As a percent of net revenues 2020 expenses were 54.7% as compared to 12.5% in 2019. With the reduced
revenue and the transition of production into Thailand, the Company eliminated 4 positions in the Hong Kong office during 2020.
Professional Fees
For fiscal 2020, professional fees were approximately $423 thousand compared to $435 thousand in 2019, a decrease of $12.2 thousand or 2.8%.
As a percent of net revenue 2020 expenses were 15.3% as compared to 3.5% in 2019. In 2020, consulting fees were approximately $165
thousand the same amount as incurred in 2019. Accounting, legal and other expenses were $257 thousand, a decrease of $12 thousand from
$270 thousand in the prior year.
Product Development Expenses
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, product development expenses were approximately $250 and $349 thousand, respectively, a
decrease of $98.9 thousand or 28.4%. In 2020, the Company invested $182 thousand in the Smart Mirror development compared to $207
thousand in 2019, a reduction of $25 thousand or 7.4%. With the reduced revenue, quality control expenses in 2020 were $44 thousand
compared to $98 thousand in 2019, a reduction of $54 thousand or 55.1%. Other expenses such as prototype charges and courier charges were
also reduced by $20 thousand from $44 thousand in 2019 to $24 thousand in 2020. As a percent of revenue, 2020 expenses were 9.0% as
compared to 2.8% in 2019. We have continued to invest in new product design, software development, product prototyping and testing and
related to the Smart Mirror project.
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Other General and Administrative Expenses
For fiscal 2020 and 2019, other general and administration expenses were approximately $477 thousand and $648 thousand, respectively, a
decrease of $171 thousand or 26.3%. As a percent to revenue 2020 expenses were 17.2% as compared to 5.2% in 2019. In 2020 the Company’s
rent expense was $166 thousand compared to $99 thousand in 2019, an increase of $67 thousand or 67.6%. The Directors insurance also
increased in 2020 from $57 thousand in 2019 up to $71 thousand a $14 thousand or 24.6% increase. Despite these increases, as part of an
expense mitigation plan in response to the impact of COVID19, the Company reduced discretionary expenses which included auto, office and
computer supplies, courier services, travel and hotel expenses, telephone and bank charges, which resulted in a net expense reduction of $171
thousand or 26.3% as compared to the same period in 2019. These discretionary expenses are included in the other general and administrative
expenses.
Goodwill Impairment Charge
As a result of the economic uncertainties caused by the COVID-19 pandemic during the year ended December 31, 2020, management
determined sufficient indicators existed to trigger the performance of interim goodwill impairment analyses for each reporting quarter. The total
impairment charge for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was approximately $624 thousand and $0, respectively. This charge
equated to 22.5% of net revenue in 2020.
Total Operating Expenses
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, total operating expenses were $3.6 million and $3.4 million, respectively. This represents a
$223 thousand or 6.6% increase over fiscal 2019. The $624 thousand impairment charge was the main reason for the expense increase. If we
eliminate the effect of the impairment charge, total operating expenses in fiscal year 2020 would have been $3.0 million, a reduction of
approximately $400 thousand or 11.8% from 2019 expense level.
Operating Loss
For the year ended December 31, 2020 the operating loss was approximately $3.1 million as compared to $933 thousand loss in 2019, a loss
increase of $2.2 million over 2019.
Other Income (Expense)
For fiscal 2020 other income was approximately $90 thousand compared to a $26 thousand in 2019. The other income resulted from the
forgiveness of the $90 thousand loan received as part of the Small Business Administration’s Paycheck Protection Program. The Company
through a combination of efficient cash flow management, favorable payment terms with our overseas suppliers and a strong cash position was
able to eliminate the need for increased borrowing or purchase order funding which resulted in $0 interest expense in 2020 and $3.2 thousand
expense in 2019.
Benefit for Income Tax
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 the net benefit for income tax was estimated at $612 thousand compared to $15 thousand in
the same period 2019. The benefit is a result of the CARES Act which eliminated the taxable income limit for certain net operating losses (“NOLs”)
and allow businesses to carry back NOLs arising in 2018, 2019, and 2020 to the five prior tax years. The Company was able to carryback the 2018
and the 2019 NOLs to 2017 tax year and generate an estimated refund of previously paid income taxes at an approximate 34% federal tax rate.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company has recorded approximately $612 thousand of net benefit for income tax after deferred tax
liabilities and has an income tax refundable of $861 thousand.
The effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, was 20.43%, and 1.60% and the statutory tax rate was
24.46% in 2020 and 24.40% in 2019.
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Net Loss
For fiscal 2020 and 2019 net loss was approximately $2.4 million and $892 thousand, a net loss increase of approximately $1.5 million over the
previous year.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS OUTLOOK
In 2020, the impact of COVID-19 resulted in an unprecedented decline in our revenue and earnings for the year ended December 31, 2020, which
also resulted in a goodwill impairment charges in the period, however even under these difficult circumstances we have been able to move the
Company closer to our long-term objectives.
Our expectation is that the new portfolio advancing in 2021 appeals to a much larger audience than our traditional LED lighting product line.
Management believes that the execution of the Company’s strategy and development of the Connected Surfaces category will provide attractive
opportunities for profitable growth over the long-term
The company's financial initiatives are driven by its entry to new distribution channels and calls for an increased emphasis on an e-commerce
business model. Online platforms have advanced with consumers across all product lines. The Connected Surfaces category should find its way
to retail shelves after it has been established through its direct-to-consumer effort. The Company’s marketing strategy will shift its historic reliance
on Big Box while delivering more profitable business. The gross margins generated by the e-commerce model will be substantially greater than in
the past and should provide strong cash flows. The Company will require additional funding to build its marketing effort, inventory levels and
service levels once the initial marketing phase validates the Company’s strategic initiatives. The future growth will be directly impacted by the
level of exposure, messaging and distribution capabilities.
By working diligently overseas with alternate manufacturers located outside China, particularly in Thailand, we anticipate minimal impact to our
selling prices and related margins of profit that could otherwise be impacted by an ongoing trade dispute between the United States and China.
As the products we have shipped on our direct import business model typically requires 3 to 4 months lead time, our revenue in 2020 was
significantly impacted by the uncertainty of reduced consumer foot traffic in the stores during the pandemic. This uncertainty caused retail buyers
to delay or postpone promotional events. During recent months as consumer confidence has increased and the public has become more
accustomed and feel safer about visiting stores, in store foot traffic has increased, particularly in the Warehouse Clubs that we sell in. The
promotional activities both domestically and internationally in the Club channel have gradually increased as compared to previous quarters. We
believe retail buying confidence will continue to improve and expect that promotional opportunities will begin to normalize for the 3rd and 4th
quarters 2021.
With the impact of COVID-19 Management was even more focused on the following priorities:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

to protect the safety and wellbeing of the Capstone team.
to expedite the transition of the Company’s marketing presence from brick and mortar retail to online retail.
to expand the Company’s social media platforms and online visibility.
to revamp the Company’s website to support online business.
to build the logistics and fulfilment structure to support online orders.
to transfer Smart Mirror production capability to Thailand from China.
to design, enhance and build the Smart Mirror product portfolio.

During 2020 we have been able to complete the above priorities and are now preparing for the launch of the Smart Mirror program in 2021.
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Contractual Obligations
The following table represents contractual obligations as of December 31, 2020.
Total
(In thousands)
Purchase Obligations
Short-Term Debt
Long-Term Debt
Operating and Short Term Leases
Total Contractual Obligations

$

$

2021

825,690 $
170,997
996,687 $

Payments Due by Period
2022
2023

825,690 $
63,307
888,997 $

- $
70,157
70,157 $

After 2024

- $
37,533
37,533 $

-

Notes to Contractual Obligations Table
Purchase Obligations — Purchase obligations are comprised of the Company's liability for goods and services in the normal course of business.
Short Term Debt — None.
Long Term Debt — None.
Operating Leases — Operating lease obligations are related to facility leases for our operations in the U.S. and in Hong Kong.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly affected U.S. consumer shopping patterns and caused the health of the U.S. economy to deteriorate.
We cannot foresee when the COVID-19 pandemic will be effectively contained, nor can we predict the severity and duration of its impact on our
business and our financial results. If the variants of COVID-19 are not effectively and timely controlled, our business operations, financial condition,
and liquidity may be materially and adversely affected because of prolonged disruptions in consumer spending.
Operational cashflow is significantly influenced by the timing and launch of new products as well as favorable payment terms negotiated with
overseas suppliers. With our Hong Kong and Thailand operational presence, we have built an operational structure that, through relationships with
factory-suppliers both in Thailand and China combined with our expertise, that under normal operating circumstances, can develop and release
quality, innovative products to the marketplace substantially quicker than in previous years.
Our ability to generate cash from operations has been one of our fundamental strengths and has provided us with flexibility in meeting our
operating, financing and investing needs in the past.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company used cash in operations of approximately $1.9 million and generated net operating
losses of $2.4 million. As of December 31, 2020, the Company has working capital of approximately $1.4 million and an accumulated deficit of $4.5
million. The Company’s cash balance dropped by approximately $1.9 million from $3.1 million as of December 31, 2019 to $1.2 million as of
December 31, 2020. With the reduced revenues in 2020 and to conserve cash, the Company initiated an expense mitigation plan that reduced
discretionary spending including travel, lodging and trade show expenses, deferred executive management compensation, and significantly
reduced the cost of the Hong Kong operation.
The Company has a recent history of losses and negative cash from operations. The uncertainty and the continuing negative impact that this
COVID-19 disruption could negatively impact the demand for our products or delay future planned promotional opportunities. However, with a
successful launch of the Smart Mirror portfolio using the online retail platform, the Company will also require an inventory credit facility to support
increased U.S. domestic inventory to facilitate revenue growth in the online business.
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On July 31, 2020, the Company terminated its factoring agreement with Sterling National Bank. The Company has had discussions with alternate
funding sources that offer extensive programs that are more in line with the Company’s future business model, particularly a facility that provides
funding options that are suitable for the e-commerce business that the Company is transitioning into. The borrowing costs associated with such
financing are dependent upon market conditions and our credit rating. We have not finalized any institutional funding as of the date of this Form
10-K report, and we cannot assure that we will be able to negotiate competitive rates, which could increase our cost of borrowing in the future.
On January 4, 2021, the Company entered a $750,000 working capital loan agreement with Directors, Stewart Wallach and Jeffrey Postal. The
term of the loan started January 4, 2021 and ends June 30, 2021 (“Initial Period’). The Company may extend the Initial Period for an additional six
consecutive months, ending December 31, 2021, under the same terms and conditions of the Initial Period. The Company may borrow under the
agreement up to $750,000 and prepay wholly or partially the unpaid principal amount at any time.
The Company has an income tax refundable as of December 31, 2020 of approximately $861 thousand of which approximately $576 thousand
was refunded on February 3, 2021.
The Company for both years ending as of December 31, 2020, and 2019 has remained debt free.
In addition, we may seek alternative sources of liquidity, including but not limited to accessing the capital markets, or the Company may be able to
raise the required additional capital through debt and or equity financing. However, instability in, or tightening of the capital markets, could
adversely affect our ability to access the capital markets on terms acceptable to us. The Company can make no assurances that it will be able to
raise the required capital, on acceptable terms or at all. Management believes that with the cash on hand, and our availability under the $750,000
working capital line of credit, the operational funding will be adequate to meet the Company’s cash needs for daily operations for the short-term
period, however the Company does not have sufficient cash on hand to finance its plan of operations for the next 12 months from the filing of this
report and will need to seek additional capital through debt and/or equity financing. These factors raise substantial doubt about the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
However, additional capital or increased cash from operations will be required to fund increased revenue levels.
Summary of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31,
2020
2019

(In thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating Activities
Investing Activities
Financing Activities
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

$

(1,858) $
(13)
(36)
(1,907) $

(586)
(34)
(71 )
(691)

As of December 31, 2020 the Company’s working capital was approximately $1.4 million of which $1.2 million was cash. Current liabilities were
$889 thousand and include:
•
•
•

Accounts payable of approximately $246 thousand for amounts due vendors and service providers.
Accrued expenses of approximately $523 thousand for marketing allowances, wages, and customer deposits.
Warranty provision for estimated defective returns in the amount of approximately $56 thousand.
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Cash Flows provided by (used in) Operating Activities
Cash used in operating activities was approximately $1.86 million in 2020 compared with approximately $586 thousand in 2019. The cash used in
operating activities in 2020 included the negative cash impact of the net loss, which was approximately $2.38 million, an income tax refundable
increase of $641 thousand, which was partially offset by the goodwill impairment charge of approximately $624 thousand, $260 thousand increase
in deferred tax liabilities $174 thousand increase in accounts receivable and prepaid expenses and a $106 thousand from several other accounts.
Cash Flows used in Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities in 2020 was approximately $13 thousand compared to $34 thousand in 2019. The Company continued to invest
in new product molds and tooling. With the further product expansion into Smart Home lighting and Smart Mirror categories, the Company's future
capital requirements will increase to fund future mold and tooling as the Company expands the Connected Surfaces portfolio.
Cash Flows used in Financing Activities
Cash used in financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, was approximately $36 thousand and $71, respectively. The
Company repurchased 283,383 of common shares during the year at a cost of $36 thousand.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had zero debt outstanding.
The Company has negotiated beneficial payment terms with our main overseas manufacturers including the new supplier in Thailand, which has
resulted in reduced funding requirements to produce newly launched products.
Exchange Rates
We sell all of our products in U.S. dollars and pay for all of our manufacturing costs in U.S. dollars. Our factories are located in mainland China
and Thailand. During 2020 the average exchange rate between the U.S. Dollar and Chinese Yuan have been relatively stable approximately RMB
6.90 to U.S. $1.00.
The average exchange rate between the U.S. Dollar and Thai Baht has been relatively stable at approximately Baht 31.25 to U.S. $1.00.
Operating expenses of the Hong Kong office are paid in either Hong Kong dollars or U.S. dollars. The exchange rate of the Hong Kong dollar to
the U.S. dollar has been very stable at approximately HK $7.80 to U.S. $1.00 since 1983 and, accordingly, has not represented a currency
exchange risk to the U.S. dollar. While exchange rates have been stable for several years, we cannot assure you that the exchange rate between
the United States, Hong Kong, Chinese and Thailand currencies will continue to be stable and exchange rate fluctuations may have a material
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have material off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material future effect on our results of
operations or financial condition.
DIVIDENDS
We have not declared or paid any cash or other dividends on shares of our Common Stock in the last seven years and we presently have no
intention of paying any cash dividends on shares of our Common Stock.
RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
See Note 4 of the Consolidated Financial Statements at Item 15 of this Report.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
See Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements at Item 15 of this Report.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
("U.S. GAAP") requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions regarding matters that are inherently uncertain and that
ultimately affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expense, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an
ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgments, including those related to revenue recognition; inventory valuation;
depreciation; amortization and the recovery of long-lived assets; including goodwill and intangible assets; shared base-based payment expense;
product warranty; and other reserves and assumptions based on management's experience and understanding of current facts and
circumstances, historical experience and other relevant factors. These estimates may differ from actual results. Certain of our accounting policies
are considered critical as they are both important to reflect our financial position and results of operations and require significant or complex
judgement on the part of management. The following is a summary of certain accounting policies considered critical by management.
Revenue Recognition
The Company generates revenue from developing, marketing and selling consumer lighting products through national and regional retailers. The
Company's products are targeted for applications such as home indoor and outdoor lighting and will have different functionalities. Capstone
currently operates in the consumer lighting products category in the Unites States and in specific overseas markets. These products may be
offered either under the Capstone brand or a private brand.
A sales contract occurs when the customer-retailer submits a purchase order to buy a specific product, a specific quantity, at an agreed-fixed
price, within a ship window, from a specific location and on agreed payment terms. The selling price in all of our customers' orders has been
previously negotiated and agreed to including any applicable discount prior to receiving the customer's purchase order. The stated unit price in the
customer's order has already been determined and is fixed at the time of invoicing.
The Company recognizes product revenue when the Company's performance obligations as per the terms in the customers purchase order have
been fully satisfied, specifically, when the specified product and quantity ordered has been manufactured and shipped pursuant to the customers
requested ship window, when the sales price as detailed in the purchase order is fixed, when the product title and risk of loss for that order has
passed to the customer, and collection of the invoice is reasonably assured. This means that the product ordered and to be shipped has gone
through quality assurance inspection, customs and commercial documentation preparation, the goods delivered, title transferred to the customer
and confirmed by a signed cargo receipt or bill of lading. Only at the time of shipment when all performance obligations have been satisfied will the
judgement be made to invoice the customer and complete the sales contract.
The Company may enter into a licensing agreement with globally recognized companies, that allows the Company to market products under a
licensed brand to retailers for a designated period of time, and whereby the Company will pay a royalty fee, typically a percentage of licensed
product revenue to the licensor in order to market the licensed product.
The Company may also enter into a private label agreement, whereby the Company produces and ships product to a customer that has been
packaged and will be marketed under the customers own private label.
The Company expenses license royalty fees and sales commissions when incurred and these expenses are recognized during the period the
related sale is recorded. These costs are recorded within sales and marketing expenses.
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We provide our customers with limited rights of return for non-conforming product warranty claims. As a policy, the Company does not accept
product returns from retail customers, however occasionally as part of a customers in store test for new product, we may receive back residual
inventory.
Customer orders received are not long-term orders and are typically shipped within six months of the order receipt, but certainly within a one-year
period.
Our payment terms may vary by the type of customer, the customer's credit standing, the location where the product will be picked up from and for
international customers, which country their corporate office is located. The term between invoicing date and when payment is due may vary
between 30 days and 90 days depending on the customer type. In order to ensure there are no payment issues, overseas customers or new
customers may be required to provide a deposit or full payment before the order is delivered to the customer.
The Company selectively supports retailer's initiatives to maximize sales of the Company's products on the retail floor or to assist in developing
consumer awareness of new products launches, by providing marketing fund allowances to the customer. The Company recognizes these
incentives at the time they are offered to the customers and records a credit to their account with an offsetting charge as either a reduction to
revenue, increase to cost of sales, or marketing expenses depending on the type of sales incentives.
Sales reductions for anticipated discounts, promotional and marketing allowances, defective warranty claims, and other deductions are recognized
during the period the related revenue is recorded. The Company may be subject to chargebacks from customers for negotiated promotional
allowances, that are deducted from open invoices and reduce collectability of open invoices. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
the Company had processed approximately $341.2 thousand and $1.18 million, respectively for such allowances.
Accounts Receivable
For product revenue, the Company invoices its customers at the time of shipment for the sales value of the product shipped. Accounts receivable
are recognized at the amount expected to be collected and are not subject to any interest or finance charges. The Company does not have any
off-balance sheet credit exposure related to any of its customers. Previously in the factoring agreement with Sterling National Bank, accounts
receivable served as collateral when the Company borrowed against the credit facility. As of December 31, 2020, with the termination of the
factoring agreement, the accounts receivables are fully unencumbered.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The Company evaluates the collectability of accounts receivable based on a combination of factors. In cases where the Company becomes aware
of circumstances that may impair a specific customer's ability to meet its financial obligations subsequent to the original sale, the Company will
recognize an allowance against amounts due, and thereby reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount the Company reasonably believes
will be collected. For all other customers, the Company recognizes an allowance for doubtful accounts based on the length of time the receivables
are past due and consideration of other factors such as industry conditions, the current business environment and the Company's historical
payment experience. An allowance for doubtful accounts is established as losses are estimated to have occurred through a provision for bad
debts charged to earnings. This evaluation is inherently subjective and requires estimates that are susceptible to significant revisions as more
information becomes available.
As of both Decembers 31, 2020 and 2019, management determined that the accounts receivable is fully collectible. As such, management has not
recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts.
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The following table summarizes the components of Accounts Receivable, net:

Trade Accounts Receivables at period end
Reserve for estimated marketing allowances, cash discounts and other incentives
Total Accounts Receivable, net

December 31, December 31,
2020
2019
$
197,166 $
276,551
(77,102)
(263,092)
$
120,064 $
13,459

Goodwill
On September 13, 2006, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with Capstone Industries, Inc., a Florida corporation
(“Capstone”). Capstone was incorporated in Florida on May 15, 1996 and is engaged primarily in the business of wholesaling technology inspired
consumer products to distributors and retailers in the United States.
Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Capstone’s Common Stock, and
recorded goodwill of $1,936,020.
Goodwill acquired in business combinations is initially computed as the amount paid by the acquiring company in excess of the fair value of the
net assets acquired.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, which requires an entity to perform a one-step
quantitative impairment test, whereby a goodwill impairment loss will be measured as the excess of a reporting unit’s carrying amount over its fair
value (not to exceed the total goodwill allocated to that reporting unit). ASU 2017-04 was effective for the Company’s fiscal year ended December
31, 2019. The adoption of ASU 2017-04 did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Goodwill is tested for impairment on December 31 of each year or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset
might be impaired. If the carrying amount exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized. Goodwill is not amortized. The Company
estimates the fair value of its single reporting unit relative to the Company's market capitalization.
As a result of the economic uncertainties caused by the COVID-19 pandemic during the year ended December 31, 2020, management
determined sufficient indicators existed to trigger the performance of interim goodwill impairment analyses for each reporting quarter. The total
impairment charge for the year ended December 31, 2020 was approximately $623.5 thousand.
The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s goodwill asset which is included in the total assets in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets:
December 31, December 31,
2020
2019
$
1,936,020 $
1,936,020
(623,538)
$
1,312,482 $
1,936,020

Balance at the beginning of the period
Impairment charges - net
Balance at December 31, 2020

With the continuing economic uncertainties caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the capital markets may have a downturn and adversely affect the
Company’s stock price which will require the Company to test its goodwill for impairment in future reporting periods. The Company’s stock is
deemed a “penny stock” under Commission rules.
Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities contained in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets include accruals for estimated amounts of credits to be issued in
future years based on potential product warranties, compensation, benefits, marketing allowances and other liabilities.
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Income Taxes
The Company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various state jurisdictions and certain other jurisdictions. The Company
accounts for income taxes under the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) 740
Income Taxes. ASC 740 requires recognition of deferred income tax assets and liabilities for the expected future income tax consequences,
based on enacted tax laws, of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The Company and its
U.S. subsidiaries file consolidated income tax returns.
Tax regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the interpretation of the relaxed tax laws and regulations and require significant judgement to
apply. The Company is not subject to U.S. federal, state and local tax examinations by tax authorities generally for a period of 3 years from the
later of each return due date or date filed.
If the Company were to subsequently record an unrecognized tax benefit, associated penalties and tax related interest expense would be
recorded as a component of income tax expense.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $1,044,000 and $3,500,000,
respectively. The federal net operating loss is available to the Company indefinitely and available to offset up to 80% of future taxable income each
year. The net deferred tax liability as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $260,000 and $0, respectively, and is reflected in long-term liabilities in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was enacted into law. The CARES Act is a tax and spending package intended to provide economic relief to
address the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act includes several significant income and other business tax provisions that, among
other things, would eliminate the taxable income limit for certain net operating losses (“NOLs”) and allow businesses to carry back NOLs arising in
2018, 2019, and 2020 to the five prior tax years. The Company was able to carryback the 2018 and the 2019 NOLs to 2017 tax year and generate
an estimated refund of previously paid income taxes at an approximate 34% federal tax rate. This resulted in a net benefit of $575,645 which was
recorded in the first quarter 2020.
The Company expects to carryback a portion of its 2020 NOL, for which it recorded a further net benefit of $286,433. In the third quarter 2020, the
Company recorded a $21,222 net tax benefit for deferred tax liability adjustment related to goodwill impairment. For the year ended December 31,
2020, the Company has recorded $861,318 in net tax benefits.
The Company received approximately $576 thousand of the income tax refundable and $10.3 thousand of interest on February 3, 2021.
The effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was 20.43% and 1.60% and the statutory tax rate was 24.46% in 2020
and 24.40% in 2019.
The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not the tax position will be sustained on
examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position.
Deferred tax assets are to be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred assets will not be
realized. The Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon its ability to realize the deferred tax assets. Management
has considered the Company's history of cumulative net losses incurred and has concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will not
realize the benefits of the deferred tax assets. Accordingly, a full valuation allowance has been established against the deferred tax assets as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019. Since indefinite-lived assets cannot be used as a source of taxable income to support the realization of deferred
tax asset, a valuation allowance was recorded against the deferred tax assets, and a net deferred tax liability or naked credit of approximately
$260,000 is presented on the company’s balance sheet. The Company's valuation allowance increased by approximately $345,397.
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The Company recognizes liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit,
including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is
more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. While the Company believes that it has appropriate support for the positions taken on its
tax returns, the Company regularly assesses the potential outcome of examinations by tax authorities in determining the adequacy of its provision
for income taxes.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk. (Not Applicable)
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
The financial statements and financial statement schedules of CAPC as well as supplementary data are listed in Item 15 below and are included
after the signature page to this Report.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under
the Exchange Act) that are designed to ensure that information that would be required to be disclosed in Exchange Act reports is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time period specified in the Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to Company’s management, including to Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act, Company’s management, including Stewart Wallach, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer,
and James McClinton, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2020. Based on that evaluation, Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
determined that, as of December 31, 2020, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Company management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company. Internal control over financial reporting refers to the process designed by, or
under the supervision of, Company’s Chief Executive Officer (as principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (as principal accounting
officer) , and effected by Company’s Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of Company’s financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles, and includes those policies and procedures that:
•
•

•

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company.
Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the Company; and
Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Company management assessed the effectiveness of Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020. In making this
assessment, management used the framework set forth in the report entitled “Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on that evaluation, Company management concluded that Company
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2020.
Because the Company is a smaller reporting company, this annual report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered
public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management's report was not subject to attestation by our independent
registered public accounting firm.
Management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that the Company’s internal controls
will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control
systems, no evaluation of internal controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been
detected. Also, any evaluation of the effectiveness of controls in future periods are subject to the risk that those internal controls may become
inadequate because of changes in business conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Changes in internal controls over financial reporting.
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, there were no changes in Company’s internal control over financial reporting that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
The Chairman of our Audit Committee has reviewed the internal control reports in detail and has spoken to the external auditors in depth about the
audit, the internal controls and the auditors' findings. The Chairman has had detailed discussions with the auditors about these matters, prior to,
during, and on completion of the audit.
The certifications of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer attached as Exhibits 31 and 32 and to this Report include information
concerning our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. Such certifications should be read in conjunction
with the information incorporated by reference to our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, for a more
complete understanding of the matters covered by such certifications.
Item 9B. Other Information.
None

Part III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
CURRENT BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The incumbent and current members of the Board of Directors are:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Stewart Wallach. Mr. Wallach has been a Director since April 2007.
Gerry McClinton. Mr. McClinton has been a Director since February 2008.
Jeffrey Postal. Mr. Postal has been a Director since January 2004.
Jeffrey Guzy. Mr. Guzy was appointed as a Director on May 3, 2007. Mr. Guzy is deemed an "Independent Director."
Larry Sloven. Mr. Sloven was appointed as a Director on May 3, 2007.
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Each Director’s term is for one year. Company Directors have typically been elected in the past by written consent of stockholders holding more
than 50% of the then current voting power. The Company uses the written consent because a small number of shareholders have sufficient voting
power to decide the election of Directors and approval or denial of any other corporate resolution and the cost of conducting an annual
stockholders' meeting is significant for a small reporting company. The Company conducts regular stockholder-investor conference calls to allow
stockholders to interact with Company senior management and to ask questions of that management.
Further, stockholders may make inquiries in writing by sending their inquiries to Aimee Gaudet, Secretary, Capstone Companies, Inc., 431
Fairway Drive, Suite 200, Deerfield Beach, Florida 33441. The information required in Part III of this Report is set forth in the information statement
filed for the written consent approval of nominee slates of Directors and the requirements for stockholders to submit proposed resolutions and
Director nominees is set forth in this Report.
POLICY REGARDING BOARD ATTENDANCE
Company Directors are expected to attend all annual and special board meetings per Company policy. An attendance rate of less than 75% over
any 12-month period is grounds for removal from the Board of Directors. In fiscal year 2020, all Directors attended the (5) five board meetings.
ROLE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Chief Executive Officer and other senior management in order to assure that such officers
are competent and ethical in running the Company on a day-to-day basis and to assure that the long-term interests of the stockholders are being
served by such management. The Directors must take a pro-active focus and approach to their obligation in order to set and enforce standards to
ensure that the Company is committed to business success through maintenance of the highest standards of responsibility and ethics. The
Company has adopted a Code of Ethics, which is posted on http://capstonecompaniesinc.com. The contents of the Company Website are not
incorporated herein by reference and that Website provided in this Report is intended to be an inactive textual reference only.
AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee was established in accordance with Section 3(a)(58) (A) of the Exchange Act. It is primarily responsible for overseeing the
services performed by the Company's Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, evaluating the Company's accounting policies and its
system of internal controls and reviewing significant financial transactions. The members of the Audit Committee in fiscal year 2020 were Jeffrey
Guzy and Jeffrey Postal. The Company believes that Mr. Guzy is an Independent Director under SEC and NASDAQ applicable standards. The
Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Guzy qualifies as an "Audit Committee Financial Expert" as defined under applicable SEC rules and
also meets the additional criteria for independence of Audit Committee members set forth in Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange Act.
REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee is responsible for providing oversight to Company's accounting and financial reporting processes and the audit of the
Company's financial statements. The Audit Committee monitors the Company's external audit process, including auditor independence matters,
the scope and fees related to audits, and the extent to which the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm may be retained to perform nonaudit services. The Audit Committee also reviews the results of the external audit with regard to the adequacy and appropriateness of our financial,
accounting and internal controls over financial reporting. It also generally oversees the Company's internal compliance programs. The function of
the Audit Committee is not intended to duplicate or to certify the activities of the management and the Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm, nor can the Audit Committee certify that the independent registered public accounting firm is "independent" under applicable rules. The Audit
Committee members are not professional accountants or auditors. Under its Charter, the Audit Committee has authority to retain outside legal,
accounting or other advisors as it deems necessary to carry out its duties and to require the Company to pay for such expenditures.
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The Audit Committee provides counsel, advice and direction to management and the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on matters
for which it is responsible, based on the information it receives from management and the independent registered public accounting firm and the
experience of its members in business, financial and accounting matters.
The Company's management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of its financial statements, accounting and financial reporting
principles, and internal controls and procedures designed to ensure compliance with accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations.
In this context, the Audit Committee hereby reports as follows:
1)

2)
3)

Company's management has represented to the Audit Committee that the 2020 audited financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements for year
2020 with Company's management and the independent registered public accounting firm.
The Audit Committee has received written disclosures and a letter from the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, D. Brooks & Associates,
required by the PCAOB and has discussed with D. Brooks & Associates, their independence.
Based on the review and discussion referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the board, and the board has approved, that the audited
financial statements be included in Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the Commission on
March 31, 2021.

The foregoing report is provided by the undersigned Chairman of the Audit Committee.
/s/Jeffrey Guzy
Jeffrey Guzy, Chairman of Audit Committee
COMPENSATION AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE (“Compensation and Nomination Committee”)
Company's Compensation and Nomination Committee is currently composed of two members (both Company directors): Mr. Jeffrey Guzy and Mr.
Jeffrey Postal. Only Mr. Guzy, who serves as Chairman of the Compensation and Nomination Committee, is “independent” within the meaning of
the NASDAQ Marketplace Rules.
Company's Compensation and Nomination Committee assists the Company Board of Directors in reviewing and approving the compensation
structure of executive officers, including all forms of compensation to be provided to the executive officers. The chief executive officer and chief
financial officer may not be present at any Compensation and Nomination Committee meeting during which the executive's compensation is
discussed and deliberated.
The Compensation and Nomination Committee is responsible for, among other customary duties, the following:
•
•
•

Reviewing, overseeing and approving the compensation of Company's executive officers; and
Periodically reviewing and making recommendations to the Company Board of Directors about incentive compensation, stock or equity compensation
plans, annual bonus programs and grants, any employee pension or welfare benefit plans and any similar forms of benefit plans; and
Periodically reviewing and approving corporate performance and corporate performance goals that are applicable to compensation of Company's chief
executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluating the performance of those executives in light of corporate performance and corporate performance
goals; and determining the compensation for the Company's chief executive officer and chief financial officer.

CODE OF ETHICS
The Company has a code of ethics that applies to all of the Company's employees, including its principal executive officer, and principal financial
officer, and its Board. A copy of this code is available on http://www.capstonecompaniesinc.com. The Company intends to disclose any changes in
or waivers from its code of ethics by posting such information on its website or by filing a Form 8-K Report.
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DIRECTOR MEETINGS IN FISCAL YEAR 2020
The Board of Directors had (5) five official meetings in year 2020. During 2020, all of the Directors attended 75% or more of the Board meeting,
which were held during the period of time that such person served on the Board or such committee.
Board Leadership Structure and Board's Role in Risk Oversight
The Company's Board of Directors endorses the view that one of its primary functions is to protect stockholders' interests by providing
independent oversight of management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer (who also holds the Chief Financial
Officer position). The Chief Financial Officer is allowed and encouraged to address the Board of Directors on any issues affecting the Company or
its stockholders. The Company also allows outside counsel to participate in some of the board meetings in order to provide legal counsel and an
outside perspective on corporate governance and risk issues.
Board Structure. The Company believes that the Chief Executive Officer or "CEO" should also serve as Chairman of the Board of Directors in
order to have the person most knowledgeable about the Company heading the Board of Directors.
The CEO is responsible for setting the strategic direction for the Company and the day to day leadership and performance of the Company, while
the Chairman of the Board of Directors provides guidance to senior management and sets the agenda for Board of Directors meetings and
presides over meetings of the full Board of Directors.
Our CEO serves on our Board of Directors, which we believe helps the CEO serve as a bridge between management and the Board of Directors,
ensuring that both groups act with a common purpose. We believe that the CEO's presence on the Board of Directors enhances his ability to
provide insight and direction on important strategic initiatives to both management and the independent directors and, at the same time, ensures
that the appropriate level of independent oversight is applied to all decisions by the Board of Directors.
The Chairman of the Board has no greater nor lesser vote on matters considered by the Board than any other director, and neither the Chairman
nor any other director votes on any related party transaction. All directors of the Company, including the Chairman, are bound by fiduciary
obligations, imposed by law, to serve the best interests of the stockholders. Accordingly, separating the offices of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer would not serve to enhance or diminish the fiduciary duties of any director of the Company.
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Board of Director – 2020 Compensation Table

Audit
Committee

Name (1)
Stewart Wallach (2)
Gerry McClinton (2)
Jeff Guzy (3), (4),(5)(6)
Jeff Postal (3), (4),(5)(6)
Larry Sloven (2)
(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

$
$

6,682
6,682
-

Nomination
and
Compensation
Committees
6,683
6,683
-

Total Awards
13,365
13,365
-

The individuals listed were appointed to the Board of Directors for 2019-2020.
Mr. Wallach, Mr. McClinton and Mr. Sloven as Company Employees did not receive compensation for participating as a Director on the Board.
On August 6, 2017, Mr. Guzy and Mr. Postal each received 100,000 stock option grants for participating in the Audit and Nomination and Compensation
Committees for the year 2017-2018. The market value using the Binomial Lattice pricing model for each grant was $55,000. As the grant period covered
2017-2018, the cost impact in 2017 was $22,212 for each grant.
On August 6, 2018, Mr. Guzy and Mr. Postal each received 100,000 stock option grants for participating in the Audit and Nomination and Compensation
Committees for the year 2018-2019. The market value using the Binomial Lattice pricing model for each grant was $21,000. As the grant period covered
2018-2019 the cost impact in 2018 was $8,481 for each grant.
On August 6, 2019, Mr. Guzy and Mr. Postal each received 100,000 stock option grants for participating in the Audit and Nomination and Compensation
Committees for the year 2019-2020. The market value using the Binomial Lattice pricing model for each grant was $17,000. As the grant period covered
2019-2020 the cost impact in 2019 was $6,865 for each grant.
On August 6, 2020, Mr. Guzy and Mr. Postal each received 100,000 stock option grants for participating in the Audit and Nomination and Compensation
Committees for the year 2020-2021. The market value using the Binomial Lattice pricing model for each grant was $8,000. As the grant period covered
2020-2021 the cost impact in 2020 was $3,231 for each grant.

On May 31, 2019, the Company approved that effective on June 1, 2019, each independent director, namely Jeffrey Guzy and Jeffrey Postal,
would each receive $750 per calendar month, as a Form 1099 compensation, for their continued services as directors of the Company. This
compensation would be additional to the stock option grants awarded for their participation on the Audit Committee and Compensation and
Nominating Committee.
On May 31, 2019, the Company also approved that the independent directors would be offered effective from June 1, 2019, the opportunity to
participate as a non-employee in the Company’s Health Benefit Plan, subject to compliance with all plan participation requirements and on
acceptance into the plan the director will be responsible to pay 100% of their plan’s participation cost.
On June 10, 2020, the Company approved that effective on August 1, 2020 until August 1, 2021, each independent director, namely Jeffrey Guzy
and Jeffrey Postal, would each receive $750 per calendar month, as a Form 1099 compensation, for their continued services as directors of the
Company. This compensation would be additional to the stock option grants awarded for their participation on the Audit Committee and
Compensation and Nominating Committee. For both years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 both directors each received $5,250 each as
Form 1099 compensation.
Independent Directors. The Board of the Company is currently comprised of five directors, one of whom is an independent director under the
listing standards of quotation systems like The NASDAQ Stock Market. The Company has sought unsuccessfully to recruit qualified independent
directors. Although we have D&O insurance, we believe that past losses and low public stock market price discourages qualified candidates from
serving as independent directors. This is a problem commonly faced by micro-cap, "penny stock" companies like our Company.
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Our senior officers are responsible for the day-to-day management of risks the Company faces, while the Board, as a whole and through its
committees, has responsibility for the oversight of risk management. In its risk oversight role, the Board of Directors has the responsibility to satisfy
itself that the risk management processes designed and implemented by management are adequate and functioning as designed. To do this, the
Chairman of the Board and other non-officer directors met quarterly on average with management to discuss strategy and the risks facing the
Company. Senior management, each member being also a director, attends the Board meetings and is available to address any questions or
concerns raised by the Board on risk management and any other matters. The Chairman of the Board and members of the Board work together to
provide strong, independent oversight of the Company's management and affairs through its standing committees and, when necessary, special
meetings of directors. Since most of the directors live in the same area, informal meetings between directors and officers also occur to discuss
business risk and appropriate responses.
Director - Minimum Qualifications. The Compensation and Nominating Committee has adopted a set of criteria that it considers when it selects
individuals not currently on the Board of Directors to be nominated for election to the Board of Directors. A candidate must meet the eligibility
requirements set forth in the Company's Bylaws. A candidate must also meet any qualification requirements set forth in any Board or committee
governing documents. If the candidate is deemed eligible for election to the Board of Directors, the Compensation and Nominating Committee will
then evaluate the prospective nominee to determine if he or she possesses the following qualifications, qualities or skills:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

contributions to the range of talent, skill and expertise appropriate for the Board.
financial, regulatory and business experience, knowledge of the operations of public companies and ability to read and understand financial statements.
familiarity with the Company's market.
personal and professional integrity, honesty and reputation.
the ability to represent the best interests of the shareholders of the Company and the best interests of the institution.
the ability to devote sufficient time and energy to the performance of his or her duties; and
independence under applicable Commission and listing definitions.

The Compensation and Nominating Committee will also consider any other factors it deems relevant. With respect to nominating an existing
director for re-election to the Board of Directors, the Compensation and Nominating Committee will consider and review an existing director's
Board and committee attendance and performance; length of Board service; experience, skills and contributions that the existing director brings to
the Board; and independence.
Director Nomination Process. The process that the Compensation and Nominating Committee follows when it identifies and evaluates
individuals to be nominated for election to the Board of Directors is as follows:
For purposes of identifying nominees for the Board of Directors, the Compensation and Nominating Committee relies on personal contacts of the
committee members and other members of the Board of Directors and will consider director candidates recommended by stockholders in
accordance with the policy and procedures set forth above. The Compensation and Nominating Committee has not used an independent search
firm to identify nominees.
In evaluating potential nominees, the Compensation and Nominating Committee determines whether the candidate is eligible and qualified for
service on the Board of Directors by evaluating the candidate under the selection criteria, which are discussed in more detail below. If such
individual fulfills these criteria, the Compensation and Nominating Committee will conduct a check of the individual's background and interview the
candidate to further assess the qualities of the prospective nominee and the contributions he or she would make to the Board of Directors.
Consideration of Recommendation by Stockholders. It is the policy of the Compensation and Nomination Committee of the Board of Directors
of the Company to consider director candidates recommended by stockholders who appear to be qualified to serve on the Company's Board of
Directors. The Compensation and Nominating Committee may choose not to consider an unsolicited recommendation if no vacancy exists on the
Board of Directors and the Compensation and Nomination Committee does not perceive a need to increase the size of the Board of Directors. To
avoid the unnecessary use of the Compensation and Nominating Committee's resources, the Compensation and Nomination Committee will
consider only those director candidates recommended in accordance with the procedures set forth below.
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Stockholder Proposal Procedures. To submit a recommendation of a director candidate to the Compensation and Nomination Committee, a
stockholder should submit the following information in writing, addressed to the Chairperson of the Compensation and Nomination Committee,
care of the Corporate Secretary, at the main office of the Company:
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.

The name of the person recommended as a director candidate.
All information relating to such person that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of directors pursuant to Regulation 14A under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
The written consent of the person being recommended as a director candidate to being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a
director if elected.
The name and address of the stockholder making the recommendation, as they appear on the Company's books; provided, however, that if the
stockholder is not a registered holder of the Company's common stock, the stockholder should submit his or her name and address along with a current
written statement from the record holder of the shares that reflects ownership of the Company's common stock; and
A statement disclosing whether such stockholder is acting with or on behalf of any other person and, if applicable, the identity of such person.

In order for a director candidate to be considered for nomination at the Company's annual meeting of stockholders, when and if one is held, or to
be considered prior to a written consent vote on director nominees, the recommendation must be received by the Compensation and Nominating
Committee at least 30 days before the date of the annual meeting or, in the case of an information statement and no shareholder meeting being
held, prior to April 1st.
MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY
CURRENT OFFICERS. The current officers of the Company are:
1.
2.
3.

Stewart Wallach, age 69, was appointed as Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company on April 23, 2007. Mr. Wallach is also the senior
executive officer and director of Capstone.
Gerry McClinton, age 65, is the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer and a director (appointed as a director on February 5, 2008) of the
Company. Mr. McClinton is also a senior executive of Capstone.
Aimee Gaudet, age 42, was appointed on January 16, 2013 as Company Secretary. She is also Executive Assistant to Stewart Wallach at CAPC.

FAMILY RELATIONSHIP: There is no family relationship between members of Company management.
Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports .
The Board of Directors approved the annual grant of stock options to Jeffrey Guzy and Jeffrey Postal, both directors of Company, and Aimee
Gaudet Brown, an officer of the Company. For each of the stock options: the grant date is August 5, 2020, the exercise period is August 6, 2020
to August 5, 2021 and the exercise price is $0.435 per share. The Form 5’s for these option grants were filed March 10, 2021 instead of February
14, 2021.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
Role of Management
The Company believes that it is important to have our Chief Executive Officer's input in the design of compensation programs for his direct reports.
The Chief Executive Officer reviews his direct reports' compensation programs annually with the Committee, evaluating the adequacy relative to
the marketplace, inflation, internal equity, external competitiveness, business and motivational challenges and opportunities facing the Company
and its executives. In particular, he considers base salary a critical component of compensation to remain competitive and retain his executives. All
final decisions regarding compensation for the Chief Executive Officer's direct reports listed in the Summary Compensation Table are made by the
Compensation Committee. The Chief Executive Officer does not make recommendations with regard to his own compensation.
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Role of the Compensation Consultant
While we may consult industry sources on compensation for executives, we have not engaged a consultant to analyze our compensation levels.
For 2020, the principal components of compensation for each officer were:
•
•
•
•

base salary.
annual incentive.
long-term incentive compensation (restricted stock awards); and
perquisites and other benefits.

Our Company endeavors to strike an appropriate balance between long-term and current cash compensation. The current executives are key to
the ability of the Company to conduct its business because of their individual experience and relationships in our current business line. Their
compensation reflects their individual value to the ability of the Company to conduct its current business.
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Name & Principal
Position
Stewart Wallach,
Chief Executive
Officer (1,2,3,7,8,9,10)
James G.
McClinton,
Chief Financial
Officer & COO
(4,5,6,7,8,9,10)

Year
2020
2019
2018

Salary $
$
301,521
$
301,521
$
301,521

Bonus $
$
$
$

2020
2019

$
$

191,442
191,442

2018

$

191,442

Non-Equity
Incentives $

-

Stock Awards $
$
$
$
-

$
$
$

-

$
$
$

All Others $
-

$
$
$

TOTAL
301,521
301,521
301,521

$
$

-

$
$

-

$
$

-

$
$

-

$
$

191,442
191,442

$

--

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

191,442

Footnotes:
(1) On February 5, 2020, the Company entered into a new Employment Agreement with Stewart Wallach, whereby Mr. Wallach will be paid
$301,521 per annum.
(2) On February 5, 2018, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with Stewart Wallach, whereby Mr. Wallach would be paid
$301,521 per annum.
(3) On February 5, 2016, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with Stewart Wallach, whereby Mr. Wallach would be paid
$301,521 per annum.
(4)On February 5, 2020, the Company entered into a new Employment Agreement with James McClinton, , whereby Mr. McClinton would be paid
$191,442 per annum.
(5) On February 5, 2018, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with James McClinton, whereby Mr. McClinton would be paid
$191,442 per annum.
(6) On February 5, 2016, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with James McClinton, whereby Mr. McClinton would be paid
$191,442 per annum.
(7)The Company has no non-equity incentive plans.
(8)The Company has no established bonus plan. Any bonus payments are made ad hoc upon recommendation of the Compensation Committee.
Bonuses are only paid on a performance basis.
(9) On September 1, 2020, fifty percent of both Mr. Wallach and Mr. McClinton’s salary for the period September 1, 2020 through December 31,
2020 was accrued and deferred for payment until 2021.
(10) On January 1, 2021, fifty percent of both Mr. Wallach and Mr. McClinton’s salary for the period January 1, 2021 through March 31, 2021 was
deferred for payment until later in 2021.
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS
Stewart Wallach, Chief Executive Officer and President.
On February 5, 2018, the Company renewed the Employment Agreement with Stewart Wallach, whereby Mr. Wallach was paid $301,521 per
annum. The term of this agreement began February 5, 2018 and ended February 5, 2020. The parties could extend the employment period of this
agreement by mutual consent with approval of the Company's Board of Directors, but the extension could not exceed two years in length.
On February 5, 2020, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with Stewart Wallach, whereby Mr. Wallach would be paid $301,521
per annum. The term of this new agreement began February 5, 2020 and ends February 5, 2023. The parties may extend the employment period
of this agreement by mutual consent with approval of the Company's Board of Directors, but the extension may not exceed two years in length.
The February 5, 2020 Employment Agreement with Mr. Wallach was filed by the Company as an exhibit to Report Form 10-K for fiscal year ended
December 31, 2019 - (as filed by the Company with the Commission on March 30, 2020).
Gerry McClinton, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer.
On February 5, 2018, the Company renewed the Employment Agreement with James McClinton, whereby Mr. McClinton was paid $191,442 per
annum. The term of this agreement began February 5, 2018 and ended February 5, 2020. The parties could extend the employment period of this
agreement by mutual consent with approval of the Company's Board of Directors, but the extension may not exceed one year in length.
On February 5, 2020, the Company entered an Employment Agreement with James McClinton, whereby Mr. McClinton would be paid $191,442
per annum. The term of this new agreement began February 5, 2020 and ends February 5, 2022. The parties may extend the employment period
of this agreement by mutual consent with approval of the Company's Board of Directors, but the extension may not exceed one year in length.
The February 5, 2020 Employment Agreement with Mr. McClinton was filed by the Company as an exhibit to Report Form 10-K for fiscal year
ended December 31, 2019 (as filed by the Company with the Commission on March 30, 2020).
Effective September 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020, payments equivalent to fifty percent of both Mr. Wallach and Mr. McClinton’s salary or
approximately $48,707 and $30,925, respectively, will be deferred until 2021.
Effective January 1, 2021 through March 31, 2021, further payments equivalent to fifty percent of both Mr. Wallach and Mr. McClinton’s salary or
approximately $40,589 and $25,771, respectively, will be deferred until later in 2021.
Common Provisions in both new Employment Agreements:
The following provisions are contained in each of the above employment agreements: If the officer's employment is terminated by death or
disability or without cause, the Company is obligated to pay to the officer's estate or the officer, an amount equal to accrued and unpaid base
salary as well as all accrued but unused vacation days through the date of termination. The Company will also pay sum payments equal to (a) the
sum of twelve (12) months base salary at the rate the Executive was earning as of the date of termination and (b) the sum of "merit" based
bonuses earned by the Executive during the prior calendar year of his termination. Any payments owed by the Company shall be paid from a
normal payroll account on a bi-weekly basis in accordance with the normal payroll policies of the Company. The amount owed by the Company to
the Executive, from the effective Termination date, will be payout bi-weekly over the course of the year but at no time will be no more than twenty
(26) installments. The Company will also continue to pay the Executive's health and dental insurance benefits for 6 months starting at the
Executives date of termination. If the Executive had family health coverage at the time of termination, the additional family premium obligation
would remain theirs and will be reduced against the Executive's severance package. The employment agreements have an anti-competition
provision for 18 months after the end of employment.
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The above summary of the employment agreements is qualified by reference to the actual employment agreements, which were filed as exhibits to
the Form 10-K by the Company for fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (as filed by the Company with the Commission on March 30, 2020).
These amended agreements supersede any existing employment agreements and are the only employment agreements with Company officers:
SUMMARY TABLE OF OPTION GRANTS TO OFFICERS OF COMPANY
As of December 31, 2020
No. of Shares
Underlying
-

Name
Stewart Wallach
Gerry McClinton
OTHER COMPENSATION
NAME/POSITION
Stewart Wallach
Chief Executive
Officer
Gerry McClinton
Chief Operating
Officer & Chief
Financial Officer

% of Total Options
Granted Employees
in 2020
-

Expiration
Date
-

Restricted
Stock Grants
-

No. Shares
underlying Options
Options Granted
in 2020
-

(1)

YEAR
2020
2019
2018

SEVERANCE
PACKAGE
-

CAR
ALLOWANCE
-

CO. PAID
SERVICES
-

TRAVEL
LODGING
-

TOTAL ($)
-

2020
2019
2018

-

-

-

-

-

Footnotes:
(1)

There were no 401(k) matching contributions by the Company and no medical supplemental payments by the Company in any of the years specified.

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS FOR YEAR END 2020 TABLE
OPTIONS (1)
NAME
Stewart Wallach
Gerry McClinton

Securities Underlying
Unexercised Options
-

Option Exercise
Price
-

Option
Expiration Date
-

Footnotes:
(1)

The Company does not have any stock awards for the years specified for the above named senior officers.

2020 OPTION EXERCISES AND VESTED OPTIONS
Name
Stewart Wallach
Gerry McClinton

Number of Shares
Acquired on Exercise
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Value Realized on
Exercise
-

POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

Stewart Wallach
Gerry McClinton

SALARY
SEVERANCE
$
301,521
$
191,442

BONUS
SEVERANCE
$
$

-

GROSS UP
TAXES
$
12,600
$
11,000

BENEFIT
COMPENSATION
$
6,600
$
6,600

GRAND
TOTAL
TOTAL
$
320,721
$
209,042

Indemnification.
The Company maintains directors and officer's liability insurance coverage to reduce its exposure to such obligations, and payments made under
these agreements historically have not been material. Further, the Company’s articles of incorporation and bylaws provide for indemnification of
directors and officers.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
VOTING RIGHTS AND SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT:
The sole class of voting Common Stock of the Company as of March 01, 2021, that are issued and outstanding is the Common Stock, $0.0001
par value per share, or "Common Stock". The table below sets forth, as of March 01, 2021, ("Record Date"), certain information $0.0001 par value
per share, or "Common Stock" information with respect to the Common Stock beneficially owned by (i) each Director, nominee and executive
officer of the Company; (ii) each person who owns beneficially more than 5% of the Common Stock; and (iii) all Directors, nominees and executive
officers as a group. There were 46,296,364 shares of Common Stock outstanding on the Record Date of March 01, 2021.
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NAME, ADDRESS &
TITLE
Stewart Wallach, CEO,
431 Fairway Drive, Suite
200, Deerfield Beach,
FL 33441

STOCK OWNERSHIP % OF STOCK OWNED
AFTER CONVERSION - AFTER CONVERSION –
ALL OPTIONS,
OPTIONS, WARRANTS
SHARES - COMMON WARRANTS & THOSE
INCLUDES
STOCK ISSUABLE
EXERCISEABLE
EXERCISEABLE
UPON CONVERSION WITHIN NEXT 60 DAYS WITHIN THE 60 DAYS

OPTIONS &
WARRANTS
VESTED

OPTIONS &
WARRANTS
EXPIRED

OPTIONS,
WARRANTS NOT
VESTED

20.9%

-

-

-

33,664

0.1%

-

-

-

499,950

9,334,120

19.8%

300,000

-

100,000

-%

-

70,000

0.1%

70,000

-

10,000

52,800

0.1%

-

452,800

1.0%

400,000

200,000

100,000

52,800

0.1%

-

52,800

0.1%

-

-

-

19,005,129

41.0%

999,900

19,775,129

42.0%

770,000

200,000

210,000

46,296,364

100.0%

999,900

47,076,364

100.0%

780,000

200,000

210,000

STOCK
OWNERSHIP

% OF STOCK
OWNERSHIP

9,831,745

21.2%

499,950

9,831,745

Gerry McClinton, CFO, &
Director, 431 Fairway
Drive Suite 200,
Deerfield Beach, FL
33441

33,664

0.1%

-

Jeff Postal, Director, 431
Fairway Drive, Suite 200,
Deerfield Beach, FL
33441

9,034,120

19.5%

Aimee C. Brown
(Gaudet), Secretary, 431
Fairway Drive, Suite 200,
Deerfield Beach, FL
33441

-

Jeff Guzy, Director, 3130
19th Street North,
Arlington, VA 22201
Larry Sloven, Director,
431 Fairway Drive Suite
200, Deerfield Beach,
FL 33441
ALL OFFICERS &
DIRECTORS AS A
GROUP

Total
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Notes to Table.
(1)
(2)
(3)

Unless otherwise indicated, the persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown
as beneficially owned by them.
Mr. Wallach’s ownership of common stock in the table does not include 499,950 shares issuable upon conversion of Series B-1 Convertible Preferred
Stock and does not include 500,000 shares of common stock that may be issued, upon occurrence of a trigger event under a January 4, 2021 Loan
agreement but that has not occurred.
Mr. Postal’s ownership of common stock in the table does not include 499,950 shares issuable upon conversion of Series B-1 Convertible Preferred
Stock and does not include 500,000 shares of common stock that may be issued, upon occurrence of a trigger event under a January 4, 2021 Loan
agreement but that has not occurred.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
The Company is a "controlled company" under typical stock exchange corporate governance rules, that is a company where 50% or more of the
voting power is owned by a person or a group and does not currently have to meet requirements for a board of directors with a majority of
"independent directors." Currently, only Jeffrey Guzy qualifies as an "independent director" under the listing standards of most stock exchanges or
quotation systems. No other director qualifies as an "independent director" under those rules because they are officers of the Company or have
business relationships with the Company.
The CAPC Board adopted a written policy for approval of transactions between the Company and its directors, director nominees, executive
officers, greater than 5% beneficial owners and their respective immediate family members. The policy governs transaction in which the value
exceeds or is expected to exceed $120,000 in a single calendar year.
A "related-person transaction" will be a transaction, arrangement or relationship (or any series of similar transactions, arrangements or
relationships) in which we and any "related person" are participants involving an amount that exceeds $120,000. Transactions involving
compensation for services provided to us as an employee, director, consultant or similar capacity by a related person will not be covered by this
policy. A related person will be any executive officer, director or a holder of more than five percent of our common stock, including any of their
immediate family members and any entity owned or controlled by such persons.
The policy provides that the Audit Committee reviews transactions subject to the policy and determines whether to approve or ratify those
transactions. The Audit Committee considers, among other factors it deems appropriate, the following factors:
•
•
•
•

Benefits derived by the related person from the transaction versus the benefits derived by the Company.
Total value of the transaction.
Whether the transaction was undertaken in the ordinary course of business of the Company; and
Were the terms and conditions of the transaction usual and customary and commercially reasonable.

The Audit Committee does not have any policies on expedited or pre-approval of certain routine related person transactions.
From time to time, the Company borrows working capital on a short-term basis, usually with maturity dates of less than a year, from Company
directors and officers. The Company believes that these working capital loans are commercially reasonable, especially in light of the inability of the
Company to obtain such short-term financing from traditional funding sources. As of December 31, 2020 the Company had no related party loans
or outstanding balances.
On May 31, 2019, the Board of Directors approved that the Company’s outstanding loan balance as of December 31, 2018 of $904,109, owed to
Capstone Industries, Inc., a Florida corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, would be offset as a dividend distribution from
Capstone Industries, Inc to the Company as of December 31, 2018.
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On May 31, 2019, the disinterested directors of the Board of Directors approved the use of up to $900,000 dividend distribution, to be completed
by December 31, 2019, from Capstone Industries, Inc., a Florida corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, to the Company to
provide working capital. As of December 31, 2019, the authorized distribution had been fully completed.
On February 4, 2020, the Board of Directors approved that the Company’s outstanding loan balance as of December 31, 2019 of $380,967, owed
to Capstone Industries, Inc., a Florida corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, would be offset as a dividend distribution from
Capstone Industries, Inc to the Company as of December 31, 2019.
On February 4, 2020, the disinterested directors of the Board of Directors of the Company approved the use of up to an aggregate of $1,000,000
profit distribution, to be completed by December 31, 2020, from Capstone Industries, Inc., a Florida corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, to the Company to provide working capital. As of December 31, 2020, $350,000 of the authorized distribution had been completed.
Process for Identifying Related Person Transactions.
To identify related-person transactions in advance, we are expected to rely on information supplied by our executive officers, directors and certain
significant stockholders. In considering related-person transactions, our board of directors will take into account the relevant available facts and
circumstances including, but not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•

the risks, costs and benefits to us.
the impact on a director's independence in the event the related person is a director, immediate family member of a director or an entity with which a
director is affiliated.
the terms of the transaction.
the availability of other sources for comparable services or products; and
the terms available to or from, as the case may be, unrelated third parties or to or from our employees generally.

Promoters and Certain Control Persons
We did not have any promoters at any time during the past five fiscal years.
Director Independence
Our Board of Directors has determined that our director, Mr. Jeffery Guzy, is an independent director, as the term "independent" is defined by the
rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market. The Company was not successful in recruiting additional, qualified and interested independent directors in
fiscal year 2020.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees & Services
The following is a summary of the fees billed to date by D. Brooks & Associates CPA’s, P.A., for professional services rendered for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
2020
Audit Fees
Tax Fees
Total

$

13,050
13,050

$

2019
$

-

$

The following is a summary of the fees billed to us by Kaufman, Rossin & Co., for professional services rendered for the years ended December
31, 2020 and 2019:
2020
Audit Fees
Tax Fees
Total

$
$
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122,250
10,900
133,150

$
$

2019
140,500
7,900
148,400

The following is a summary of the fees paid by us to CBIZ and Mayer Hoffman McCann P.C., the Company’s former Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm, for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
2020
Audit Fees
Tax Fees
Total

$
$

3,500
14,050
17,550

$
$

2019
15,000
8,750
23,750

Audit Fees. Consists of fees billed for professional services rendered for the audits of our consolidated financial statements, reviews of our
interim consolidated financial statements included in quarterly reports, services performed in connection with filings with the Commission and
related comfort letters and other services that are normally provided by the Independent Registered firm in connection with statutory and
regulatory filings or engagements.
Tax Fees. Consists of fees billed for professional services for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning. These services include assistance
regarding federal, state and local tax compliance and consultation in connection with various transactions and acquisitions.
AUDIT COMMITTEE PRE-APPROVAL OF AUDIT AND PERMISSIBLE NON-AUDIT SERVICES OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The Audit Committee is to pre-approve all audit and non-audit services provided by the independent auditors. These services may include audit
services, audit-related services, tax services and other services as allowed by law or regulation. Pre-approval is generally provided for up to one
year and any pre-approval is detailed as to the particular service or category of services and is generally subject to a specifically approved
amount. The independent auditors and management are required to periodically report to the Audit Committee regarding the extent of services
provided by the independent auditors in accordance with this pre-approval and the fees incurred to date. The Audit Committee may also preapprove particular services on a case-by-case basis.
The Audit Committee pre-approved 100% of the Company's 2020 audit fees, audit-related fees, tax fees, and all other fees to the extent the
services occurred after the effective date of the SEC's final pre-approval rules.
Part IV
Item 15. Exhibits, and Financial Statement Schedules Reports
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report.
1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
F-1 Report of Independent Registered Public Accountants for the Years Ended December 31, 2020
F-3 Report of Independent Registered Public Accountants for the Years Ended December 31, 2019
F-4 Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019
F-5 Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
F-6 Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
F-7 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
F-8 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.
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3. EXHIBITS
Exhibits Required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K. Pursuant to the Instructions to Exhibits, certain instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt securities of the Company and its
consolidated subsidiaries are not filed because the total amount of securities authorized under any such instrument does not exceed 10 percent of the total assets of the Company and its subsidiaries on
a consolidated basis. A copy of such instrument will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
3.1
3.1.1
3.1.1.1
3.2
4.6
10.01
10.02
10.03
10.04
10.07
10.08
14
21.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Articles of Incorporation of CHDT Corp. Incorporated by reference to Annex G to the Special Meeting Proxy Statement, Dated April 15, 2004, filed by CHDT Corporation with the
Commission on April 20, 2004.
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Capstone Companies, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K filed by Capstone Companies, Inc. with the Commission
on July 14, 2009.
Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Capstone Companies, Inc., as filed with Florida Secretary of State on June 8, 2016. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.1 to the Form 8-K filed by Capstone Companies, Inc. with the Commission on June 8, 2016.
By-laws of Capstone Companies, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Annex H the Special Meeting Proxy Statement, Dated April 15, 2004, filed by CHDT Corporation with the Commission on
April 20, 2004.
Description of Capstone Companies, Inc. Securities^
Employment Agreement by Capstone Companies, Inc. and Stewart Wallach, dated February 5, 2020 filed by Capstone Companies, Inc with the Commission on March 30, 2020.
Employment Agreement by Capstone Companies, Inc. and James McClinton, dated February 5, 2020 filed by Capstone Companies, Inc with the Commission on March 30, 2020.
Amendment to Financing Agreement by Capstone Industries, Inc. and Sterling Capital Funding, dated November 5, 2015. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Form 10-K filed by
Capstone Companies, Inc with the Commission on March 28, 2018.
Validity Guaranty to Financing Agreement by Capstone Industries, Inc. and Sterling Capital Funding, dated June 4, 2016. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Form 10-K filed by
Capstone Companies, Inc with the Commission on March 28, 2018.
Addendum dated January 1, 2019 to Consulting Agreement by Capstone Industries, Inc. and George Wolf filed by Capstone Companies, Inc with the Commission on March 30, 2020.
Financial Services Agreement dated March 1, 2017, by Capstone Companies, Inc. and Wilmington Capital Securities, LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to Form 10-K filed by
Capstone Companies, Inc with the Commission on March 28, 2018.
Code of Ethics Policy. Exhibit 14 of the Capstone Companies, Inc. Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on March 22, 2018.
Subsidiaries of Capstone Companies, Inc. ^
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Stewart Wallach, Chief Executive Officer^
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Gerry McClinton, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer^
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Stewart Wallach, Chief Executive Officer. ^
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Gerry McClinton, Chief Financial Officer & Chief Operating Officer^
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Note: CHDT Corp. is a prior name of Capstone Companies, Inc.
^ Filed Herein.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary. None.
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In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Capstone Companies, Inc. has caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Broward County, Florida on this 31st day of March 2021.
CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC.
Dated: March 31, 2021
By: /s/ Stewart Wallach
Stewart Wallach
Chief Executive Officer and Director
In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of Capstone Companies, Inc. and in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.
/s/ Stewart Wallach
Stewart Wallach
Principal Executive Officer
Director and Chief Executive Officer
March 31, 2021
/s/ Gerry McClinton
Gerry McClinton
Chief Financial Officer
Chief Operating Officer and Director
March 31, 2021
/s/ Jeffrey Guzy
Jeffrey Guzy
Director
March 31, 2021
/s/ Jeffrey Postal
Jeffrey Postal
Director
March 31, 2021
/s/ Larry Sloven
Larry Sloven
Director
March 31, 2021.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors of
Capstone Companies, Inc.
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Capstone Companies, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Company) as of December
31, 2020, and the related consolidated statement of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020, and
the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements).
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.
Substantial Doubt Regarding Going Concern
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As
discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has incurred operating losses, has incurred negative cash flows from
operations and has an accumulated deficit. These and other factors raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Management’s plan regarding these matters is also described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we
are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the
consolidated financial statements and (2) involved especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit
matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the
critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
Description of the Matter
As described in footnote 1 “Goodwill”, to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of
approximately $623,500 during the year ended December 31, 2020. Goodwill is tested for impairment by management at least annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired, at the reporting unit level. The determination of fair
value of a reporting unit requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions related to the fair value of the reporting unit.
Management estimated the fair value of its single reporting unit relative to the Company’s market capitalization.
We identified the goodwill impairment assessment as a critical audit matter as auditing management’s impairment analysis involves a high degree
of subjectivity.
How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included (a) reviewing and testing the Company’s conclusions as to
whether the fair value of the reporting unit was less than the carrying value, (b) evaluating and comparing the Company’s analysis and
conclusions to authoritative and interpretive literature, (c) testing the Company’s process and methodology for determining the fair value of the
report unit by comparing it to generally accepted methodologies for testing goodwill for impairment, (d) recomputing the fair value of the reporting
unit and (e) utilizing a valuation specialist to assist in evaluating the Company’s calculation and methodology.

D. Brooks and Associates CPAs, P.A.
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.

Palm Beach Gardens, Florida
March 31, 2021
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Capstone Companies, Inc.
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Capstone Companies, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December
31, 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related
notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 , and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year
then ended , in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for leases due to the
adoption of Accounting Standards Update 2016-02, Leases.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we
are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Kaufman, Rossin & Co., P.A.
We served as the Company's auditor from 2018 to 2020.
Boca Raton, Florida
March 30, 2020
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CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2020
Assets:
Current Assets:
Cash
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Income tax refundable
Total Current Assets

$

Property and equipment, net
Operating lease - right of use asset
Deposit
Goodwill
Total Assets

$

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity:
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Operating lease - current portion
Total Current Liabilities

$

Long-Term Liabilities:
Operating lease-long- term portion
Deferred tax liabilities-long-term
Total Long-Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities

December 31,
2019

1,223,770
120,064
8,775
75,622
861,318
2,289,549
54,852
158,504
25,560
1,312,482
3,840,947

825,690
63,307
888,997

$

$

$

3,131,249
13,459
24,818
182,782
220,207
3,572,515
65,649
214,202
46,021
1,936,020
5,834,407

635,593
51,174
686,767

107,690
259,699
367,389
1,256,386

170,998
170,998
857,765

-

-

4,630
7,053,328
(4,473,397)
2,584,561
3,840,947

4,658
7,061,565
(2,089,581 )
4,976,642
5,834,407

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 5)
Stockholders' Equity:
Preferred Stock, Series A, par value $.001 per share, authorized 6,666,667 shares, issued -0- shares
Preferred Stock, Series B-1, par value $.0001 per share, authorized 3,333,333 shares, issued -0- shares
Preferred Stock, Series C, par value $1.00 per share, authorized 67 shares, issued -0- shares
Common Stock, par value $.0001 per share, authorized 56,666,667 shares, outstanding 46,296,364 shares at December
31, 2020 and 46,579,747 shares at December 31, 2019
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total Stockholders' Equity
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2020
2019
Revenues, net
Cost of sales
Gross Profit

$

Operating Expenses:
Sales and marketing
Compensation
Professional fees
Product development
Other general and administrative
Goodwill impairment charge
Total Operating Expenses
Operating Loss
Other Income (Expenses):
Other Income, net
Interest Income (Expense)
Total Other Income, net

2,770,358
(2,266,592)
503,766

$

300,420
1,515,522
422,820
249,879
477,121
623,538
3,589,300

378,605
1,554,286
435,143
348,745
647,696
3,364,475

(3,085,534)

(932,901)

89,600
179
89,779

Loss Before Tax Benefit
Benefit for Income Tax

12,404,445
(9,972,871)
2,431,574

29,505
(3,206)
26,299

(2,995,755)

(906,602)

(611,939)

(14,933)

Net Loss

$

(2,383,816)

$

(891,669)

Net Loss per Common Share:
Basic and Diluted

$

(0.05)

$

(0.02)

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding:
Basic and Diluted

46,337,198

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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46,863,467

CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
Preferred Stock

Preferred Stock

Preferred Stock

Series A

Series B

Series C

Par
Value

Shares
Balance at
December 31,
2018
Stock options
for
compensation
Repurchase of
shares
Net Loss
Balance at
December 31,
2019
Stock options
for
compensation
Repurchase of
shares
Net Loss
Balance at
December 31,
2020

Par
Value

Shares

Par
Value

Shares

$

Additional

Common
Stock

Accumulated

Total

Deficit

Equity

Shares

Par
Value

Capital

-

47,046,364

$ 4,704

$ 7,092,219

-

-

40,707

- $

-

- $

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

46,579,747

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

- $

-

- $

-

-

$

Paid-In

-

(466,617)
-

(283,383)
46,296,364

(46)
-

-

40,707

(71,361)
-

(891,669)

(71,407)
(891,669)

4,658

7,061,565

(2,089,581)

4,976,642

-

28,068

-

28,068

(28)
$ 4,630

(36,305)
$ 7,053,328

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$ (1,197,912) $ 5,899,011

(2,383,816)

(36,333)
(2,383,816)

$ (4,473,397) $ 2,584,561

CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2020
2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net Loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock based compensation expense
Noncash lease expense
Goodwill impairment charge
Deferred income tax benefit
Increase in deferred income tax liabilities-long-term
Noncash accounts receivable allowance
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable, net
Decrease in inventories
Increase in prepaid expenses
Decrease in deposits
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Decrease in deferred rent incentive
Decrease in income tax payable
Increase in income tax refundable
Decrease in operating lease liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

$

(2,383,816)

$

(891,669)

24,297
28,068
55,698
623,538
259,699
173,426
(106,605)
16,043
107,160
20,461
16,671
(641,111)
(51,175)
(1,857,646 )

44,194
40,707
20,248
(12,000)
51,052
2,679
61,094
56,784
174,147
(108,844)
(11,694)
(12,278)
(585,580)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

(13,500)
(13,500)

(34,123)
(34,123)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repurchase of shares
Net cash used in financing activities

(36,333)
(36,333)

(71,407)
(71,407)

$

(1,907,479 )
3,131,249
1,223,770

$

(691,110)
3,822,359
3,131,249

$

-

$

3,206

Operating lease – right-of-use asset at commencement

$

-

$

224,550

Operating lease liabilities at commencement

$

-

$

234,450

Net Decrease in Cash
Cash at Beginning of Year
Cash at End of Year
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest
NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 include the accounts of the parent entity and its whollyowned subsidiaries. All material intra-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
This summary of accounting policies for Capstone Companies, Inc. (“CAPC”), a Florida corporation (formerly, “CHDT Corporation”) and its whollyowned subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Company”, “we”, “our” or “us”), is presented to assist in understanding the Company's
consolidated financial statements. The accounting policies conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“U.S. GAAP”) and have been consistently applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Organization and Nature of Business
Capstone Companies, Inc. is headquartered in Deerfield Beach, Florida.
On September 13, 2006, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with Capstone Industries, Inc., (“ CAPI”). CAPI was
incorporated in Florida on May 15, 1996 and is engaged primarily in the business of wholesaling low technology consumer products to distributors
and retailers in the United States. Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of
CAPI’s Common Stock, and recorded goodwill of $1,936,020. The primary operating subsidiary is CAPI, which is located in the principal executive
offices of the Company.
On June 6, 2012, the Company amended its charter to change its name from CHDT Corporation to CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. This name
change was effective as of July 6, 2012, for purposes of the change of its name on the OTC Bulletin Board. With the name change, the trading
symbol was changed to CAPC.
On April 13, 2012, the Company established a wholly owned subsidiary in Hong Kong, named Capstone International Hong Kong Ltd (“CIHK”)
which provides support services such as engineering, new product development, product sourcing, factory certification and compliance, product
price negotiating, product testing and quality control and ocean freight logistics for the Company’s other subsidiaries. CIHK is also engaged in
selling the Company’s products internationally.
Since the beginning of fiscal year 2007, the Company through CAPI has been primarily engaged in the business of developing, marketing, and
selling home LED products (“Lighting Products”) through national and regional retailers in North America and in certain overseas markets. The
Company’s products are targeted for applications such as home indoor and outdoor lighting and have different functionalities to meet consumer’s
needs. The Company has developed a smart interactive mirror for residential use as a variant line for its lighting products, which was launched at
the Consumer Electronics Show in early 2020 but its release to the retail market has been delayed due to product development delays at our
suppliers, resulting from the impact of COVID-19. The development of the smart interactive mirror or “Smart Mirrors” is part of the Company’s
strategic effort to find new product lines to replace or supplement existing products that are nearing or at the end of their product life cycle. These
products are offered either under the Capstone brand or licensed brands.
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CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
The Company’s products are typically manufactured in Thailand and China by contract manufacturing companies. As of the date of these
consolidated financial statements, the Company’s future product development effort is focused on the Smart Mirrors category because the
Company believes, based on Company’s management understanding of the industry, the Smart Mirrors have the potential for greater profit margin
than the Company’s historical LED consumer products. Technological developments and changes in consumer tastes could alter the perceived
potential and future viability of Smart Mirrors as a primary product. The Company may change its product development strategies and plans as
economic conditions and consumer tastes change, which condition and changes may be unforeseeable by the Company or may be beyond the
ability of the Company to timely or at all adjust its strategic and product development plans.
The Company’s operations consist of one reportable segment for financial reporting purposes: Lighting Products.
Effects of COVID-19
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the outbreak and global spread of COVID-19 pandemic caused significant economic volatility,
uncertainty and disruption in our operating environment. We began 2020 in an environment exhibiting strong economic conditions combined with
the successful launch of our new product category, the Smart Mirror at the 2020 CES Show. However, on March 11, 2020, the World Health
Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic, and the various containment and mitigation measures adopted by governments and
institutions globally and in the U.S. began to have a severe economic impact, including causing the U.S. to enter an economic recession.
In response to the COVID-19 and various state and local orders, the Company instituted the following actions in March 2020:
•
•
•

Placed restrictions on business travel for our employees.
Closed our Corporate offices both in the U.S. and in Hong Kong.
Modified our corporate and division office functions to allow all employees to work remotely.

During the months of February and March 2020, the Company’s Chinese suppliers were impacted by the closedown of facilities by local and
regional authorities in their efforts to combat the spread of COVID-19. The factory closures delayed shipment of certain orders from the first
quarter of 2020 until the second and third quarter 2020. During the end of March 2020, the Company’s Chinese suppliers that had been previously
closed started to gradually reopen their factories. Company orders that had been previously delayed because of the close started to ship. These
factories are fully functioning, and orders are being produced both in Thailand and in China. CIHK staff have continued to work remotely from
home.
On March 20, 2020, the Company’s U.S. staff started to work remotely from their homes. With the State of Florida lifting its “Stay at Home”
requirement on May 20, 2020, the Corporate office reopened with staff working on a rotating schedule between the office and remotely from
home.
While all the above-referenced steps were, and some remain, necessary and appropriate in light of COVID-19, they impacted the Company’s
ability to operate the business in its ordinary and traditional course.
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CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
As the result of COVID-19 and the economic uncertainties, our core LED lighting orders declined significantly starting in March 2020 and the
Company was unable to expand on the marketing success of the launch of the Smart Mirror at the CES Show in January 2020. As the pandemic
spread and federal, state and local government mandated movement restrictions, management maintained its focus on shifting production into
Thailand, expansion of the Smart Mirror portfolio, protecting our liquidity and closely managing our cash flows. In the fiscal second and third
quarters, 2020, the Company implemented cost controls to mitigate the loss of revenue. The Company took action to reduce expenses, including
promotional activities, travel, meetings, and compensation expenses with the elimination of certain positions overseas and the deferment of senior
executive compensation and consulting expenses.
Our business operations and financial performance for the year ended December 31, 2020 was adversely impacted by the developments
discussed above, The Company reported a decrease in net revenue from $12.4 million in 2019 to $2.7 million in 2020, a reduction of
approximately $9.7 million. The net loss for the period ended December 31, 2020 was approximately $2.4 million as compared to approximately
$891.7 thousand in 2019. With these recurring losses, the cash generated from operations was negatively impacted and the Company utilized
approximately $1.9 million of cash during the year ended December 31, 2020.
The decrease in net sales for the year was driven by the uncertainty felt by retail buyers as to the continuing impact on the retail market of COVID19 and its overall long-term negative impact on the U.S. economy. However, the Warehouse Club channel, which includes our customers Costco
Wholesale and Sam’s Club, has seen a substantial increase in foot traffic because of the changed buying trend of consumers during the
pandemic, which has recently resulted in the resumption of some promotional opportunities. Management believes that with the national
distribution of vaccines now occurring, the impact of the pandemic on the general brick and mortar retail market will carry through to mid-2021.
As a result of the economic uncertainties caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, during the year ended December 31, 2020, management
determined sufficient indicators existed to trigger quarterly goodwill impairment analyses. The total impairment charge for the year ended
December 31, 2020 was approximately $623.5 thousand.
On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act, which we refer to as the “CARES Act.” was enacted into law. The
CARES Act is a tax and spending package intended to provide economic relief to address the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act
includes several significant income and other business tax provisions that, among other things, would eliminate the taxable income limit for certain
net operating losses (“NOLs”) and allow businesses to carry back NOLs arising in 2018, 2019, and 2020 to the five prior tax years. The Company
was able to carryback the 2018 and the 2019 NOLs to 2017 tax year and generate an estimated refund of previously paid income taxes at an
approximate 34% federal tax rate. This resulted in a net benefit of $575,645 which was recorded in the first quarter 2020.
The Company expects to carryback a portion of its 2020 NOL, for which it recorded a further net benefit of $286,433. In the third quarter 2020, the
Company recorded a $21,222 net tax benefit for deferred tax liability adjustment related to goodwill impairment. For the year ended December 31,
2020, the Company has recorded $862,078 in net tax benefits.
The CARES Act also provided for the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”). On May 11, 2020, the Company received a $89.6 thousand loan
under PPP which was processed through Sterling National Bank. The Company filed SBA Form 3508, Paycheck Protection Program Loan
Forgiveness Application. On October 30, 2020, the SBA notified the Company that the PPP loan principal of $89,600 and $428 of accumulated
interest had been fully forgiven. This forgiveness has been reflected in Other Income on the consolidated statements of operations.
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CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity and Going Concern
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets
and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.
The uncertainty and the continuing negative impact that the COVID-19 disruption could have on the future retail business and consumers’
willingness to visit retail stores, causing reduced consumer foot traffic and consumer spending, could negatively impact the demand for our
products or delay future planned promotional opportunities. However, with a successful relaunch of the Smart Mirror portfolio using the online retail
platform, the Company may need a purchase order credit line to support increased U.S. domestic inventory to facilitate revenue growth in that
category.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company used cash in operations of approximately $1.9 million and generated net operating
losses of $2.4 million. As of December 31, 2020, the Company has working capital of approximately $1.4 million and an accumulated deficit of $4.5
million. The Company’s cash balance dropped by approximately $1.9 million from $3.1 million as of December 31, 2019 to $1.2 million as of
December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, the Company does not have sufficient cash on hand to finance its plan of operations and will need
to seek additional capital through debt and/or equity financing. These factors raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.
As discussed above, the overall impact of the COVID-19 pandemic to our business, financial condition, cash flow and results of operations remains
uncertain. For example, if any of our major wholesale customers fail to maintain normal operations, our revenue could further decline, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and liquidity. Management believes that with the ongoing
national distribution of vaccines, the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in the U.S. will continue through to mid-2021, but ultimately
should not impact the Company’s long-term strategy and initiatives.
On July 31, 2020, the Company terminated its factoring agreement with Sterling National Bank. The Company has been in discussions with
alternate funding sources that offer extensive programs that are more in line with the Company’s future business model, particularly a facility that
provides funding options that are suitable for the e-commerce business that the Company is transitioning into. The borrowing costs associated
with such financing are dependent upon market conditions and our credit rating. We cannot assure that we will be able to negotiate competitive
rates, which could increase our cost of borrowing in the future.
In addition, we could seek alternative sources of liquidity, including but not limited to accessing the capital markets, or other alternative financing
measures. However, instability in, or tightening of the capital markets, could adversely affect our ability to access the capital markets on terms
acceptable to us. An economic recession or a slow recovery could adversely affect our business and liquidity. The ongoing impact of the COVID19 pandemic on the Company’s business and financial performance may also affect the Company’s ability to obtain fundin g.
The Company may be able to raise the required additional capital through debt or equity financing. However, the Company can make no
assurances that it will be able to raise the required capital, on acceptable terms or at all. Unless the Company succeeds in raising additional
capital or successfully increases cash generated from operations, management believes there is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern and meet its obligations over the next twelve months from the filing date of this report. However, there are
compensating factors and actions that are being and have been taken to address these uncertainties, including the following:
•
•

The Company has no outstanding debt or other outstanding obligations, outside of normal trade obligations.
The Company has working capital of approximately $1.4 million consisting mostly of cash of $1.2 million.
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CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Company had an estimated income tax refundable as of December 31,2020 of approximately $861 thousand of which approximately $576 thousand
and $10.3 thousand of interest was received on February 3, 2021, (see Note 8).
On July 31, 2020 with the termination of the Sterling National Bank factoring agreement, the Company has been in discussions with alternate funding
sources that offers varying programs that are more in line with the Company’s future business model, particularly a facility that provides funding options
that are more suitable for the e-commerce business that the Company is transitioning into.
The Company has entered a $750,000 working capital loan agreement effective January 4, 2021 for up to a one year term, (see Note 8).
The Company’s plan is to sell direct to consumers. The funding and cashflow requirements for this business model will require e-commerce funding. The
Company has been in discussions with a funding source that provides this option.
The Company has in place a mitigation plan that reduces discretionary expenses, executive managements compensation, and significantly reduces the
cost of the Hong Kong operation and also reduces future travel, lodging and show expenses.
Since September 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020 in order to conserve operating cashflow, the Company’s executive management has deferred
50% of their compensation until later in 2021. The compensation deferral has been further extended until March 31, 2021, (see Note 8).

Accounts Receivable
For product revenue, the Company invoices its customers at the time of shipment for the sales value of the product shipped. Accounts receivable
are recognized at the amount expected to be collected and are not subject to any interest or finance charges. The Company does not have any
off-balance sheet credit exposure related to any of its customers. Previously in the factoring agreement with Sterling National Bank, accounts
receivable served as collateral when the Company borrowed against its credit facilities. With the termination of the Sterling National Bank factoring
agreement, the accounts receivables are unencumbered.
As of December 31, 2020, accounts receivable has not been collateralized against debt. As of December 31, 2019, accounts receivable served as
collateral when the Company borrowed against its credit facility at that time.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The Company evaluates the collectability of accounts receivable based on a combination of factors. In cases where the Company becomes aware
of circumstances that may impair a specific customer’s ability to meet its financial obligations subsequent to the original sale, the Company will
recognize an allowance against amounts due, and thereby reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount the Company reasonably believes
will be collected. For all other customers, the Company recognizes an allowance for doubtful accounts
based on the length of time the receivables are past due and consideration of other factors such as industry conditions, the current business
environment and the Company’s historical payment experience. An allowance for doubtful accounts is established as losses are estimated to have
occurred through a provision for bad debts charged to earnings. This evaluation is inherently subjective and requires estimates that are
susceptible to significant revisions as more information becomes available.
As of both Decembers 31, 2020 and 2019, management determined that accounts receivable are fully collectible. As such, management has not
recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts.
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CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
The following table summarizes the components of Accounts Receivable, net:
December 31,
2020
Trade Accounts Receivables at year end
Reserve for estimated marketing allowances, cash discounts and other incentives
Total Accounts Receivable, net

$
$

197,166
(77,102)
120,064

December 31,
2019
$
$

276,551
(263,092)
13,459

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s reserve for marketing allowances, cash discounts and other incentives which is
included in net accounts receivable:
Balance at beginning of the year
Accrued allowances
Reclassification of allowance from accounts receivable to accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Expenditures
Balance at year-end

December 31,
2020
$
(263,092)
173,426
12,564
$
(77,102)

December 31,
2019
$
(364,894)
( 89,668)
191,468
$
(263,092)

Marketing allowances include the cost of underwriting an in store instant rebate coupon or a target markdown allowance on a specific product.
Cash discounts represent discounts offered to the retailer off outstanding accounts receivable in order to initiate early payment. During 2020, the
Company reclassified an accrued allowance from accounts receivable to accounts payable and accrued liabilities due to the decline in revenues
and accounts receivable to offset these credits. The Company could have to pay cash to settle certain marketing allowances and other incentives
issued to customers with no outstanding accounts receivable.
Inventory
The Company's inventory, which consists of finished LED lighting products for resale by Capstone, is recorded at the lower of cost (first-in, firstout) or net realizable value. The Company writes down its inventory balances for estimates of excess and obsolete amounts. The Company
reduces inventory on hand to its net realizable value on an item-by-item basis when the expected realizable value of a specific inventory item falls
below its original cost. Management regularly reviews the Company’s investment in inventories for such declines in value. The write-downs are
recognized as a component of cost of sales. During the fiscal year 2020 and 2019, inventory write downs were $0 for each year. As of December
31, 2020, and 2019, respectively, the inventory was valued at $8,775 and $24,818.
Prepaid Expenses
The Company’s prepaid expenses consist primarily of deposits on inventory purchases for future orders as well as prepaid insurance, trade show
and subscription expense. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, prepaid expenses were $75,622 and $182,782, respectively.
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CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated
economic useful lives of the related assets as follows:
December 31, 2020

Useful Life
Computer equipment and software
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Property and Equipment, Net

3-7 years
3-7 years
3-7 years

$

$

53,819
119,323
6,828
(125,118)
54,852

December 31, 2019
$

$

53,819
157,267
6,828
(152,265)
65,649

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amount may not be
recoverable. When required, impairment losses on assets to be held and used are recognized based on the fair value of the asset. Long-lived
assets to be disposed of, if any, are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. No impairment losses were recognized
by the Company during 2020 or 2019.
Upon sale or other disposition of property and equipment, the cost and related accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed from the
accounts and any gain or loss is included in the determination of income or loss.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Major overhauls and betterments are capitalized and depreciated
over their estimated economic useful lives.
Depreciation and amortization expense was $24,297 and $44,194 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Leases
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU no 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842),” which requires leases with durations greater than twelve months to be
recognized on the balance sheet and disclose key information about the leasing arrangements. The Company adopted the new standard with an
effective date of January 1, 2019 on a modified retrospective approach. The Company has elected to take the practical expedient to separate
lease and non-lease components for its operating lease. See Note 5 “Operating Leases” for additional disclosures as required by the new
standard.
Goodwill
On September 13, 2006, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with Capstone Industries, Inc., a Florida corporation
(“Capstone”). Capstone was incorporated in Florida on May 15, 1996 and is engaged primarily in the business of wholesaling technology inspired
consumer products to distributors and retailers in the United States.
Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Capstone’s Common Stock, and
recorded goodwill of $1,936,020. Goodwill acquired in business combinations is initially computed as the amount paid by the acquiring company
in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired.
Goodwill is tested for impairment on December 31 of each year or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset
might be impaired. If the carrying amount exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized. Goodwill is not amortized. The Company
estimates the fair value of its single reporting unit relative to the Company's market capitalization.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
As a result of the economic uncertainties caused by the COVID-19 pandemic during the year ended December 31, 2020, management
determined sufficient indicators existed to trigger the performance of interim goodwill impairment analyses for each reporting quarter. The total
impairment charge for the year ended December 31, 2020 was approximately $623.5 thousand.
The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s goodwill asset which is included in the total assets in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets:
December 31,
2020
$
1,936,020
(623,538)
$
1,312,482

Balance at the beginning of the period
Impairment charges
Balance at December 31, 2020

December 31,
2019
$
1,936,020
$
1,936,020

With the continuing economic uncertainties caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the capital markets may continue to have a downturn and
adversely affect the Company’s stock price which will require the Company to test its goodwill for impairment in future reporting periods. The
Company’s stock is deemed a “penny stock” under Commission rules.
The Company estimates the fair value of its single reporting unit relative to the Company’s market capitalization.
Fair Value Measurement
The accounting guidance under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), “Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures” (ASC 820-10) requires the Company to make disclosures about the fair value of certain of its assets and
liabilities. ASC 820-10 clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing an
asset or liability and establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those assumptions. ASC 820-10 utilizes a fair
value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels. The three levels of the
hierarchy are as follows:
Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs.
Earnings Per Common Share
Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income(loss) by the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other
contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock. For calculation of the diluted earnings per share, the basic
weighted average number of shares is increased by the dilutive effect of stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method. In periods
where losses are reported, the weighted average number of common shares outstanding excludes common stock equivalents because their
inclusion would be anti-dilutive. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the total number of potentially dilutive common stock equivalents excluded
from the diluted earnings per share calculation was 990,000 and 1,000,000, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basic weighted average shares outstanding is reconciled to diluted share outstanding as follows:

Basic and Diluted weighted average shares outstanding

Year Ended
December 31, 2020
46,337,198

Year Ended
December 31, 2019
46,863,467

Revenue Recognition
The Company generates revenue from developing, marketing and selling consumer lighting products through national and regional retailers. The
Company’s products are targeted for applications such as home indoor and outdoor lighting and have different functionalities Capstone currently
operates in the consumer lighting products category and is expanding into the Smart Mirror category in the United States and in certain overseas
markets. These products may be offered either under the Capstone brand or licensed brands.
A sales contract occurs when the customer-retailer submits a purchase order to buy a specific product, a specific quantity, at an agreed-fixed
price, within a ship window, from a specific location and on agreed payment terms.
The selling price in all of our customers’ orders has been previously negotiated and agreed to including any applicable discount prior to receiving
the customer’s purchase order. The stated unit price in the customer’s order has already been determined and is fixed at the time of invoicing.
The Company recognizes product revenue when the Company’s performance obligations as per the terms in the customers purchase order have
been fully satisfied, specifically, when the specified product and quantity ordered has been manufactured and shipped pursuant to the customers
requested ship window, when the sales price as detailed in the purchase order is fixed, when the product title and risk of loss for that order has
passed to the customer, and collection of the invoice is reasonably assured. This means that the product ordered and to be shipped has gone
through quality assurance inspection, customs and commercial documentation preparation, the goods have been delivered, title transferred to the
customer and confirmed by a signed cargo receipt or bill of lading. Only at the time of shipment when all performance obligations have been
satisfied will the judgement be made to invoice the customer and complete the sales contract.
The Company may enter into a licensing agreement with globally recognized companies, that allows the Company to market products under a
licensed brand to retailers for a designated period of time, and whereby the Company will pay a royalty fee, typically a percentage of licensed
product revenue to the licensor in order to market the licensed product.
The Company expenses license royalty fees and sales commissions when incurred and these expenses are recognized during the period the
related sale is recorded. These costs are recorded within sales and marketing expenses.
The following table presents net revenue by geographic location which is recognized at a point in time:
For the Year Ended December
For the Year Ended December
31, 2020
31, 2019
Capstone
Capstone
Brand
% of Revenue
Brand
% of Revenue
$
2,066,519
75% $
11,218,714
90%
703,839
25%
1,185,731
10%
$
2,770,358
100% $
12,404,445
100%

Lighting Products- U.S.
Lighting Products-International
Total Revenue
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NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
We provide our customers with limited rights of return for non-conforming product warranty claims. As a policy, the Company does not accept
product returns from customers, however occasionally as part of a customers in store test for new product, we may receive back residual
inventory.
Customer orders received are not long-term orders and are typically shipped within six months of the order receipt, but certainly within a one-year
period.
Our payment terms may vary by the type of customer, the customer’s credit standing, the location where the product will be picked up from and for
international customers and which country their corporate office is located. The time between invoicing date and when payment is due may vary
between 30 days and 90 days depending on the customer type. To ensure there are no payment issues, overseas customers or new customers
may be required to provide a deposit or full payment before the order is delivered to the customer.
The Company selectively supports retailer’s initiatives to maximize sales of the Company’s products on the retail floor or to assist in developing
consumer awareness of new products launches, by providing marketing fund allowances to the customer. The Company recognizes these
incentives at the time they are offered to the customers and records a credit to their account with an offsetting charge as either a reduction to
revenue, increase to cost of sales, or marketing expenses depending on the type of sales incentives. Sales reductions for anticipated discounts,
allowances and other deductions are recognized during the period the related revenue is recorded. The reduction of accrued allowances is
included in net revenues and amounted to $341.2 thousand and $1.18 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Warranties
The Company provides the end user with limited rights of return as a consumer assurance warranty on all products sold, stipulating that the
product will function properly for the warranty period. The warranty period for all products is one year from date of consumer purchase.
Certain retail customers may receive an off-invoice based discount such as a defective/warranty allowance, that will automatically reduce the unit
selling price at the time the order is invoiced. This allowance will be used by the retail customer to defray the cost of any returned units from
consumers and therefore negate the need to ship defective units back to the Company. Such allowances are charged to cost of sales at the time
the order is invoiced.
For those customers that do not receive a discount off-invoice, the Company recognizes a charge to cost of sales for anticipated non-conforming
returns based upon an analysis of historical product warranty claims and other relevant data. We evaluate our warranty reserves based on various
factors including historical warranty claims assumptions about frequency of warranty claims, and assumptions about the frequency of product
failures derived from our reliability estimates. Actual product failure rates that materially differ from our estimates could have a significant impact on
our operating results. Product warranty reserves are reviewed each quarter and recognized at the time we recognize revenue.
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NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s product warranty liabilities which are included in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities in the accompanying December 31, 2020 and 2019 balance sheets:
December 31,
2020
$
247,850
46,322
(237,707)
$
56,465

Balance at the beginning of the year
Amount accrued
Payments and credits
Balance at year-end

December 31,
2019
$

$

212,495
180,797
(145,442)
247,850

Advertising and Promotion
Advertising and promotion costs, including advertising, public relations, and trade show expenses, are expensed as incurred and included in sales
and marketing expenses. Advertising and promotion expense was $214,856 and $254,283 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.
Product Development
Our research and development team located in Hong Kong working with our designated factories, are responsible for the design, development,
testing, and certification of new product releases. Our engineering efforts support product development across all products, as well as product
testing for specific overseas markets. All research and development costs are charged to results of operations as incurred.
For the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, product development expenses were $249,879 and $348,745, respectively.
Shipping and Handling
The Company’s shipping and handling costs are included in sales and marketing expenses and are recognized as an expense during the period
in which they are incurred and amounted to $16,870 and $25,730 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
The following table summarizes the components of accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively:
Accounts payable
Accrued warranty reserve
Accrued compensation and deferred wages, marketing allowances, customer deposits and other liabilities
Total accrued liabilities
Total

December 31,
2020
$
246,158
56,465
523,067
579,532
$
825,690

Income Taxes
The Company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various state jurisdictions and certain other jurisdictions.
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December 31,
2019
$
273,606
247,850
114,137
361,987
$
635,593

CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
The Company accounts for income taxes under the provisions of 740 Income Taxes. ASC 740 requires recognition of deferred income tax assets
and liabilities for the expected future income tax consequences, based on enacted tax laws, of temporary differences between the financial
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The Company and its U.S. subsidiaries file consolidated income tax returns.
The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not the tax position will be sustained on
examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from
such positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlement.
Tax regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the interpretation of the relaxed tax laws and regulations and require significant judgement to
apply. The Company is not subject to U.S. federal, state and local tax examinations by tax authorities generally for a period of 3 years from the
later of each return due date or date filed.
On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was enacted into law. The CARES Act is a tax and spending package intended to provide economic relief to
address the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act includes several significant income and other business tax provisions that, among
other things, would eliminate the taxable income limit for certain net operating losses (“NOLs”) and allow businesses to carry back NOLs arising in
2018, 2019, and 2020 to the five prior tax years.
If the Company were to subsequently record an unrecognized tax benefit, associated penalties and tax related interest expense would be
recorded as a component of income tax expense.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation under the provisions of ASC 718 Compensation- Stock Compensation, which requires the
measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors, including
employee stock options, based on estimated fair values. SC 718 requires companies to estimate the fair value of share-based payment awards on
the date of the grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as
expenses over the requisite service periods in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
Stock-based compensation expense recognized during the period is based on the value of the portion of share-based payment awards that is
ultimately expected to vest during the period. In conjunction with the adoption of ASC 718, the Company adopted the straight-line single option
method of attributing the value of stock-based compensation expense. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.
Stock-based compensation expense recognized during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $28,068 and $40,707, respectively.
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NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The Company
evaluates its estimates on an ongoing basis, including those related to revenue recognition, product warranty obligations, valuation of inventories,
impairments, tax related contingencies, valuation of stock-based compensation, other contingencies and litigation, among others. The Company
generally bases its estimates on historical experience, agreed obligations, and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Historically, past changes to these estimates have not had a material impact on the Company’s financial
statements. However, circumstances could change, and actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
Recent Accounting Standards
To be Adopted in a Future Period
In June 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses.” This ASU sets forth a
current expected credit loss model which requires the Company to measure all expected credit losses for financial instruments held at the
reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable supportable forecasts. This replaces theexisting incurred loss
model and is applicable to the measurement of credit losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost and applies to some off-balance sheet
credit exposures. In November 2019, the effective date of this ASU was deferred until fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including
interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company is in the process of determining the potential impact of
adopting this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, “Income Taxes (Topic 740)”. The amendments in ASU 2019-12 seek to simplify the
accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740. The amendments also improve
consistent application and simplify GAAP in other areas of Topic 740. ASU 2019-12 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2020, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the impact ASU 2019-12 may have on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
Adoption of New Accounting Standards
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, which requires an entity to perform a one-step
quantitative impairment test, whereby a goodwill impairment loss will be measured as the excess of a reporting unit’s carrying amount over its fair
value (not to exceed the total goodwill allocated to that reporting unit). It eliminates Step 2 of the current two-step goodwill impairment test, under
which a goodwill impairment loss is measured by comparing the implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of that
goodwill. ASU 2017-04 was effective for the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. During 2020, the Company applied this guidance
when determining the amount of goodwill that was impaired.
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In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework – “Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement.” This new guidance removes certain disclosure requirements related to the fair value hierarchy
modifies existing disclosure requirements related to measurement uncertainty and adds new disclosure requirements. The new disclosure
requirements include disclosing the changes in unrealized gains and losses for the period included in other comprehensive income for recurring
Level 3 fair value measurements held at the end of the reporting period and the range and weighted average of significant unobservable inputs
used to develop Level 3 fair value measurements. ASU 2018-13 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The adoption of
ASU 2018-03 did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Topic 842, as amended, “Leases”. The ASU requires lessees to recognize leases on the balance
sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. The new standard establishes a right-of-use asset model (ROU) that requires a
lessee to recognize a ROU asset and lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with a term greater than 12 months regardless of the lease
classification. Leases will be classified as a finance or operating lease. The lease classification will determine whether the lease expense is
recognized based on effective interest rate method or a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted
the new lease standard using the modified retrospective approach.
The Company determines if an arrangement contains a lease at the inception of a contract. Right-of-use asset represents the Company’s right to
use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date. The liability is equal to the present value of the remaining
minimum lease payments. The asset is based on the liability, subject to certain adjustments. Operating leases result in a straight-line expense
(similar to operating leases under the prior accounting standard). The Company utilizes its incremental
borrowing rate to discount the lease payments. See Note 5 “Operating Leases” for additional disclosures as required by the new standard.
The Company continually assesses any new accounting pronouncements to determine their applicability to the Company. Where it is determined
that a new accounting pronouncement affects the Company’s financial reporting, the Company undertakes a study to determine the consequence
of the change to its financial statements and assures that there are proper controls in place to ascertain that the Company’s financials properly
reflect the change.
NOTE 2 - CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK AND ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of cash and accounts receivable. The Company has no
significant off-balance-sheet concentrations of credit risk such as foreign exchange contracts, options contracts or other foreign hedging
arrangements.
Cash
The Company at times has cash with its financial institution in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FIDC") insurance limits. The
Company places its cash with high credit quality financial institutions which minimize the risk of loss. To date, the Company has not experienced
any such losses. As of December 31, 2020, the Company has approximately $431.3 thousand in excess of FIDC insurance limits.
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Accounts Receivable
The Company grants credit to its customers, substantially all of whom are retail establishments located throughout the United States and their
international locations. The Company typically does not require collateral from customers. Credit risk is limited due to the financial strength of the
customers comprising the Company’s customer base and their dispersion across different geographical regions. The Company monitors exposure
of credit losses and maintains allowances for anticipated losses considered necessary under the circumstances.
Major Customers
The Company had two customers who comprised 63% and 26% of net revenue during the year ended December 31, 2020, and 83% and 15% of
net revenue during the year ended December 31, 2019, respectively. The loss of these customers would adversely impact the business of the
Company.
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, approximately 25% and 10% respectively, of the Company’s net revenue resulted from
international sales.
As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, approximately $120.1 thousand or 100% and approximately $13.5 thousand or 100% of accounts receivable,
respectively, was from one customer.
Major Customers

Net Revenue %
Net Accounts Receivable
Year Ended December 31,
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
2020
2019
63%
15% $
- $
26%
83%
120,064
13,459
89%
98% $
120,064 $
13,459

Customer A
Customer B
Total

Major Vendors
The Company had two vendors from which it purchased 68%, and 23% , respectively, of merchandise sold during the year ended December 31,
2020, and one vendor from which it purchased 97% of merchandise sold during the year ended December 31, 2019. The loss of this supplier
could adversely impact the business of the Company.
As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, approximately 47% and 37%, respectively, of accounts payable were due to one vendor.
Purchases %
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Vendor A
Vendor B
Total

68%
23%
91%
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Accounts Payable
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
97% $
-%
97% $

114,870
114,870

$
$

100,705
100,705
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Sterling National Bank
On September 8, 2010, in order to fund increasing accounts receivables and support working capital needs, Capstone secured a Financing
Agreement from Sterling Capital Funding (now called Sterling National Bank), located in New York, whereby Capstone receives funds for
assigned retailer shipments. The assignments provide funding for an amount up to 85% of net invoices submitted. The amounts borrowed under
the agreement was due on demand and collateralized by substantially all the assets of Capstone.
The credit facility at Sterling National Bank was up for renewal. On July 16, 2020, the Company received a Termination of Factoring Agreement
letter advising that the Factoring Agreement would be terminated effective September 30, 2020. The bank advised that as the existing facility had
not been used in recent years and with the uncertainties associated with the resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic and its potential impact on the
retail sector, the bank decided not to renew the Factoring Agreement. The Company requested to terminate the Agreement on July 31, 2020
which was agreed to by the bank. The Company has retained its cash operating accounts at Sterling National Bank. The amount due to Sterling
National Bank was zero at December 31, 2019.
For the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the processing fees associated with the agreement were $3,307 and $40,006, respectively.
The Company has been in discussions with alternate sources of funding, that could provide funding options that are more suitable to the ecommerce business model that the Company is transitioning into. The borrowing costs associated with such financing, are dependent upon
market conditions and our credit rating. We cannot assure that we will be able to negotiate competitive rates, which could increase our cost of
borrowing in the future or that we will secure affordable funding.
The Company, through Sterling National Bank, applied for a loan under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”). The PPP was enacted on
March 27, 2020 as part of the CARES Act and provides for loans for amounts up to 2.5 times of the average monthly payroll expenses of the
qualifying business. The loans and accrued interest are forgivable after eight weeks as long as the borrower uses the loan proceeds for eligible
purposes, including payroll, benefits, rent and utilities, and maintains its payroll levels. The amount of loan forgiveness will be reduced if the
borrower terminates employees or reduces salaries during the eight-week period. On May 11, 2020, the Company received loan proceeds in the
amount of $89,600.The unforgiven portion of the PPP loan is payable over two years at an interest rate of 1%, with a deferral of payments for the
first six months. The Company used the proceeds for purposes consistent with the PPP forgiveness rules. Under the Small Business
Administration (“SBA”) and U.S. Treasury Department guidelines issued in May 2020, a borrower could apply for the forgiveness of the loans by
filing SBA Form 3508, Paycheck Protection Program Loan Forgiveness Application which the Company submitted to Sterling National Bank on
September 16, 2020, which was accepted by the bank and processed to the SBA for final review and approval. On October 30, 2020, the SBA
notified the Company that the PPP loan principal of $89,600 and $428 of accumulated interest had been fully forgiven and has been recorded in
Other Income on the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2020.
On December 27, 2020, the U.S. administration approved the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021.This second stimulus package provided aid
to eligible small businesses through a second round of PPP loans (”PPP2”). Like the initial PPP program and provides for loans for amounts up to
2.5 times of the average monthly payroll expenses of the qualifying business.
The loans and accrued interest are forgivable if the borrower uses the loan proceeds for eligible purposes, including payroll, benefits, rent and
utilities, and maintains its payroll levels. The amount of loan forgiveness will be reduced if the borrower terminates employees during the eightweek period.
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On January 21, 2021, the Company submitted a PPP2 loan application for $139,350 through our bank’s loan processor for consideration by the
SBA and is still pending approval.
The unforgiven portion of the PPP2 loan is payable over two years at an interest rate of 1%, with a deferral of payments for the first six months. If
approved, the Company will use the proceeds for purposes consistent with the PPP forgiveness rules. Under the Small Business Administration
(“SBA”) and U.S. Treasury Department, a borrower could apply for the forgiveness of the loans by filing SBA Form 3508, Paycheck Protection
Program Loan Forgiveness.
NOTE 4 – NOTES AND LOANS PAYABLE TO RELATED PARTIES
Notes Payable to Officers, Directors and Related Parties
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, there have been no loan transactions with a Company Officer, Director or related parties and
the Company had $0 notes payable to officers, directors and related parties.
On December 31, 2020, the Board of Directors approved and authorized James McClinton, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer to sign a Loan
Agreement with Directors Stewart Wallach and Jeff Postal as joint lenders (the “Lenders”) whereby Lenders will make a maximum of Seven
Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($750,000) (principal) available as a credit line to the Company for working capital purposes
(see Note 8).
NOTE 5– COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Leases
The Company has operating lease agreements for offices in Fort Lauderdale, Florida and in Hong Kong, expiring at varying dates. The
Company’s principal executive office is located at 431 Fairway Drive, Suite 200, Deerfield Beach, Florida 33441.
Effective February 1, 2017, the Company renewed the office lease for 3 years ending January 31, 2020, with a base annual rent of $92,256 and
with a total rent expense of $281,711 through the term of the agreement. Under the lease agreement, Capstone was responsible for a portion of
common area maintenance charges and any other utility consumed in the leased premises.
On May 15, 2018, the Company entered into a lease agreement with the previous landlord to provide for a premise’s relocation, lease termination
and new sublease agreement. Under the agreement the Company relocated its principal executive offices located at 350 Jim Moran Blvd, Suite
120, Deerfield Beach, Florida 33442 to 4,694 square feet of office space on the second floor of 431 Fairway Drive, Suite 200, Deerfield Beach,
Florida 33441. The original lease terminated on the relocation date, being July 1, 2018, and the parties proceeded under the terms of the sublease
which expired on January 31, 2020. The base annual rent in the sublease remained at the same rate as the previous agreement until January 31,
2020. At the expiration of the sublease, the Company had the option to accept the prime lease with another 3 years renewal and with an option to
renew for an additional 5-year period. If the Company decided to further extend the sublease after January 31, 2020, the Company would be
subject to the terms and conditions of the prime lease. The base monthly rent was $7,312 to January 31, 2019 and then base rent would be
$7,514 until January 31, 2020 which includes an estimate for portion of the common area maintenance.
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As consideration for the lease amendment, the Company received a rate abatement from the landlord, effective May 1, 2018 and for four months
to September 1, 2018. The landlord delivered the relocation premises in a “turnkey” condition with requested renovations made at no expense to
the Company. As further consideration, the existing landlord agreed to pay the Company a $150,000 incentive to vacate the existing premises on
completion of the relocation, which was fully paid as of December 31, 2018 and was being amortized over the life of the lease amendment and
resulted in the recognition of lease incentive income of $870 per month.
On May 9, 2019, per the terms of the lease agreement, the current landlord was notified of the Company’s intent to take over the prime lease.
Effective November 1, 2019, the Company entered a new prime operating lease with the landlord “431 Fairway Associates, LLC” ending June 30,
2023, for the Company’s executive offices located on the second floor of 431 Fairway Drive, Suite 200, Deerfield Beach, Florida 33441 with an
annualized base rent of $70,104 and with a base rental adjustment of 3% commencing July 1, 2020 and on July 1s t of each subsequent year
during the term. Under the lease agreement, Capstone is also responsible for approximately 4,694 square feet of common area maintenance
charges in the leased premises which has been estimated at $12.00 per square foot on an annualized basis.
The Company's rent expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The rent expense for the year ended December 31,
2020 and 2019 amounted to $165,706 and $100,616, respectively. The rent increase in the year ended December 31, 2020 resulted from the
Company entering a new lease as the prime lessor with the base rent much higher than the previous landlord’s lease agreement. At the
commencement date of the new office lease, the Company recorded a right-of-use asset and lease liability under ASU 2016-02, Topic 842.
Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of December 31, 2020 is as follows:
Assets
Operating lease - right-of-use asset

$

158,504

Liabilities
Current
Current portion of operating lease

$

63,307

Noncurrent
Operating lease liability, net of current portion

$

107,690

Supplemental statement of operations information related to leases for the year ended December 31, 2020 is as follows:
Operating lease expense as a component of other general and administrative expenses

$

69,837

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the year ended December 31, 2020 is as follows:
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flow paid for operating lease

$

128,760

Lease term and Discount Rate
Weighted average remaining lease term (months)
Operating lease

30

Weighted average Discount Rate
Operating lease

7%
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Scheduled maturities of operating lease liabilities outstanding as of December 31, 2020 are as follows:
Year

Operating
Lease
$
73,290
75,492
38,304
187,086
16,089
$
170,997

2021
2022
2023
Total Minimum Future Payments
Less: Imputed Interest
Present Value of Lease Liabilities

The Company has two short storage rentals with durations of less than twelve months.
Capstone International Hong Kong Ltd, (CIHK), entered into a lease agreement for office space at 303 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The
original agreement which was effective from February 17, 2014 has been extended various times. On August 17, 2019, the lease was further
extended with a base monthly rate of $5,100 for six months until February 16, 2020. As the premises was no longer required as the employees
were working remotely from their homes, the Company decided not to renew and allowed this lease to expire.
CIHK entered into a six-month rental agreement effective from December 1, 2016 for a showroom space at 3F, Wing Kin Industrial Building, 4-6
Wing Kin Road, Kwai Chung, NT, Hong Kong. This agreement has been extended various times. The lease with a base monthly rent of $1,290
expired August 16, 2019 and was further renewed for six-months expiring on February 16, 2020. Effective February 17, 2020, the Company
entered a six-month lease expiring on September 30, 2020, with a base rate of $1,285 per month. To further reduce costs, effective September
30, 2020 the Company reduced its space requirements and entered a three-month lease expiring on December 31, 2020, with a base rate of $516
per month. The Company decided not to renew and allowed this lease to expire.
Consulting Agreements
On July 1, 2015, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with George Wolf, whereby Mr. Wolf was paid $10,500 per month through
December 31, 2015 increasing to $12,500 per month from January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2017.
On January 1, 2018, the agreement was further amended, whereby Mr. Wolf was paid $13,750 per month from January 1, 2018 through
December 31, 2018.
On January 1, 2019, the agreement was further amended, whereby Mr. Wolf was paid $13,750 per month from January 1, 2019 through
December 31, 2020.
Effective September 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020, payment for fifty percent or $6,875 of the monthly consulting fee or approximately
$27,500 for the effective period, was deferred until 2021. The agreement can be terminated upon 30 days' notice by either party. The Company
may, in its sole discretion at any time convert Mr. Wolf to a full-time Executive status. The annual salary and term of employment would be equal
to that outlined in the consulting agreement.
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Employment Agreements
On February 5, 2020, the Company entered into a new Employment Agreement with Stewart Wallach, whereby Mr. Wallach will be paid $301,521
per annum. The initial term of this new agreement began February 5, 2020 and ends February 5, 2023. The parties may extend the employment
period of this agreement by mutual consent with approval of the Company's Board of Directors, but the extension may not exceed two years in
length.
On February 5, 2020, the Company entered into a new Employment Agreement with James McClinton, whereby Mr. McClinton will be paid
$191,442 per annum. The term of this new agreement began February 5, 2020 and ends February 5, 2022.
Effective September 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020, payments equivalent to fifty percent of both Mr. Wallach and Mr. McClinton’s salary or
approximately $48,707 and $30,925, respectively, will be deferred until 2021.
There is a common provision in both Mr. Wallach and Mr. McClinton's employment agreements, if the officer's employment is terminated by death
or disability or without cause, the Company is obligated to pay to the officer's estate or the officer, an amount equal to accrued and unpaid base
salary as well as all accrued but unused vacation days through the date of termination. The Company will also pay sum payments equal to
(a) the sum of twelve (12) months base salary at the rate the Executive was earning as of the date of termination and (b) the sum of "merit" based bonuses
earned by the Executive during the prior calendar year of his termination. Any payments owed by the Company shall be paid from a normal payroll
account on a bi-weekly basis in accordance with the normal payroll policies of the Company. The amount owed by the Company to the Executive, from
the effective Termination date, will be payout bi-weekly over the course of the year but at no time will be no more than twenty (26) installments. The
Company will also continue to pay the Executive's health and dental insurance benefits for 6 months starting at the Executives date of termination. If the
Executive had family health coverage at the time of termination, the additional family premium obligation would remain theirs and will be reduced against
the Executive's severance package. The employment agreements have an anti-competition provision for 18 months after the end of employment.

The following table summarizes potential payments upon termination of employment:
Stewart Wallach
Gerry McClinton

Salary
Severance
$
301,521
$
191,442

Bonus
Severance

$
$

-

Gross up
Taxes
$
12,600
$
11,000

Benefit
Compensation
$
6,600
$
6,600

$
$

Grand Total
320,721
209,042

Directors Compensation
On May 31, 2019, the Company approved that effective on June 1, 2019, each independent director, namely Jeffrey Guzy and Jeffrey Postal,
would each receive $750 per calendar month, as a Form 1099 compensation, for their continued services as directors of the Company. This
compensation would be additional to the stock option grants awarded for their participation on the Audit Committee and Compensation and
Nominating Committee.
On May 31, 2019, the Company also approved that the independent directors would be offered effective from June 1, 2019, the opportunity to
participate as a non-employee in the Company’s Health Benefit Plan, subject to compliance with all plan participation requirements and on
acceptance into the plan the director will be responsible to pay 100% of their plan’s participation cost.
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On June 10, 2020, the Company approved that effective on August 1, 2020 until August 1, 2021, each independent director, namely Jeffrey Guzy
and Jeffrey Postal, would each receive $750 per calendar month, as a Form 1099 compensation, for their continued services as directors of the
Company. This compensation would be additional to the stock option grants awarded for their participation on the Audit Committee and
Compensation and Nominating Committee.
Licensing Agreements
Under a February 4, 2015 Licensing Agreement with a floorcare company, Company markets home lighting products under the licensed brand of
the floorcare company, to discount retailers, warehouse clubs, home centers, on-line retailers and other retail distribution channels in the U.S.,
Canada and Mexico. The initial term of the agreement was for 3 years. The Licensing Agreement did not have a guaranteed royalty stipulation.
On December 29, 2016, the Company finalized the first amendment to the February 4, 2015 Licensing Agreement with the floorcare company in
which the initial term was extended through February 3, 2020 and additional renewal terms and periods were also finalized.
During this initial extended period through February 3, 2020, if the Company achieved net sales of $5,000,000, then the Licensing Agreement
would automatically be extended 2 years until February 3, 2022 and if during this second extended period the Company achieved net sales of
$5,000,000, then the Licensing Agreement would automatically be further extended 2 years until February 3, 2024. This license amendment also
added an additional product category.
On April 12, 2018, the Company finalized the second amendment to the February 4, 2015 Licensing Agreement in which the license was further
expanded to add an additional product category.
As the Company did not achieve the stated net sales volume for the renewal period, the License expired on February 3, 2020.
Royalty expense related to this Licensing Agreement for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, was $0.
Public Relations Agreement
On September 27, 2018, the Company executed a public relations services agreement with Max Borges Agency, (“MBA”), a full – service public
relations and communications agency with offices in Miami and San Francisco. The Company entered into the Agreement to obtain assistance
from a nationally recognized firm, specializing in the development of product branding, marketing and launching of technology products. The
agreement was effective on October 1, 2018 with an initial 180-day term, which either party can cancel with 60 days advanced notice in writing on
or after the 120th day of the effective date. MBA would receive a monthly fee of $11,250 and $476 subscription fee due on the first of each month.
During 2019 both Companies agreed to temporarily pause the MBA agreement for specific months and in May 2019 the engagement restarted
with the same statement of work and terms as originally agreed.
On January 21, 2020, the Company provided MBA with 60 days cancellation notice and the agreement ended March 31, 2020.
During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company incurred $33,750 of services fees and $952 of subscription fees. As the agreement
has been cancelled there will be no further charges for this project.
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Legal Matters
The Company is not a party to any other pending or threatened legal proceedings and, to the best our knowledge, no such action by or against us
has been threatened. From time to time, we are subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of our business. Although
occasional adverse decisions or settlements may occur in such routine lawsuits, we believe that the final disposition of such routine lawsuits will
not have material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations or status as a going concern.
NOTE 6 - STOCK TRANSACTIONS
Options
In 2005, the Company authorized the 2005 Equity Plan that made available shares of common stock for issuance through awards of options,
restricted stock, stock bonuses, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock units.
On May 2, 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors amended the Company’s 2005 Equity Incentive Plan to extend the Plan’s expiration date from
December 31, 2016 to December 31, 2021.
On May 31, 2019, the Company granted 100,000 stock options each to two directors of the Company for their participation as members of the
Audit Committee and Nominating and Compensation Committee, and 10,000 stock options to the Company Secretary. The Director options have a
strike price of $.435 with an effective date of August 6, 2019 and will vest on August 5, 2020 and have a term of 5 years. The Company Secretary
options have a strike price of $.435 with an effective date of August 6, 2019 and will vest on August 5, 2020 and have a term of 10 years.
On June 10, 2020, the Company granted 100,000 stock options each to two directors of the Company for their participation as members of the
Audit Committee and Nominating and Compensation Committee, and 10,000 stock options to the Company Secretary.
The Director options have a strike price of $.435 with an effective date of August 6, 2020 and will vest on August 5, 2021 and have a term of 5
years. The Company Secretary options have a strike price of $.435 with an effective date of August 6, 2020 and will vest on August 5, 2021 and
have a term of 10 years.
As of December 31, 2020, there were 990,000 stock options outstanding, and 780,000 stock options vested. The stock options have a weighted
average expense price of $0.435.
Stock options were issued under Section 4(a)(2) and Rule 506(b) of Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933.
The Binomial Lattice (Suboptimal) option pricing model was used to calculate the fair value of the stock options granted. The following weighted
average assumptions were used in the fair value calculations during the year ended December 31, 2019:
Risk free interest rate – 1.53 – 1.73%
Expected term – 5 to 10 years
Expected volatility of stock – 500%
Expected dividend yield – 0%
Suboptimal Exercise Behavior Multiple – 2.0
Number of Steps – 150
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The Binomial Lattice (Suboptimal) option pricing model was used to calculate the fair value of the stock options granted. The following weighted
average assumptions were used in the fair value calculations during the year ended December 31, 2020:
Risk free interest rate – 0.21% – 0.55%
Expected term – 5 to 10 years
Expected volatility of stock – 500%
Expected dividend yield – 0%
Suboptimal Exercise Behavior Multiple – 2.0
Number of Steps – 150
The risk-free interest rate is based on rates of treasury securities with the same expected term as the options. The Company uses the expected
term of employee and director stock-based options. The Company is utilizing an expected volatility based on a review of the Company’s historical
volatility, over a period of time, equivalent to the expected life of the instrument being valued.
The expected dividend yield is based upon the fact that the Company has not historically paid dividends and does not expect to pay dividends in
the near future.
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $28,068 and $40,707,
respectively, related to these stock options. Such amounts are included in compensation expense in the accompanying consolidated statements
of income. A further compensation expense expected to be $10,015 will be recognized for these options in 2021.
The following table sets forth the Company’s stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and activity for the years then ended.

Weighted
Average Fair
Value
$
0.308
0.210
0.283
0.284

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (Years)
2.77
4.84
2.88
6.27
3.07
2.36
2.60

Outstanding, January 1, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited/expired
Outstanding,December 31, 2019

Shares
970,001
210,000
(180,001)
1,000,000

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
$
0.435
0.435
0.435
0.435

Granted
Exercised
Forfeited/expired
Outstanding,December 31, 2020

210,000
(220,000)
990,000

$

0.435
0.435
0.435

$

0.080
0.179
0.264

790,000
780,000

$
$

0.435
0.435

$
$

0.314
0.314

Vested/exercisable at December 31, 2019
Vested/exercisable at December 31, 2020
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Intrinsic Value
$
(272,570)
(64,050)
54,900
(305,000)
83,820
$
$

(240,950)
-
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The following table summarizes the information with respect to options granted, outstanding and exercisable under the 2005 Plan:
Exercise Price
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Options Outstanding
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435

10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
100,000
10,000
200,000
10,000
200,000
10,000
200,000
10,000
200,000
10,000

Remaining Contractual
Life in Years
0.50
3.00
4.50
4.60
0.60
5.60
1.60
6.60
2.60
7.60
3.60
8.60
4.60
9.60

Average Exercise Price
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435
.435

Number of Options
Currently Exercisable
10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
100,000
10,000
200,000
10,000
200,000
10,000
200,000
10,000
-

Adoption of Stock Repurchase Plan
On August 23, 2016, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the Company to implement a stock repurchase plan for up to $750,000 worth of
shares of the Company's outstanding common stock. The stock purchases can be made in the open market, structured repurchase programs, or
in privately negotiated transactions. The Company has no obligation to repurchase shares under the authorization, and the timing, actual number
and value of the shares which are repurchased will be at the discretion of management and will depend on several factors including the price of the
Company's common stock, market conditions, corporate developments and the Company's financial condition. The repurchase plan may be
discontinued at any time at the Company's discretion.
On December 21, 2016, the Company's Board of Directors approved an extension of the Company's stock repurchase plan through December 31,
2017, subject to an earlier termination at the discretion of the Company's Board of Directors.
On February 13, 2017, as authorized under the Company's stock repurchase plan, the Company repurchased 1,000,000 shares of Company
common stock from Involve, LLC., under the Option Agreement dated June 27, 2016, at an exercise price of $.15 per share.
On May 1, 2017, as authorized under the Company's stock repurchase plan, the Company repurchased 666,667 shares of Company common
stock from Involve, LLC., under the Option Agreement dated June 27, 2016, at an exercise price of $.15 per share.
On May 2, 2017, the Company's Board of Directors authorized at the Company's discretion to either retain repurchased shares in the treasury or
to retire the repurchased shares and these shares were retired on June 1, 2017.
On December 15, 2017, the Company's Board of Directors approved an extension of the Company's stock repurchase plan for up to $750,000
through June 30, 2018.
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On August 29, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a further extension of the Company’s stock repurchase plan through August 31,
2019. The Board of Directors also approved an increase of the maximum amount of aggregate funding available for possible stock repurchases
under the stock repurchase program from $750,000 to $1,000,000 during the renewal period.
On August 29, 2018, the Company’s Board authorized and directed the Company’s management to establish a trading account at a brokerage firm
for the Company to conduct open market purchases of the Company’s Common Stock in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Company’s current stock repurchase program and to fund said account from available cash of the Company but not to exceed such amount that
would cause the Company to be unable to pay its bona fide debts.
On December 19, 2018, Company entered into a Purchase Plan pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act, with Wilson Davis & Co., Inc.,
a registered broker-dealer. Under the Purchase Plan, Wilson Davis & Co., Inc will make periodic purchases of up to an aggregate of 750,000
shares at prevailing market prices, subject to the terms of the Purchase Plan.
On May 31, 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a further extension of the Company’s stock repurchase plan through August 31,
2020. The Board of Directors also approved that the maximum amount of aggregate funding available for possible stock repurchases under the
stock repurchase program remained at $1,000,000 during the renewal period.
On September 23, 2019, the Company signed a revised stock Purchase Plan to reflect an extension of the plan to repurchase up to an aggregate
of 750,000 shares at prevailing market prices, subject to the terms of the Purchase Plan.
On March 30, 2020, Wilson Davis & CO., Inc., advised the Company that 750,000 of the Company’s Common Stock had been repurchased to
complete the authorized Purchase Plan.
On June 10, 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a further extension of the Company’s stock repurchase plan through August 31,
2021. Since the Board of Director approval there have been no further repurchase of the Company’s Common Stock during 2020 and further
Stock repurchases have been placed on hold in order to conserve cash during the COVID-19 pandemic.
As of December 31, 2020 a total of 750,000 of the Company’s Common Stock has been repurchased at a total cost of $107,740.
For the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 respectively, 283,383 and 466,617 Common shares were repurchased at a cost of $36,333 in
2020 and $71,407 in 2019.
NOTE 7 - INCOME TAXES
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $1,044,000 and $3,500,000,
respectively. The federal net operating loss is available to the Company indefinitely and available to offset up to 80% of future taxable income each
year. The net deferred tax liability as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $260,000 and $0, respectively, and is reflected in long-term liabilities in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was enacted into law. The CARES Act is a tax and spending package intended to provide economic relief to
address the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act includes several significant income and other business tax provisions that, among
other things, would eliminate the taxable income limit for certain net operating losses (“NOLs”) and allow businesses to carry back NOLs arising in
2018, 2019, and 2020 to the five prior tax years. The Company was able to carryback the 2018 and the 2019 NOLs to 2017 tax year and generate
an estimated refund of previously paid income taxes at an approximate 34% federal tax rate. This resulted in a net benefit of $575,645 which was
recorded in the first quarter 2020. The Company expects to carryback a portion of its 2020 NOL, for which it recorded a further net benefit of
$286,433. In the third quarter 2020, the Company recorded a $21,222 net tax benefit for deferred tax liability adjustment related to goodwill
impairment. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company has recorded $861,318 in net tax benefits.
Tax benefit for income taxes differs from the amount computed using the federal US statutory income tax rate as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
(629,108) $
(88,547)
(86,744)
(13,260)
119,558
(3,801)
57
792
(329,618)
345,397
89.959
(31,520)
(76)
$
(611,978) $
(14,933)

Tax benefit at U.S. statutory rate
State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Tax effect of foreign operations
Non-deductible items
NOL carryback rate difference
Valuation allowance
Other
Income tax benefit

The effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, was 20.43% and 1.60% and the statutory tax rate was
24.46% in 2020 and 24.40% in 2019.
The income tax benefit for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 consists of:
2020
Current:
Federal
State
Foreign
Deferred:
Federal
State
Income Tax Benefit

$

$
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(874,000)
2,000
231,000
29,000
(612,000)

2019
$

$

1,000
(4,000)
(11,000)
(1,000)
(15,000)

CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 7 - INCOME TAXES (continued)
The tax effects of temporary differences and carry forwards that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the
following:
2020

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss
Liabilities and reserves
Property and equipment and inventory
Stock options
Business interest expense limitation
Right of use asset

$

Deferred tax liabilities:
Gain/loss on disposal
Intangible assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets and liabilities

$

343,000
28,000
(1,000)
62,000
1,000
3,000
436,000

(9,000)
(251,000)
(436,000)
(696,000)
(260,000)

2019

$

$

416,000
25,000
6,000
85,000
532,000

(9,000)
(433,000)
(90,000)
(532,000)
-

Deferred tax assets are to be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred assets will not be
realized. The Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon its ability to realize the deferred tax assets. Management
has considered the Company's history of cumulative net losses incurred and has concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will not
realize the benefits of the deferred tax assets. Accordingly, a full valuation allowance has been established against the deferred tax assets as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019. Since indefinite-lived assets cannot be used as a source of taxable income to support the realization of deferred
tax asset, a valuation allowance was recorded against the deferred tax assets, and a net deferred tax liability or naked credit of approximately
$260,000 is presented on the company’s balance sheet. The Company's valuation allowance increased by $345,397.
The Company recognizes liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit,
including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is
more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. While the Company believes that it has appropriate support for the positions taken on its
tax returns, the Company regularly assesses the potential outcome of examinations by tax authorities in determining the adequacy of its provision
for income taxes.
NOTE 8 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Notes Payable to Officers, Directors and Related Parties
On January 4, 2021, the Company entered a Loan Agreement with Directors Stewart Wallach and Jeff Postal as joint lenders (the “Lenders”)
whereby Lenders will make a maximum of Seven Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($750,000) (principal) available as a credit
line to the Company for working capital purposes. As requested by the Company, funds will be advanced by the Lenders in tranches which must
be at least for an amount of $25,000.
The term of the loan starts January 4, 2021 and ends June 30, 2021 (“Initial Period’). The Company may extend the Initial Period for an additional
six consecutive months, ending December 31, 2021, under the same terms and conditions of the Initial Period, by providing written notice of the
election to extend to the Lenders prior to the expiration of the Initial Period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 8 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued)
The Company may borrow and reborrow under the Agreement up to $750,000 and prepay wholly or partially the unpaid principal amount at any
time and do so without pre-pay penalty or charge. The unpaid principal amount and all accrued interest is due and payable in full at the end of the
Initial Period or expiration of the extended date, being December 31, 2021 (the “Maturity Date”), in a single lump sum balloon payment. The
Company may unilaterally extend the Maturity Date for sixty days upon written notice delivered to Lenders on or prior to the Maturity Date.
Interest shall accrue on the unpaid balance of all advances at a simple annual interest rate of One Percent (1%) based on a 360-day year and will
be due and payable in full, in the single lump sum payment on the Maturity Date.
The Company will provide the Lenders with a completed and signed promissory note for each advance funded, within 3 business days after
receipt of the amount loaned.
In consideration for the Lenders providing the loan under this Agreement for the Initial Period and agreeing to a below market rate of interest, and
as payment of a finance fee for the loan on an unsecured basis, the Company shall issue to the Lenders the following securities 7,500 shares of
the Company’s Series B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock (“Preferred Shares”) issued to each Lender. The Preferred Shares shall have the
appropriate restrictive legends. Each Preferred Share converts into 66.66 shares of Common Stock at option of Lender.
If the Company elects to extend the Initial Period for a further 6 consecutive months, the Company must issue to the Lenders, 500,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, issued to each Lender. The Company will cause a stock certificate to be issued to
each Lender with the appropriate restrictive legends.
As of the filing date of this report there have been no proceeds received by the Company from this loan facility.
Consulting Agreements
On January 1, 2021, the sales operations consulting agreement with George Wolf, was further extended, whereby Mr. Wolf will be paid $13,750
per month from January 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021.
Effective January 1, 2021 through March 31, 2021, payment for fifty percent or $6,875 of the monthly consulting fee or approximately $20,625 for
the effective period, will be deferred until later in 2021.
Employment Agreements
Effective January 1, 2021 through March 31, 2021, compensation payments equivalent to fifty percent of both Mr. Wallach and Mr. McClinton’s
salary or approximately $40,589 and $25,771, respectively, will be deferred until later in 2021.
Liquidity and Going Concern
On January 4, 2021, the Company entered a $750,000 working capital loan agreement with Directors, Stewart Wallach and Jeffrey Postal. The
term of the loan started January 4, 2021 and ends June 30, 2021 (“Initial Period’). The Company may extend the Initial Period for an additional six
consecutive months, ending December 31, 2021, under the same terms and conditions of the Initial Period, by providing written notice of the
election to extend to the lenders prior to the expiration of the Initial Period. The Company may borrow and reborrow under the agreement up to
$750,000 and prepay wholly or partially the unpaid principal amount at any time and do so without pre-pay penalty or charge. The unpaid principal
amount and all accrued interest is due and payable in full at the end of the Initial Period or expiration of the extended date, being December 31,
2021 (the “Maturity Date”).
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Income Taxes
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had an income tax refundable of approximately $861 thousand of which approximately $576 thousand
income tax and $10.4 thousand of interest was refunded on February 3, 2021.
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Exhibit 4.6. DESCRIPTION OF CAPSTONE COMPANIES, INC. SECURITIES
As of December 31, 2020, Capstone Companies, Inc. (the “Company”) had one class of securities registered under Section 12(g) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended: its common stock, par value $0.0001 per share.
The following summary of the Company’s common stock is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the Company’s Amended and
Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended (the “Articles”), and Bylaws (the “Bylaws”). This summary does not relate to or give effect to the
provisions of statutory or common law. For a complete description of the Company’s common stock, refer to the Articles, Bylaws and any
applicable provisions of relevant law, including the applicable provisions of the Florida Statutes (Company’s domicile law) and federal law
governing companies subject to Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
Authorized Shares
The Company’s authorized capital shares consists of 60,000,000, of which 56,666,667 shares shall be common stock, par value $0.0001 per
share, and 3,333,333 shares shall be preferred stock, par value determined with authorization of each series of preferred stock. The Company’s
board of directors has the power to set the terms of any series of preferred stock, including the designations, preferences, conversion or other
rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends, qualifications, redemption and others. The creation of any series of preferred stock
requires filing and acceptance of an amendment to the Articles by the State of Florida. There are no shares of preferred stock currently
outstanding.
The Company’s common stock is listed on The OTC Markets Group, Inc.'s QB Venture Market Tier under the trading symbol “CAPC”.
Voting Rights
Holders of the common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters voted on by the shareholders, including the election of directors. The
affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote which are present in person or represented by proxy at a meeting of
the Company’s shareholders is required to elect directors and act on any other matters properly brought a meeting of the Company’s
shareholders, subject to certain limited exceptions as may be set forth in the Florida Statutes.
Any director or the entire Board of Directors of the Company may be removed only for cause. At any annual meeting of shareholders of the
Company or at any special meeting of shareholders of the Company, the notice of which shall state that the removal of a director or directors is
among the purposes of the meeting, the holders of eighty percent (80%) or more of the combined voting power of the then outstanding shares of
capital stock entitled to vote thereon, present in person or by proxy, may remove such director or directors for cause.
Articles may only be amended by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of capital stock entitled to vote on such amendment,
voting as a single class.
Preemptive and Other Rights
The common stock has no sinking fund or redemption provisions or preemptive, conversion or exchange rights.
The Company’s common stock does not have cumulative voting rights.

1

Dividends
Holders of the Company’s common stock are entitled to share ratably in dividends when and if declared by the Company’s board of directors from
funds legally available for dividends.
Liquidation Rights
Subject to any preferential rights of outstanding shares of preferred stock that may be outstanding, holders of the common stock will share ratably
in all assets legally available for distribution to the Company’s shareholders in the event of a dissolution of the Company.
No Classification of the Board
The Company’s board of directors is not classified or staggered into tiers. All directors stand for election each year.
Certain Anti-Takeover Matters
The Articles and Bylaws include a few provisions that may have the effect of encouraging persons considering unsolicited tender offers or other
unilateral takeover proposals to negotiate with the board of directors rather than pursue non-negotiated takeover attempts. These provisions
include the following:
Amendment of Bylaws
Amendments of the Bylaws require the approval of a majority of all shares of capital stock, voting as a single class.
Removal of Directors
A director may be removed from the board of directors only for cause and only upon the affirmative vote of at least 80% of the shares entitled to
vote.
2
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Exhibit 21.1 Subsidiaries of Capstone Companies, Inc.
Subsidiaries of Registrant
United States of America
Capstone Industries, Inc., a Florida Corporation
Capstone Lighting Technologies, L.L.C., a Florida Limited Liability Company
Hong Kong SAR
Capstone International Hong Kong, Ltd.
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Exhibit 31.1
Section 302 Certifications
I, Stewart Wallach, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Capstone Companies, Inc. for the fiscal year end December 31, 2020;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the small business issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;
4.
The small business issuer's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Securities
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the small business issuer and have:
a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the small business issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the small business issuer's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the small business issuer's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the small
business issuer's most recent fiscal quarter (the small business issuer's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the small business issuer's internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The small business issuer's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the small business issuer's auditors and the audit committee of the small business issuer's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the small business issuer's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the small business
issuer's internal control over financial reporting.
Date: March 31, 2021
/s/ Stewart Wallach
Stewart Wallach
CEO, Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2
Section 302 Certifications
I, Gerry McClinton, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Capstone Companies, Inc. for the fiscal year end December 31, 2020;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the small business issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;
4.
The small business issuer’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15I and 15d-15I) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Securities
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the small business issuer and have:
a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the small business issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the small business issuer’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the small business issuer’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the small
business issuer’s most recent fiscal quarter (the small business issuer’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the small business issuer’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The small business issuer’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the small business issuer’s auditors and the audit committee of the small business issuer’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the small business issuer’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
issuer’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: March 31, 2021
s/ Gerry McClinton
Gerry McClinton
Chief Financial Officer, Director
(Principal Financial Executive and Accounting Officer)

role in the small business
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Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Capstone Companies, Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), I, Stewart Wallach, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, hereby certify that:
(1)

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)
the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
Company.
Date: March 31, 2021
/s/ Stewart Wallach
Stewart Wallach
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the
signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained
by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Capstone Companies, Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), I, Stewart Wallach, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, hereby certify that:
(1)

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)
the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
Company.
Date: March 31, 2021
s/ Gerry McClinton
Gerry McClinton
Chief Financial Officer, Director
(Principal Financial Executive and Accounting Officer)
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the
signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained
by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

